New CVB Table 'Standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in feedstuffs for pigs'

M.C. Blok, G. Kasper and J.W. Spek

Wageningen Livestock Research

CVB Documentation report nr. 77 October 2022

https://doi.org/10.18174/426333





CVB is an activity of the Foundation CVB

With respect to content the activity is carried out by

Wageningen Livestock Research (WLR) and



the Research Institute for Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (ILVO)



© Stichting CVB 2021

No part of this edition may be copied, photocopied, reproduced, translated or reduced to any electronic medium or machine-readable form, in whole or in part, without specific written permission of the Stichting CVB (info@cvbdiervoeding.nl).

This publication has been compiled with great care; however, the Stichting CVB, Wageningen Livestock Research (WLR), and the Research Institute for Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (ILVO) cannot be held liable in any way for the consequences of using the information in this publication.

Preface

In 1990 CVB introduced the first (preliminary) Table with ileal amino acid digestibility values of feedstuffs for pigs. This first Table was included in the CVB Feed Table 1991.

In 1998 the table was considerably updated and extended, using a report of an extensive literature survey, executed by ILOB-TNO (1996). This desk study was subsidized by Degussa AG (now Evonic) and made available to CVB.

Till 2016, when CVB for the first-time published guidelines for pig diets based on standardized ileal digestible amino acids, an apparent ileal digestible amino acid requirement system was used. In the 2020 edition of the 'Booklet of Feeding Tables for Pigs, Nutrient requirements and feed ingredient composition for pigs' standardized amino acid requirements for growing pigs and sows were published, based on desk studies of Van der Peet-Schwering and Bikker (2018 and 2019). From then on only guidelines based on standardized ileal digestibility values were published in this booklet. Also, the number of amino acids for which guidelines were published was increased from the four first limiting amino acids (lysine, methionine + cystine, threonine and tryptophan) to all essential amino acids.

In this report a new Table on the standardized ileal digestibility of crude protein and amino acids is published, based on an extensive dataset of digestibility studies (330 publications and 1,675 observations) published in the scientific literature in the period 1970 – 2020.

Some valuable studies did not completely fulfil the criteria that were defined for insertion the data in the database of CVB. Therefore, we asked to corresponding author if he could provide us with the information that was missing in the publication. We wish to thank Prof. Dr O. Adeola (Purdue University, USA), Dr. S.M. Hodgkinson (Massey University, New Zealand), Prof. Dr. T.A.T.G. van Kempen (North Carolina State University, USA), Prof. Dr. B.J. Kerr (University Minnesota, USA), Dr. J.V. Nørgaard (Aarhus University, Denmark), Prof. Dr. H.H. Stein (University Illinois, USA) and Prof. Dr. R.T. Zijlstra (University Alberta, Canada) for sending the additional information needed. We especially wish to thank Prof. Dr. Hans H. Stein for his very kind and valuable collaboration, not only in sending us much information, but also by acting as sparring partner with respect to several project themes.

This project was guided and assessed by the Technical Committee of CVB and the Ad hoc group 'CVB amino acids in pigs'.

Wageningen, October 2022 M.C. Blok

Members of the Technical Committee of the CVB

M. Rijnen (chair)	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
J. Fledderus	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
B. Boswerger	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
S. de Vos	Belgian Feed Association (BFA) (B)
A. Dijkslag	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
J. Goelema	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
P. Gouwy	Belgian Feed Association (BFA) (B)
L. Levrouw	Belgian Feed Association (BFA) (B)
W. Nielen	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
H. Korterink	Nederlandse Vereniging van Handelaren in Stro, Fourages en
	Aanverwante Producten (HISFA) (NL)
H. Tiekstra	Overleggroep Producenten Natte Veevoeders (OPNV) (NL)
M. van Erp	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
D. van Manen	Overleggroep Producenten Natte Veevoeders (OPNV) (NL)
C. van Vuure	MVO, ketenorganisatie voor oliën en vetten (NL)
J.W. Spek	Wageningen Livestock Research, Dept. Animal Nutrition,
	Wageningen (NL)
J. de Boever	Instituut voor Landbouw-, Visserij en Voedingsonderzoek (ILVO) (B)
D. van Wesemael	Instituut voor Landbouw-, Visserij en Voedingsonderzoek (ILVO) (B)
S. Goethals	Instituut voor Landbouw-, Visserij en Voedingsonderzoek (ILVO) (B)

Members of the Ad hoc Group CVB amino acids in pigs

F. Dieryckxvisschers	Belgian Feed Association (BFA) (B)
J. Fledderus	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
P. Gouwy	Belgian Feed Association (BFA) (B)
G. Page	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
M. van Erp	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
J-W. Resink	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
M. Wellington	Nederlandse Vereniging Diervoederindustrie (Nevedi) (NL)
J.W. Spek	Wageningen Livestock Research, Dept. Animal Nutrition,
	Wageningen (NL)
P. Bikker	Wageningen Livestock Research, Dept. Animal Nutrition,
	Wageningen (NL)
S. Goethals	Instituut voor Landbouw-, Visserij en Voedingsonderzoek (ILVO) (B)
S. Millet	Instituut voor Landbouw-, Visserij en Voedingsonderzoek (ILVO) (B)
D. van Wesemael	Instituut voor Landbouw-, Visserij en Voedingsonderzoek (ILVO) (B)

Contents

Inhoudsopgave

Page

Prefac	e	3
Memb	ers of the Technical Committee of the CVB	. 4
Memb	ers of the Ad hoc Group CVB amino acids in pigs	. 4
List of	abbreviations	. 7
1.	Introduction	. 8
1.1	Current table	. 8
1.2	Update of the current Table	. 8
2.	Literature survey, data collection and data processing	. 9
2.1	Procedure	. 9
2.2	Databases	. 9
2.3	Recalculation of published data	12
2.4	Basal endogenous losses of CP and amino acids	12
2.5	Outlier procedure	13
2.5	5.1 Outliers with respect to amino acid pattern	13
2.5	5.2 Outliers with respect to standardized amino acid digestibility	13
3.	Proposed standardized ileal digestibility of crude protein and amino acids of	
	individual feed ingredients for pigs	14
Intro	duction	14
3.1	Barley.	15
3.2	Biscuit, ground and bread remains, dried	17
3.3	Blood meal	19
3.4	Brewer's yeast and other yeasts	21
3.5	Casein	23
3.6	Coconut (Copra) expeller and meal	24
3.7	Cotton seed expeller and meal	25
3.7	7.1 Cotton seed meal, solvent extracted	25
3.7	7.2 Cotton seed expeller	27
3.8	DDGS, Maize	28
3.9	DDGS, Wheat	29
3.10	Feather meal, hydrolyzed	31
3.11	Fishmeal, treated	32
3.12	Grass meal	33
3.13	Groundnut expeller and meal	34
3.14	Horse beans, coloured flowering	35
3.15	Horse beans, white flowering	36
3.16	Lentils	37
3.17	Linseed expeller	38
3.18	Linseed meal, solvent extracted	40
3.19	Lucerne (alfalfa) meal	41
3.20	Lupins	43
3.21	Maize (corn) and maize, heat treated	44
3.22	Maize germs and maize germs meal.	45
3.23	Maize gluten feed	46
3.24	Maize gluten meal	47
3.25	Malt culms	48
3.26	Milk powder, skimmed	49

3.27	Millet and Pearl millet	51
3.28	Oats and oats, peeled	52
3.2	28.1 Oats	52
3.2	28.2 Oats, dehulled / Oats, peeled / Oat groats	52
3.29	Palm kernel expeller and meal	54
3.30	Peas	55
3.31	Potato protein	56
3.32	Rapeseed, full fat	57
3.33	Rapeseed / Canola seed expeller, warm and cold pressed	58
3.34	Rapeseed / canola meal, solvent extracted	60
3.35	Rice, with hulls and dehulled	64
3.36	Rice bran	66
3.37	'Rice bran meal, solvent extracted	67
3.38	Rye	68
3.39	Sesame expeller and meal	69
3.40) Sorghum	70
3.41	Soybeans, heat treated	71
3.42	Soybean hulls	73
3.43	Soybean expeller	75
3.44	Soybean meal, solvent extracted	77
3.45	Sugar beet pulp, dried	81
3.46	Sunflower seed meal, solvent extracted, sunflower seed expeller and (full fat)	
	sunflower seed	82
3.47	' Tapioca, dried	84
3.48	Triticale	85
3.49	Wheat	86
3.50	Wheat germs	87
3.51	Wheat gluten meal	88
3.52	? Wheat milling by-products	89
3.53	Whey powder and whey powder, low lactose	92
4.	References	94
ANNE	X I: Basal endogenous losses of crude protein and	
	amino acids at the terminal ileum of pigs	117
ANNE	X II: Poster presented at the 15th International Symposium Digestive	
	Physiology in Pigs (DPP 2022) in Rotterdam (17-20 May 2022)	143
Annex	(III: Overview of feedstuffs included in the CVB Feed Table for which no new	
	new observations were found in the literature	144

List of abbreviations

Abbreviation	Unit	Explanation
AA		Amino acid(s)
AIA		Acid insoluble ash
AID		Apparent ileal digestibility
AIDC	%	Apparent ileal digestibility coefficient
ALA		Alanine
ARG		Arginine
ASP		Aspartic acid
BEL	g/kg DM	Basal endogenous loss (of CP or amino acids at the terminal ileum)
CASH	g/kg	Crude ash
CFAT	g/kg	Crude fat
CFIBER	g/kg	Crude fiber
CP	g/kg	Crude protein
CYS		Cystine
DC-AA	%	Digestibility coefficient amino acid
DM	g/kg	Dry matter
DMI	g	Dry matter intake
GLY		Glycine
GLU		Glutamic acid
HIS		Histidine
ILE		Isoleucine
LEU		Leucine
LYS		Lysine
MET		Methionine
PHE		Phenylalanine
PRO		Proline
SER		Serine
STDEV		Standard deviation
SID		Standardized ileal digestibility
SIDC	%	Standardized ileal digestibility coefficient
SIDC-AA	%	Standardized ileal digestibility coefficient of an Amino acid
STA	g/kg	Starch
SUG	g/kg	Sugars
THR		Threonine
TRP		Tryptophan
TYR		Tyrosine
VAL		Valine

1. Introduction

1.1 Current table

The current Table is largely based on a desk study, subsidized by Degussa AG (now Evonic), executed by ILOB-TNO and published in 1996. This desk study was made available to CVB for implementing the results in the CVB Feed Table. In the ILOB-TNO report both apparent and standardized ileal digestibility values were published.

This updated table on the ileal digestibility of crude protein and amino acids in feedstuffs for pigs was integrated in the CVB Feed Table of 1998. In the Introduction of this Feed Table a table with standardized ileal digestibility values were incorporated. As in the Netherlands the system 'Apparent ileal digestibility of crude protein and amino acids' was used in practice, recalculated apparent digestibility coefficients were published on the product sheets.

1.2 Update of the current Table

In this Documentation report a new Table on the standardized ileal digestibility of crude protein and amino acids is published, based on an extensive search of the scientific literature. Publications were collected that were published in the 1970 – 2020, with some incidental publications that appeared in 2021 for feedstuffs for which not sufficient data could be gathered in the period mentioned.

Each study was checked whether it fulfilled the set of criteria that were set for inclusion of the data in the database on ileal digestibility of feedstuffs in pigs (see paragraph 2.1).

Depending on the way the ileal digestibility was determined and published the publications accepted for inclusion in the database were inserted in one of the 5 sub databases (see paragraph 2.2).

Recalculation of apparent digestibility coefficients into standardized digestibility coefficients was done by using a uniform pattern for the basal endogenous loss (see paragraph 2.4).

After combining all observations of a particular feedstuff in one dataset, an outlier test was executed first for the amino acid pattern and subsequently for the standardized ileal digestibility coefficients. It was also checked whether there were significant correlations between the SIDC's of crude protein and the amino acids on the one hand and gross chemical nutrients like crude protein, crude fiber, NDF and ADF in the other hand.

After the outlier procedure a proposal was developed for the SIDC evaluation of crude protein and amino acids of the feedstuff concerned.

For each feedstuff a separate note was written to provide transparent insight how the new evaluation came about. In this report the key information of these notes has been copied.

2. Literature survey, data collection and data processing

2.1 Procedure

The first step in the development of an 'New CVB Table 'Standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in feedstuffs for pigs' was a literature survey. Papers published till 2020 covering the ileal amino acid digestibility of feedstuffs for pigs, mainly piglets and growing/finishing pigs, were collected. From all publications a PDF file was downloaded. The following basic data were gathered in a spreadsheet (below it is mentioned if data were considered obligatory for insertion of a study in one of the databases):

- Peer-reviewed publications (obligatory)
- Author(s), scientific journal and year of publication (obligatory)
- Chemical composition of the test ingredient(s):
 - Dry matter (DM) (obligatory, unless a reliable estimation was possible)
 - Crude protein (CP) (obligatory)
 - Crude fiber (CFIBER), NDF and/or ADF
 - Crude ash (CASH)
 - Starch (STÀ)
 - Sugars (SUG)
 - Separate run for S-containing amino acids: yes/no
 - Separate run for the amino acid Tryptophan: yes/no
- Animal data:
 - o Genotype
 - o Sex
 - Body weight or age (obligatory)
 - Housing system
 - Experimental set up
 - Number of animals per replicate
 - Number of replicates
- Chyme collection
- Method to determine ileal digestibility: direct or indirect method (obligatory)
 - o Direct:
 - Percentage of ingredient incorporated in diet
 - Protein-rich ingredients; CP-level
 - Digestibility as published: in the diet or in test ingredient?
 - Indirect: Percentage of test ingredient in test diet
- Experimental aspects:
 - Diets: incorporation rate of the test ingredient (obligatory)
 - Feeding method: ad lib / crop intubation / restricted
 - Experiments or treatments where enzymes were added to the feed have been excluded from the database (except control treatments without added enzymes)
 - Diet: mash / pellets
 - Marker: Cr_2O_3 / Acid insoluble Ash (AIA) / TiO₂
- Chyme collection:
 - Collection technique (obligatory):
 - Cannulation (and type of cannula)
 - Ileal rectal Anastomosis
 - Slaughter technique
 - Adaptation period before chyme collection
 - o Duration and number of chyme collections (obligatory)

2.2 Databases

In the original publications different ways were used to express the digestibility data. Therefore, data were at first gathered in five separate databases: Database 1.

Contains publications where the <u>direct method</u> is applied and where the apparent digestibility of the diet is recalculated into the <u>standardized</u> ileal amino acid digestibility and in which the <u>test product</u> is the sole protein source in the diet.

This database is by far the largest of all databases. It was split in three parts, depending on the BEL values used to convert the AIDC-AA of the test diet to the SIDC-AA of the test product:

- a. The BEL pattern used is determined in the same study (mostly with a N-free diet, sometimes with a low casein diet and incidentally with the regression method using a highly digestible protein source) and the values for BEL are (in g/kg DMI) are also mentioned.
- b. As a. but without explicitly mentioning the BEL pattern.
- c. A BEL pattern published in the literature (mostly A.J.M. Jansman et al. (2002), or a BEL pattern of the own institute (based on several studies) is used.

In the Materials and Methods section of the publications the way of calculating SIDC is mentioned as follows:

• Calculation of the AIDC-AA (%) using the following (or an – essentially – identical) formula:

 $AIDC-AA_{diet} (\%) = \frac{(AA/Marker)_{diet} - (AA/Marker)_{chyme} * 100}{(AA/Marker)_{diet}}$

With this formula the AIDC-AA (%) of the diet is calculated.

• From the AIDC-AA of the diet the SIDC-AA (%) of the test product is calculated using the following (or an essentially identical) formula:

SIDC-AA_{test product} (%) = AIDC-AA_{diet} (%) + [(BEL-AA; g/kg DMI)/(AA_{diet}; g/kg DM) * 100]

Database 2.

Contains publications where the <u>direct method</u> (with the test product as sole protein source) is applied and where the <u>apparent</u> ileal amino acid digestibility (AID-AA) of the <u>experimental</u> <u>diet</u> is given, as can be concluded from the way the digestibility is calculated. This database is the second largest.

In the Materials and Methods section of the papers the calculation of the apparent ileal digestibility coefficient of the amino acid, AIDC-AA (%) is specified. Mostly one of the following formulas are mentioned:

- AIDC-AA (%) = [1 (AA_{chyme} * marker_{diet})/(AA_{diet} * marker_{chyme})] * 100
- AIDC-AA (%) = <u>(AA/Marker)_{diet} (AA/Marker)_{chyme}</u> * 100 <u>(AA/Marker)_{diet}</u>

In fact, both formulas yield the same result, but the result is not the AIDC of the test ingredient but of the test diet.

From the published data the SIDC-AA (%) was calculated as follows:

- Using the AA content in the test ingredient, the inclusion rate of the test product in the diet, and the AIDC-AA, the amount of apparent ileal digestible AA is calculated
- Subsequently this amount is converted to the amount of standardized ileal digestible AA by adding the basal endogenous loss of the AA

• Finally, the SIDC is calculated: SIDC (%) = (amount standardized ileal digestible AA)/(amount of AA in test product)*100

Database 3.

Contains publications where the *indirect method* is applied and where the *standardized ileal amino acid digestibility of the test product* is given.

In the Materials and Methods section of the publications the way of calculating SIDC is mentioned as follows:

- First the AIDC (%) of the diet is calculated in the same way as mentioned for Database 2.
- Then the SIDC-AA_{test product} (%) is calculated using one of the two options:
 - In option 1, first the AIDC-AA(%) of both the test diet and the basal diet is converted to the SIDC-AA (%) of the diet with the formula:

SIDC-AA_{diet} (%) = AIDC-AA_{diet} (%) + [(BEL-AA; g/kg DMI)/(AA_{diet}; g/kg DM) * 100].

Then the SIDC-AA_{test product} (%) is calculated by difference calculation using the formula:

 $SIDC-AA_{test ingredient} (\%) = \frac{\{(amount SID-AA_{test diet}) - (1-y)^{*}(amount SID-AA_{basal diet})\}}{(amount AA_{test product})} *100$

where y = fractional incorporation rate of test product in test diet and (1-y) that of the basal diet

• In option 2, first the AIDC-AA of the test ingredient is calculated with the formula:

 $AIDC-AA_{test ingredient} (\%) = \frac{\{(amount AID-AA_{test diet}) - (1-y)^{*}(amount AID-AA_{basal diet})\}}{(amount AA_{test product})} *100$

where y = fractional incorporation rate of test product in test diet and (1-y) that of the basal diet Then the SIDC-AA_{test product} (%) is calculated with the formula:

SIDC-AA_{test product} (%) = AIDC-AA_{diet} (%) + [(BEL-AA; g/kg DMI)/(AA_{diet}; g/kg DM) * 100]

For BEL-AA either a pattern is used determined in the same study or a pattern from the literature or a pattern determined in several experiments in the own institute.

Database 4.

Contains publications where the <u>apparent</u> ileal amino acid digestibility of the <u>test product</u> is determined with the <u>indirect method</u> (i.e., the digestibility is determined of a basal diet and of an experimental diet containing y of the basal diet and (1 - y) of the test product; the digestibility of the test product is calculated from the difference).

In the Materials and Methods section of the papers the calculation of the apparent ileal digestibility coefficient of the amino acid, AIDC-AA (%) is specified.

- First the AIDC (%) of the diet is calculated in the same way as mentioned for Database 2.
- Then the AIDC-AA_{test ingredient} (%) is calculated with the same formulas as mentioned in Option 2 for Database 3.

Database 5.

Contains publications where the <u>regression method</u> is used to calculate the *ileal amino acid digestibility of the test product*. The slope of the regression line represents the <u>standardized</u> *ileal digestibility*.

In cases where both the apparent and the standardized ileal amino acid digestibility were published, both data were inserted in the relevant database. This was often the case for publications inserted in Database 1.

In the list with References all publications are mentioned of which one or more (sometimes >20) observations are included in one of these five databases.

2.3 Recalculation of published data

In the publications the analyzed contents of amino acids and other nutrients of the test products were also expressed in various ways: g/kg DM, g/kg product, g/16 g N (or g per 100 g protein). The analyzed amino acid composition of the test product was recalculated to amino acid contents in g/kg DM, and by using the information in the paper the amino acid pattern was calculated in g amino acid/16 g N, before entering the data in the database. Ileal digestibility's were published both in %-units and as fractional digestibility's. All data were recalculated into %-units.

2.4 Basal endogenous losses of CP and amino acids

In database 2 and 4, a standard basal endogenous loss (BEL) was applied for the conversion of apparent ileal digestibility data into standardized ileal digestibility data. The basis for the calculation of the BEL pattern used was a large database in which a great number of BEL patterns from scientific publications were collected and processed (see for

Amino acid	Basal endogenous loss (g/kg DM intake)
CP	14.85
ARG	0.52
HIS	0.23
ILE	0.35
LEU	0.56
LYS	0.43
MET	0.11
PHE	0.34
THR	0.58
TRP	0.12
VAL	0.49
ALA	0.59
ASP	0.79
CYS	0.20
GLU	1.07
GLY	1.29
PRO	3.40
SER	0.59
TYR	0.28

Table 1.	Basal endogenous losses (BEL) of CP and amino acid loss (g/kg DM intake) at
	the terminal ileal of growing pigs.

more information ANNEX I). The standard BEL pattern calculated and agreed by the Ad hoc group and the Technical Committee of the CVB is represented in Table 1. The formulas used for this conversion have been described above.

2.5 Outlier procedure

2.5.1 Outliers with respect to amino acid pattern

For each feed ingredient the available observations were collected in an ingredient-specific dataset. For the available observations of each ingredient, the (calculated) amino acid profile (expressed in g/16 g N), the average value, the standard deviation (STDEV), the minimum and maximum value and the number of observations were calculated. Per amino acid, all values deviating more than 2.0*STDEV from the average value were removed from the dataset, and the standardized digestibility of the deleted amino acids was highlighted. If five or more outliers were detected in the amino acid profile of one observation, the observation was completely deleted from the dataset.

2.5.2 Outliers with respect to standardized amino acid digestibility

Subsequently, for each feedstuff in the ingredient-specific dataset the average SIDC value, the standard deviation (STDEV), the minimum and maximum value and the number of observations were calculated. For the individual observations values deviating more than 2.0 *STDEV from the average value were removed from the database. For small datasets, it sometimes was decided to remove values deviating more than 1.5*STDEV from the average value.¹ In cases where the number of standardized amino acid digestibility values of an ingredient (including the values highlighted based on deviating amino acid contents from the amino acid profile) was \geq 5 all data of this observation were deleted from the database. In some cases, with datasets in which more than 5 AA had STDEV > 7%, a second outlier procedure was applied if useful.

It is well known that often the basal endogenous loss of PRO is much higher than of other amino acids. As the magnitude of the basal endogenous loss is experiment specific (Annex II) and directly determines the level of the apparent digestibility, the inaccuracy in the determined endogenous PRO loss, often results in large variations in the SIDC values of PRO between studies. Therefore, the average SIDC of PRO in the dataset of a specific feedstuff often deviates from that of other amino acids, with high STDEV, very low minimum and very high maximum SIDC's. So, it was decided to set the SIDC of PRO on the average SIDC of the average SIDC of the average SIDC of the average SIDC of the 17 other amino acids.

In smaller datasets incidentally no (average) SIDC value or a strongly deviating SIDC, based on one observation, was observed. Also, in such cases the average SIDC of the average SIDC of the remaining amino acids was used.

¹ When the number of observations is limited, the criterion ' ≥ 2.0 *STDEV' yields hardly any outlier, while visual inspection of the data reveals good reasons for the elimination of certain data. With a limited number of observations, an outlier has a major influence on the average value and on the magnitude of the STDEV. By applying the stricter criterion (' ≥ 1.5 *STDEV'), subjective removal of data as outlier is prevented. When executing this procedure, it was realized that the less the number of observations is, the less values are detected as outlier.

3. Proposed standardized ileal digestibility of crude protein and amino acids of individual feed ingredients for pigs

Introduction

In this chapter, the results of the examination of the datasets of the individual feed ingredients included in the CVB Feed Table with a nutritional evaluation for pigs are briefly reviewed.

For each feed ingredient, separate proposals have been worked out and submitted to the 'Ad hoc Group Ileal CVB amino acids pigs' – installed by the Technical Committee of the CVB – for a critical evaluation. The comments of this group have been processed in the final proposals. The updated standardized ileal digestibility of the individual feed ingredients is presented in alphabetical order below.

For most ingredients, two Tables are presented. In these Tables the data are mentioned after executing the outlier procedure. In the first Table an overview is given of the amino acid pattern of the dataset (number of observations, average values and STDEV).

For several feedstuff, there was a substantial variation in CP content and/or fiber contents such as crude fiber, NDF and ADF. In such cases correlation matrices were made, and – if there were significant correlations between one of these parameters and the SIDC's for CP and several AA – regression analysis was performed. For several feedstuffs this resulted in a proposal to calculate the SIDC of CP and AA with a regression equation. These regression equations are not presented in this report, but they were truly us to calculate the SIDC's for (the qualities of) the feedstuff as published in the CVB Feed Table.

Not for all feedstuffs with a nutritional evaluation for pigs additional observations were found in the literature. Most of these ingredients have (very) low protein contents and/or are of little practical importance and/or are only locally available (e.g., certain high moisture feed materials). For these feedstuffs the current amino acid evaluation will be maintained. An overview of these feed ingredients is given in ANNEX III.

3.1 Barley.

For barley there was a large dataset of 61 observations. In approximately 60% of the observations the apparent ileal digestibility was published without any information about the basal endogenous loss, or a BEL pattern from the literature was used to correct the AIDC values into SIDC values. These observations also showed a large variation in the AIDC values and the SIDC values, using a fixed BEL pattern agreed within the CVB that is based on a very large dataset.

In a special study, presented by Machiel Blok, Wouter Spek and Paul Bikker as poster at the 15th International Symposium Digestive Physiology in Pigs (DPP 2022) in Rotterdam (17-20 May 2022), with observations for corn, where AIDC and SIDC values plus an experiment specific BEL pattern was published, it was shown that for this low protein feedstuff the AIDC decreases with increasing (experiment specific) BEL values (see also Annex II). This difference disappeared after converting AIDC values into SIDC values. We assume that this phenomenon also plays a role in the observations for barley where the AIDC values were not corrected into SIDC values with an experiment specific BEL pattern.

Therefore, it was decided to base the new evaluation of barley on a subset of 19 observations, where in all cases the SIDC values were obtained by correcting the AIDC values with an experiment specific BEL pattern. The average crude protein of this subset content was 128 ± 20.6 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 95 and 156 g/kg DM, respectively.

	refere	ence.																
Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)							
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	17	18	17	17	18	15	18	17	13	18	16	16	14	16	15	13	15	16
Average *	4.6	2.1	3.4	7.0	3.7	1.6	5.1	3.3	1.0	4.9	4.1	5.8	2.2	22.6	4.0	10.2	4.1	2.4
STDEV	0.52	0.28	0.25	0.56	0.4	0.16	0.49	0.28	0.14	0.49	0.51	0.62	0.37	1.83	0.34	1.05	0.33	0.75
Min	3.7	1.6	2.9	6.1	3	1.2	4.4	2.7	0.8	3.9	3.3	4.7	1.7	19.9	3.5	8.5	3.3	1
Мах	5.5	2.5	3.9	7.9	4.4	1.8	6.1	3.8	1.3	5.6	5.1	6.8	2.9	26.1	4.6	11.9	4.5	3.4
CVB Feed T	able 202	21																
Average	4.9	2.2	3.5	6.9	3.6	1.7	5.0	3.4	1.2	4.9	4.1	6.0	2.2	23.5	4.0	10.8	4.2	3.1
STDEV	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.2	1.7	0.2	0.9	0.2	0.2

 Table 3.1.1.
 Amino acid pattern of all observations for barley, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.1.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for barley, after removal of the outliers:
number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of barley in the CVB Feed Table
2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									S	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	16	15	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	13	16	14	16	14	15	15	10	15	15
Average SIDC	78.0	83.0	82.4	81.2	82.9	76.6	82.4	81.6	76.4	80.6	79.5	72.7	75.1	83.5	87.8	75.5	93.2	80.8	77.0
STDEV *	2.92	3.95	4.04	3.34	3.44	4.03	3.75	4.33	5.96	5.22	4.93	3.62	4.78	4.36	2.18	5.87	10.47	3.32	9.87
Min	74.5	73.5	74	75.6	77	69.9	76.7	72.2	67.7	69.4	69.9	63.9	66.7	74.1	84	63.2	82.2	75.3	58.9
Max	84.7	88.3	89.1	87.3	89.6	83.4	87.4	90	87.5	89.2	87.4	79.6	83.5	89.3	91.8	83.8	112	88.8	95.5
	After conversion to an integral number																		
SIDC	78	83	82	81	83	77	82	82	76	81	80	73	75	84	88	76	80 **	81	77
							SID	C valu	es in tl	he CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	80	84	82	82	82	76	82	84	79	77	80	72	75	80	89	77	91	85	83

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.2 Biscuit, ground and bread remains, dried

The SIDC evaluation of biscuit, ground and bread remains, dried is based on an initial dataset with 4 observations for 'bakery products'. From the literature it is not clear which bakery products were studied. The average crude protein content of these four observations was 145 <u>+</u> 24.3 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 121 and 173 g/kg DM, respectively.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	3
Average **	4.3	2.7	3.6	7.9	2.8	1.5	4.6	3.1	1.0	4.6	4.4	5.7	1.7	23.7	3.8	7.8	4.3	2.9
STDEV	0.5	1.3	0.3	1.4	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.2	1.1	1.6	0.3	6.3	0.2	0.6	0.5	0.4
Min	3.8	1.7	3.3	6.5	2.4	1.4	4.3	2.8	0.9	4.4	3.2	3.8	1.3	17.8	3.5	7.3	3.8	2.5
Max	5.0	4.5	4.0	9.7	3.4	1.6	4.9	3.4	1.1	4.8	5.8	7.7	1.9	32.5	4.0	8.4	4.8	3.2
CVB Feed T	able 20	21																
Average	4.1	2.4	3.6	6.6	2.5	1.5	4.6	3.3	1.0	4.5	3.7	5.8	2.1	27.7	3.9	9.7	4.7	2.8
STDEV	0.6	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.5	0.4	-	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.1	1.3	0.3	0.2	0.3	-

Table 3.2.1. Amino acid pattern of the 4 observations for bakery products: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

*: In this small dataset no outliers were identified.

**: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.2.2 shows that the evaluation in the current CVB Feed Table 2021 is substantially higher than the values in the new dataset. Considering that bakery products have been heat treated for longer times, it is assumed that the new evaluation is more realistic than that in the current CVB Feed Table 2021.

Further, the table shows that the SIDC of LYS in the dataset is very low and has a large STDEV. Therefore, it is decided to use for LYS the same SIDC as for poultry. For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 16 AA is used.

The SIDC evaluation of CP and AA for bakery products will be used for the following feedstuffs in the CVB Feed Table: biscuit, ground (two qualities differing in crude fat content) and for bread remains, dried.

Table 3.2.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for bakery products, after removal of
the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of bakery products in
the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

CP ARG HIS ILE LEU LYS MET PHE THR TRP VAL ALA ASP CYS GLU GLY PRO SER TYR N 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 3 4 2 Average SIDC 78.3 86.9 80.4 79.0 83.9 62.5 82.7 83.8 72.4 75.3 77.6 75.9 72.5 74.7 87.5 79.4 106.7 80.6 83.4 STDEV * 11.5 7.5 10.1 10.3 8.4 17.5 8.5 9.2 11.9 13.4 10.2 11.0 12.7 14.2 8.8 16.2 58.4 9.4 9.1 Min 65.0 75.7 71.1 69.2 75.2 46.6 74.5 74.2 62.1 59.8 67.7 61.6 61.8 57.4 78.3 55.1	Item									5	SIDC (%	6)								
N 4		СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Average SIDC 78.3 86.9 80.4 79.0 83.9 62.5 82.7 83.8 72.4 75.3 77.6 75.9 72.5 74.7 87.5 79.4 106.7 80.6 83.8 STDEV* 11.5 7.5 10.1 10.3 8.4 17.5 8.5 9.2 11.9 13.4 10.2 11.0 12.7 14.2 8.8 16.2 58.4 9.4 9.1 Min 65.0 75.7 71.1 69.2 75.2 46.6 74.5 74.2 62.1 59.8 67.7 61.6 61.8 57.4 78.3 55.1 43.3 70.0 77.4 Max 89.2 91.5 91.4 88.4 91.8 80.8 92.0 92.8 83.9 83.1 87.2 84.9 86.8 158.2 90.4 89.2 Max 89.2 91.5 91.4 88.4 91.8 80.8 92.0 92.8 83.1 87.2 84.9 86.8 158.2 90.4 89.3 Max 55.0 79.4 <t< th=""><th>Ν</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>3</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>4</th><th>3</th><th>4</th><th>2</th></t<>	Ν	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	2
STDEV* 11.5 7.5 10.1 10.3 8.4 17.5 8.5 9.2 11.9 13.4 10.2 11.0 12.7 14.2 8.8 16.2 58.4 9.4 9.1 Min 65.0 75.7 71.1 69.2 75.2 46.6 74.5 74.2 62.1 59.8 67.7 61.6 61.8 57.4 78.3 55.1 43.3 70.0 77.4 Max 89.2 91.5 91.4 88.4 91.8 80.8 92.0 92.8 83.9 83.1 87.2 84.9 87.6 88.1 96.8 88.7 158.2 90.4 89.4 After conversion to an integral number SIDC 78 87 80 79 84 70 83 84 72 75 78 76 73 75 88 79 79 ** 81 83	Average SIDC	78.3	86.9	80.4	79.0	83.9	62.5	82.7	83.8	72.4	75.3	77.6	75.9	72.5	74.7	87.5	79.4	106.7	80.6	83.4
Min 65.0 75.7 71.1 69.2 75.2 46.6 74.5 74.2 62.1 59.8 67.7 61.6 61.8 57.4 78.3 55.1 43.3 70.0 77.4 Max 89.2 91.5 91.4 88.4 91.8 80.8 92.0 92.8 83.9 83.1 87.2 84.9 87.6 88.1 96.8 88.7 158.2 90.4 89.4 After conversion to an integral number SIDC 78 87 88 79 79.** 81 83	STDEV *	11.5	7.5	10.1	10.3	8.4	17.5	8.5	9.2	11.9	13.4	10.2	11.0	12.7	14.2	8.8	16.2	58.4	9.4	9.1
Max 89.2 91.5 91.4 88.4 91.8 80.8 92.0 92.8 83.9 83.1 87.2 84.9 87.6 88.1 96.8 88.7 158.2 90.4 89.2 After conversion to an integral number SIDC 78 87 80 79 84 70 83 84 72 75 78 76 73 75 88 79 79 ** 81 83	Min	65.0	75.7	71.1	69.2	75.2	46.6	74.5	74.2	62.1	59.8	67.7	61.6	61.8	57.4	78.3	55.1	43.3	70.0	77.0
After conversion to an integral number SIDC 78 87 80 79 84 70 83 84 72 75 78 75 88 79 79 ** 81 83	Max	89.2	91.5	91.4	88.4	91.8	80.8	92.0	92.8	83.9	83.1	87.2	84.9	87.6	88.1	96.8	88.7	158.2	90.4	89.8
SIDC 78 87 80 79 84 70 83 84 72 75 78 76 73 75 88 79 79 ** 81 83		After conversion to an integral number																		
	SIDC	78	87	80	79	84	70	83	84	72	75	78	76	73	75	88	79	79 **	81	83
SIDC values in the CVB Feed Table 2021								SID	C valu	es in tl	ne CVE	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC 93 94 94 92 93 90 91 93 93 91 88 95 92 94 95	SIDC	93	94	93	94	94	92	93	90	91	91	93	93	91	88	95	92	92	94	95

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.3 Blood meal

Generally, blood meal is considered a protein source with a high digestibility. In the initial dataset there were 6 publications with an average SIDC of all AA (except PRO) >85%, and 8 with an average SIDC of all AA (except PRO) <80%.

It was decided to use only observations of blood meal with a digestibility >85%, and to identify these as 'good quality blood meal'. The average crude protein content of these 6 samples was 969 <u>+</u> 11.6 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 950 and 982 g/kg DM, respectively.

	ו כבע דמטופ בעבד וא פויירוד מא מ דפופו פוועפ.																	
Item							A	Amino a	acid pat	ttern (g	/16g N) *						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	6	6	5	6	6	3	6	6	6	6	3	3	3	3	3	1	3	3
Average **	4.2	6.1	0.7	12.7	9.3	1.1	7.0	4.6	1.3	8.9	7.5	9.2	0.9	7.7	3.9	4.2	3.6	2.5
STDEV	0.67	0.51	0.18	1.29	1.11	0.40	0.76	1.14	0.32	1.39	0.44	0.83	0.50	1.54	0.30		0.42	0.80
Min	3.4	5.2	0.4	10.3	7.9	0.7	6.0	2.5	1.0	6.3	7.2	8.4	0.6	6.8	3.6		3.1	1.8
Max	5.3	6.8	0.8	13.8	10.4	1.3	7.6	5.7	1.8	10.2	8.0	10.0	1.5	9.5	4.2		3.9	3.4
CVB Feed T	able 20	21																
Average	4.3	6.4	1.2	12.8	8.9	1.2	6.9	4.4	1.5	8.6	7.9	11.0	1.2	9.3	4.5	3.9	5.0	2.9
STDEV	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.6	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.5	0.2	0.6	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.5	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.4

Table 3.3.1.Amino acid pattern of all observations for blood meal (good quality), after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of
observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB
Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference. *

': In this outlier analysis the difference in amino acid pattern between blood meals from different origin is ignored.

**: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.3.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for blood meal (good quality), after
removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of blood
meal (good quality) in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									\$	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	4	5	5	5	5	5	3	5	6	5	6	3	3	3	3	3	0	3	3
Average SIDC	84.5	89.9	92.5	82.1	88.3	89.9	88.4	91.4	86.1	86.9	89.2	90.7	89.5	81.4	87.7	84.5		87.7	89.0
STDEV *	0.78	1.17	2.35	5.86	2.94	1.03	3.64	2.72	2.56	2.75	3.83	4.64	4.69	9.28	1.25	2.84		1.41	1.10
Min	83.6	88.1	90.4	71.9	83.6	88.8	84.3	89.5	83.1	82.7	83.5	85.9	84.6	70.7	86.7	81.3		86.4	88.2
Max	85.5	91.3	96.0	86.3	91.6	91.4	91.2	96.0	89.9	89.6	95.0	95.2	93.9	87.2	89.1	86.8		89.2	90.2
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nur	nber						
SIDC	85	90	93	82	88	90	88	91	86	87	89	91	90	81	88	85	88 **	88	89
							SID	C valu	es in t	he CVE	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	88	95	95	75	93	94	88	92	88	91	93	88	88	88	88	88	88	88	88

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: SIDC-PRO = average SIDC of the other 17 AA.

It was decided to publish also a SIDC evaluation of CP and AA if the quality of blood meal is not known, based on the combined analysis of both good quality and lower quality blood meals. This proposal is presented in Table 3.3.3.

Table 3.3.3. Standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for blood meal for which the quality is not known.

				S	DC val	ues (in ^d	%-units) for blo	ood mea	al for wl	nich qu	ality is	not kno	wn				
СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
78.7	83.0	82.6	74.3	79.7	84.0	82.1	81.6	79.0	83.3	79.2	77.2	77.9	59.8	78.3	74.6		77.8	85.4
							After co	onversio	on to an	integral	numbei	r						
70	83	80	74	80	84	82	82	79	83	79	77	78	60	78	75	79 *	78	85

*: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.4 Brewer's yeast and other yeasts

The SIDC evaluation of yeasts (brewer's yeast, Torula yeast, yeast cultured on n-alkanes, molasses, sulphite waste) is based on an initial dataset with 10 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 513 ± 88.0 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 381 and 661 g/kg DM, respectively.

	refere	ence.																
Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	۷)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	9	9	10	9	9	8	9	9	7	9	10	10	8	10	10	8	10	10
Average *	4.7	1.9	5.8	7.5	7.4	1.5	4.4	4.9	1.2	5.3	6.2	9.6	1.0	13.5	4.5	3.8	4.7	3.0
STDEV	0.34	0.15	1.39	0.80	0.99	0.24	0.52	0.33	0.07	0.20	0.73	0.93	0.12	1.93	0.36	0.81	0.65	0.75
Min	4.0	1.8	4.5	6.6	6.5	1.1	3.8	4.5	1.1	5.0	4.8	8.3	0.8	10.7	3.9	3.0	3.8	2.0
Max	5.2	2.2	8.4	9.3	9.7	1.8	5.4	5.5	1.3	5.7	7.7	10.9	1.2	16.1	5.2	5.0	5.8	4.5
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	4.4	2.1	4.6	6.8	6.7	1.6	4.2	4.8	1.2	5.3	6.3	9.0	1.1	12.6	4.5	4.1	5.0	3.3
STDEV	0.7	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.8	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.1	0.4	0.5	1.0	0.2	1.3	0.3	0.7	0.4	0.4

Table 3.4.1.Amino acid pattern of all observations for yeasts, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content
and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a
reference.

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.4.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for yeasts, after removal of the
outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of yeasts in the CVB
Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									5	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	5	9	10	10	10	10	8	10	10	8	10	10	10	8	9	10	6	10	10
Average SIDC	86.7	93.2	87.1	86.8	87.4	89.6	85.7	87.2	81.9	87.5	85.5	86.5	86.5	73.6	90.6	86.6	98.1	83.7	88.2
STDEV *	6.13 3.59 6.93 5.71 5.93 4.73 8.46 6.06 4.57 7.97 6.28 5.78 4.7 15.5 3.71 6.57 9.74 5.12 7. 77 6 87 2 76 2 77 4 79 6.28 76 75 78 74 6.57 9.74 5.12 7. 77 6 87 2 76 2 77 4 6 84 2 79 3 80 1 76 75															7.02			
Min	77.6	87.2	76.2	77.4	79.1	82.1	73.8	75.3	74.6	73.8	76.7	75.7	78.7	44.6	84.2	79.3	80.1	76.1	75.1
Max	94.6	99.4	96.3	93.9	95.3	95.2	94.5	94.8	88.8	97	93.2	94.4	92.1	87.9	94.9	99.5	106.2	90.8	95
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nun	nber						
SIDC	87	93	87	87	87	90	86	87	82	88	86	87	87	78 **	91	87	87 ***	84	88
							SID	C valu	es in tl	he CVE	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	85	92	84	84	85	88	82	86	83	85	85	86	86	69	89	85	90	85	89

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: In the dataset with 8 observations there is 1 extreme low SIDC value (44.6); after removal of this value the SIDC becomes 78%. ***: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

The new SIDC evaluation of CP and AA for yeasts (as described above) will be used for brewers' yeast, dried and for (the three qualities of) brewers, yeast, liquid as published in the CVB Feed Table.

3.5 Casein

This SIDC evaluation is based on an initial dataset with 20 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 958 ± 41.4 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 871 and 1000 g/kg DM, respectively.

		,				00.000						•	••••				0.0.0.0.0	
ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	18	19	19	19	19	17	18	19	12	18	19	19	16	19	18	18	19	14
Average *	3.6	2.9	5.5	9.8	7.9	3.0	5.2	4.4	1.3	7.0	3.1	7.2	0.5	22.6	1.9	11.2	5.4	5.4
STDEV	0.37	0.28	0.31	0.54	0.63	0.16	0.37	0.26	0.15	0.28	0.29	0.48	0.17	1.50	0.19	1.25	0.67	0.43
Min	3.1	2.4	4.8	8.5	6.7	2.6	4.4	3.8	1.0	6.4	2.4	6.1	0.3	19.6	1.6	8.8	4.5	4.6
Max	4.4	3.3	5.9	10.6	8.8	3.2	5.8	4.9	1.6	7.4	3.7	7.9	0.8	25.1	2.1	13.2	6.8	6.3
CVB Feed 1	Table 20)21																
Average	3.6	3.1	5.2	9.7	8.0	3.0	5.2	4.3	1.3	6.7	3.2	7.3	0.4	22.0	2.0	11.2	5.7	5.6
STDEV	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.9	0.2	1.1	0.3	0.5

Table 3.5.1.
 Amino acid pattern of all observations for casein, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last rows the pattern from the CVB Table 2021 is given as a reference.

*: Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.5.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for casein, after removal of the outliers:

 number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of casein in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is

 mentioned as a reference.

Item									ç	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	18	18	18	17	18	18	17	17	18	11	18	18	18	14	17	17	15	18	13
Average SIDC	96.9	98.3	97.8	97.2	98.2	98.6	97.9	98.9	95.2	96.7	97.3	96.0	96.9	86.1	98.5	98.4	105.4	95.5	98.4
STDEV	3.40 3.21 2.23 2.15 1.49 2.14 1.94 2.26 3.67 4.07 1.68 5.15 2.61 11.62 5.34 13.36 8.04 3.26 1. 89.8 92 93 92.7 95.9 95.5 94.5 95 89 88.2 94.2 87.2 91.7 61 94.2 75.2 96.8 91.2 94.2															1.37			
Min	89.8	92	93	92.7	95.9	95.5	94.5	95	89	88.2	94.2	87.2	91.7	61	94.2	75.2	96.8	91.2	95.6
Max	101.1	103.1	101	101.1	100.3	103.2	100.7	104	100.7	101.2	100.5	106.9	101	99.5	117.9	123.8	124.9	101.2	100.1
							Aft	ter con	versio	n to an	integra	al num	ber						
SIDC	97	98	98	97	98	99	98	99	95	97	97	96	97	86	99	98	97**	96	98
							SID	C valu	ies in t	he CVB	Feed ⁻	Table 2	2021						
SIDC	97	99	99	96	99	98	99	99	96	98	96	97	98	92	97	99	99	92	100

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red.

**: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.6 Coconut (Copra) expeller and meal

The SIDC evaluation of copra meal and expeller is based on a small initial dataset with 4 observations (3 meals and 1 expeller), in which the average crude protein content was 222 <u>+</u> 25.0 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 187 and 242 g/kg DM, respectively.

Before starting the data processing, it was decided to remove completely one observation for copra meal; this observation had a very low digestibility with an average SIDC of all AA, except PRO, of 44.3 <u>+</u> 11.0%.

Table 3.6.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for copra meal and expeller, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2
Average *	10.5	1.7	3.1	6.0	2.2	1.4	4.0	3.0	0.7	4.9	4.1	7.9	1.4	18.3	4.2	3.3	4.1	2.5
STDEV	2.78	0.41	0.19	0.69	0.48	0.29	0.48	0.68	0.04	0.72	0.41	1.38	0.22	3.88	0.57	0.71	0.98	0.89
Min	8.4	1.4	3.0	5.5	1.9	1.2	3.6	2.5	0.7	4.4	3.9	6.8	1.3	15.2	3.7	2.7	3.2	1.9
Max	13.7	2.2	3.3	6.8	2.8	1.7	4.5	3.8	0.7	5.7	4.6	9.4	1.7	22.6	4.8	4.1	5.1	3.1
CVB Feed 1	Table 20)21																
Average	10.9	1.8	3.2	6.2	2.5	1.5	4.2	3.0	0.7	4.8	4.2	7.9	1.5	18.2	4.2	3.5	4.2	2.4
STDEV	0.7	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.8	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.6.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for copra meal and expeller, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of copra meal and expeller in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item									Ş	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2
Average SIDC	73.8	85.8	80.9	79.8	80.2	65.2	83.6	81.7	72.4	77.4	76.9	76.8	70.3	63.0	75.5	75.4	150.2	76.0	84.5
STDEV **	8.70 8.40 7.08 2.70 1.57 22.13 1.75 2.66 6.90 15.63 2.67 3.14 7.44 8.53 7.10 14.49 40.43 5.77 2. 67.6 76.1 73.2 76.7 78.5 40.3 82.1 79.2 64.4 66.3 73.9 73.2 65.6 53.1 67.3 60.6 125.0 70.5 83															2.35			
Min	67.6	76.1	73.2	76.7	78.5	40.3	82.1	79.2	64.4	66.3	73.9	73.2	65.6	53.1	67.3	60.6	125.0	70.5	82.8
Max	79.9	91.2	87.1	81.6	81.6	82.6	85.5	84.5	76.7	88.4	79.0	79.0	78.9	68.0	79.9	89.5	196.9	82.0	86.1
							Aft	ter con	versio	n to an	integra	al num	ber						
SIDC	74	86	81	80	80	65	84	82	72	77	77	77	70	63	76	75	77 ***	76	85
							SID	C valu	es in tl	he CVB	Feed	Table 2	2021						
SIDC	57	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58

*: The evaluation is used for copra expeller (2 qualities) and copra meal in the CVB table. **: STDEV > 7% are marked red. ***: SIDC-PRO = average SIDC of the other 17 AA.

3.7 Cotton seed expeller and meal

3.7.1 Cotton seed meal, solvent extracted

This SIDC evaluation of cottonseed meal, solvent extracted is based on an initial dataset with 48 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 478 <u>+</u> 65.9 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 350 and 627 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.7.1.1.	Amino acid pattern of all observations for cottonseed meal, solvent extracted, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of
	observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the
	CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	42	46	44	43	45	41	47	46	36	44	38	41	36	41	40	40	40	40
Average *	10.7	2.7	3.0	5.6	4.1	1.4	5.3	3.1	1.1	4.2	3.7	8.8	1.6	18.5	3.9	3.4	4.0	2.5
STDEV	0.68	0.25	0.20	0.29	0.26	0.16	0.40	0.21	0.14	0.28	0.23	0.53	0.16	0.90	0.22	0.71	0.35	0.21
Min	9.6	2.3	2.6	5.0	3.7	0.9	4.7	2.6	0.9	3.7	3.0	7.9	1.2	17.0	3.5	2.0	3.3	2.0
Max	12.2	3.3	3.3	6.2	4.8	1.6	6.2	3.6	1.4	4.8	4.1	10.0	2.1	20.4	4.3	4.9	5.0	2.9
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	10.7	2.7	3.1	5.9	4.1	1.6	5.2	3.2	1.2	4.4	4.1	9.3	1.7	18.9	4.2	3.7	4.3	2.9
STDEV	0.6	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.8	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3

*: If averages values deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

For cottonseed meal, solvent extracted it was observed that the SIDC's of CP and most AA are significantly correlated with the CP content. In the Table 3.7.1.2 a correlation matrix is presented, showing the number of observations, correlation coefficients and the significance of the correlation.

Based on the results in Table 3.7.1.2 prediction equations were developed by performing regression analysis with the model: SID level of CP or $AA = a^*Crude$ Protein + c (results not shown).

Table 3.7.1.2. Correlation matrix showing the correlation of the standardized ileal digestible CP and Amino Acid contents (g/kg DM) to Crude Protein (g/kg DM): number of observations, correlation coefficient (r) and significance (p).

			<u> </u>	/			,				1	<u> </u>	<u> </u>						
ltem	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	44	44	47	47	47	47	41	47	47	41	47	42	42	37	42	42	36	42	40
Corr. Coeff. (r)	0.897	0.884	0.861	0.839	0.834	0.759	0.314	0.888	0.760	0.693	0.738	0.351	0.851	0.627	0.893	0.760	0.606	0.595	0.799
Signific. (p) *	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.046	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.023	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001

*: All correlations are significant.

Using these prediction equations, the SIDC's have been calculated for the three qualities of cottonseed meal that are published in the CVB Feed Table (see Table 3.7.1.3).

 Table 3.7.1.3.
 New SIDC values for the three qualities of cottonseed meal, solvent extracted as published in the CVB Table, using the regression equations that were developed. For comparison the SIDC values of the CVB Feed Table 2021 are depicted too.

Cottonseed meal, solvent extracted	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Cottonseed meal, extracted-dehulled, CF	< 140	g/kg																	
New SIDC values, with one decimal	78.4	96.3	85.7	76.2	75.3	70.3	69.1	90.6	73.1	77.1	75.0	72.0	78.0	73.9	88.5	74.7	77.9	76.6	71.8
New SIDC values, converted to an integer	78	96	86	76	75	70	69	91	73	77	75	72	78	74	88	75	78	77	72
SIDC values in CVB Feed Table 2021	81	92	81	79	78	70	80	86	76	82	83	79	83	80	90	85	89	86	82
Cottonseed meal, extracted-partly dehull	ed, CF	- 140 -	200 g	/kg															
New SIDC values, with one decimal	69.9	85.5	72.7	69.5	66.5	59.2	66.5	80.9	63.4	64.5	71.4	68.4	66.9	70.5	79.5	62.0	69.4	67.5	64.2
New SIDC values, converted to an integer	70	86	73	69	66	59	67	81	63	65	71	68	67	70	79	62	69	68	64
SIDC values in CVB Feed Table 2021	81	92	81	79	78	70	80	86	76	82	83	79	83	80	90	85	89	86	82
Cottonseed meal, solvent extracted	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Cottonseed meal, extracted -non-dehulle	d																		
New SIDC values, with one decimal	54.6	71.0	54.4	60.4	54.7	43.9	64.0	69.0	49.8	47.6	68.8	65.8	51.1	68.3	67.8	42.7	58.1	55.0	53.3
New SIDC values, converted to an integer	55	71	54	60	55	44	64	69	50	48	69	66	51	68	68	43	58	55	53
SIDC values in CVB Feed Table 2021							No	SIDC	values	s in cui	rrent C	VB Ta	ble						

3.7.2 Cotton seed expeller

The SIDC evaluation of cotton seed expeller is based on an initial dataset with 4 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 425 ± 58.6 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 379 and 505 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.7.2.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for cotton seed expeller, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (o	a/16q N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	4	2	3	3	4	2	4	4	4	4	4
Average *	10.0	2.8	3.2	5.2	3.7	1.5	5.1	3.1	1.2	4.3	3.6	8.0	1.5	17.6	3.6	3.9	3.8	2.7
STDEV	0.88	0.42	0.43	0.57	0.56	0.11	0.32	0.32	0.01	0.17	0.41	1.08	0.13	2.52	0.44	0.71	0.28	0.40
Min	9.3	2.3	2.8	4.6	3.2	1.4	4.7	2.7	1.2	4.1	3.1	6.7	1.4	14.4	3.1	3.3	3.5	2.2
Мах	11.3	3.3	3.8	5.8	4.4	1.6	5.4	3.5	1.2	4.5	3.9	9.1	1.6	20.1	4.1	4.8	4.2	3.2
CVB Feed 1	Table 20)21																
Average	10.7	2.7	3.1	5.9	4.1	1.6	5.2	3.2	1.2	4.4	4.1	9.3	1.7	18.9	4.2	3.7	4.3	2.9
STDEV	0.6	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.8	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.7.2.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for cotton seed expeller: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of cotton seed expeller in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. * **

Item									S	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	3	4	4	4	4	4	2	4	4	3	4	4	4	2	4	4	4	4	4
Average SIDC	81.9	91.9	76.8	77.7	80.1	67.3	80.7	85.6	79.0	79.0	77.8	78.4	79.9	83.3	89.7	89.3	113.6	82.2	82.9
STDEV ***	7.93	2.57	15.41	4.34	3.29	10.99	2.40	4.65	3.01	6.59	4.58	5.63	3.66	4.60	5.80	8.33	19.38	3.69	3.90
Min	73.0	89.5	60.0	72.0	76.0	51.3	79.0	81.1	75.0	75.0	72.8	70.6	75.8	80.0	82.0	77.0	90.0	78.2	79.0
Max	88.1	94.7	91.7	82.6	84.0	76.1	82.4	91.7	82.3	86.6	83.8	83.7	83.9	86.5	95.9	95.2	134.4	85.5	88.2
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integr	al num	ber						
SIDC	82	92	77	78	80	67	81	86	79	79	78	78	80	83	90	89	81 ****	82	83
		SIDC values in the CVB Feed Table 2021																	
SIDC	81	92	81	79	78	70	80	86	76	82	83	79	82	80	90	85	89	86	82

*: There were no outliers identified for the SIDC's. **: The SIDC evaluation will be used for cotton seed expeller, dehulled and cottonseed, partly dehulled as published in the CVB Feed Table. ***: STDEV > 7% are marked red. ****: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.8 DDGS, Maize

This SIDC evaluation of DDGS, Maize is based on an initial dataset with 92 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 308 + 25.5 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 272 and 489 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.8.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for DDGS, Maize, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	86	86	84	86	86	88	85	85	78	88	87	84	85	87	87	72	79	59
Average	4.3	2.7	3.7	11.3	3.1	2.0	4.8	3.6	0.7	5.0	6.9	6.3	1.9	14.6	3.8	7.6	4.2	3.4
STDEV	0.31	0.22	0.17	0.56	0.42	0.20	0.22	0.13	0.08	0.30	0.40	0.36	0.29	2.02	0.21	0.40	0.40	0.30
Min	3.6	2.2	3.3	10.1	2.3	1.6	4.2	3.3	0.6	4.3	6.2	5.6	1.3	11.2	3.3	6.6	3.4	2.9
Max	4.9	3.1	4.1	12.8	3.9	2.5	5.4	4.1	0.9	5.6	7.9	7.2	2.6	18.8	4.2	8.4	4.9	4.3
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	4.1	2.5	4	11.9	2.4	1.0	5.0	3.6	0.7	5.0	7.2	6.8	1.8	18.1	3.9	7.9	4.6	4.1
STDEV	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 3.8.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for DDGS, Maize, after removal of the
outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of DDGS, Maize in the
CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									S	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	75	82	83	83	80	80	83	82	82	79	81	78	82	82	79	79	68	74	56
Average SIDC	73.9	83.6	77.9	76.3	84.7	62.6	82.4	81.8	70.7	73.8	75.8	80	69.2	73.2	81.5	66.6	75.5	77.1	82.5
STDEV *	4.8	4.47	4.31	4.11	2.84	6.94	3.34	3.17	4.34	8.45	4.08	3.51	4.58	4.11	3.72	8.69	11.8	4.3	3.14
Min	63.5	74.1	69.8	66.5	77.8	46.5	73.9	74.4	60.6	53.2	67.3	71.7	59.4	65.9	71.2	51	51.5	63.4	74.6
Max	82.9	92	85.9	84.2	91.3	75.4	89.2	88.7	81.9	86.9	86.2	86.4	79.1	80.6	88.7	87	109.1	86.6	90.1
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nun	nber						
SIDC	74	84	78	76	85	63	83	82	71	74	76	80	69	73	82	67	76**	77	83
							SID	C valu	es in tl	ne CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	73	84	78	79	86	58	86	85	73	77	80	82	67	66	84	60	67	84	-

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.9 DDGS, Wheat

This SIDC evaluation of DDGS, Wheat is based on an initial dataset with 10 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 363 + 43.1 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 318 and 445 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.9.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for DDGS, Wheat, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	10	10	10	10	9	10	9	10	8	10	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	1
Average	3.8	2.0	3.4	6.8	1.8	1.4	4.5	3.0	1.0	4.3	3.8	5.0	1.8	25.5	4.0	9.0	4.4	2.6
STDEV	0.33	0.17	0.31	0.40	0.27	0.21	0.10	0.11	0.06	0.15	0.38	0.26	0.23	1.95	0.08	0.73	0.20	
Min	3.3	1.8	2.8	6.3	1.5	1.0	4.3	2.8	0.8	4.1	3.5	4.7	1.4	22.2	3.9	8.1	4.2	
Max	4.4	2.3	3.9	7.6	2.3	1.9	4.7	3.2	1.0	4.6	4.5	5.5	2.2	27.9	4.1	10.2	4.6	
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	4.0	2.0	3.6	7.5	2.1	1.5	4.5	3.2	0.9	4.3	4.3	5.4	1.7	23.7	3.9	8.5	4.4	-
STDEV	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

It was observed that the SIDC's of CP and several AA correlated well with the NDF content in DDGS, Wheat. This is illustrated in Table 3.9.2.

 Table 3.9.2.
 Correlation matrix showing the correlation of the standardized ileal digestible (SID) of CP and Amino Acid contents (g/kg DM) to Crude Protein, crude fiber, NDF and ADF (all in g/kg DM).

	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	8	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	8	9	8	8	9	8	8	4	8	
Corr. coeff. (r)	-0.834	-0.777	-0.811	-0.739	-0.703	-0.779	-0.835	-0.677	-0.707	-0.572	-0.710	-0.802	-0.792	-0.307	-0.572	-0.810	-0.127	-0.638	
Significance (p)	0.010	0.014	0.008	0.023	0.035	0.013	0.005	0.045	0.033	0.138	0.032	0.017	0.019	0.421	0.139	0.015	0.873	0.089	

Based on the results in Table 3.9.2 regression analysis has been performed to develop prediction equations with the model: (Standardized ileal digestible level of CP or AA) = a*Crude Protein + c Results not shown). These equations were used only to calculate the SIDC values of CP and AA for DDGS, Wheat, using the CP content and the AA pattern as published in the CVB Feed Table (2021). The results are shown in Table 3.9.3.

Table 3.9.3.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for DDGS, Wheat, calculated with
internal equations. The SIDC's of DDGS, Wheat in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

									SIDC (%	6)								
СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
70.7	81.4	74.0	76.7	80.4	44.7	76.4	83.7	68.4	70.7	77.7	66.4	58.1	68.3	90.4	61.7	72.8 *	76.7	81.6
	After conversion to an integral number																	
71	81	74	77	80	45	76	84	68	71	78	66	58	68	90	62	73 *	77	82
	SIDC values in the CVB Feed Table 2021																	
77	84	79	80	83	57	81	87	74	84	77	73	62	79	88	69	80	80	-

*: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.10 Feather meal, hydrolyzed

The SIDC evaluation of feather meal, hydrolyzed is based on an initial dataset with 6 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 902 <u>+</u> 34.3 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 860 and 944 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.10.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for feather meal, hydrolyzed, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations,
average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table
2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	5	5	5	4	5	3	5	4	5	5	4	4	4	3	4	4	4	3
Average *	6.8	1.1	4.7	8.3	2.5	0.8	5.1	4.5	0.6	7.7	4.8	6.7	5.1	10.3	7.2	9.2	9.2	3.0
STDEV	0.17	0.44	0.14	0.25	0.63	0.03	0.21	0.10	0.09	0.45	0.22	0.35	0.38	0.22	0.46	1.15	0.73	0.06
Min	6.6	0.5	4.5	8.0	1.8	0.8	4.8	4.4	0.5	7.0	4.6	6.3	4.7	10.0	6.9	8.1	8.4	2.9
Max	7.1	1.6	4.8	8.5	3.3	0.8	5.4	4.6	0.7	8.2	5.1	7.1	5.5	10.4	7.9	10.5	9.9	3.1
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	6.9	1.0	4.8	8.3	2.5	0.7	4.9	4.7	0.7	7.3	4.7	7.0	5.0	10.9	7.7	9.6	10.7	3.1
STDEV	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.7	0.6	0.1

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.10.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for feather meal, hydrolyzed, after
removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of feather
meal, hydrolyzed in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									S	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	2	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	4	4	4	3	3	3	2	3	1	3	3
Average SIDC	67.4	76.2	66.7	78.2	74.2	59.5	63.0	77.8	64.1	70.1	73.5	64.9	41.6	35.2	61.4	62.7	29.4	67.2	69.9
STDEV *	7.46	7.33	9.66	1.15	4.11	15.52	5.29	4.31	5.67	10.89	4.78	8.12	3.01	10.02	0.37	5.37		3.40	4.35
Min	62.1	69.8	60.3	77.4	69.7	39.0	56.9	73.5	60.2	59.7	67.6	56.3	38.4	24.0	61.1	57.7		65.2	65.5
Мах	72.6	84.8	80.8	79.9	78.8	76.7	66.5	82.7	72.5	79.7	78.7	72.5	44.3	43.4	61.6	68.4		71.1	74.2
							Afte	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nun	nber						
SIDC	67	76	67	78	74	60	63	78	64	70	74	65	42	35	61	63	65 **	67	70
		SIDC values in the CVB Feed Table 2021																	
SIDC	66	80	63	80	76	49	58	81	69	56	78	71	48	64	78	80	87	80	70

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.11 Fishmeal, treated

The SIDC evaluation of fishmeal is based on an initial dataset with 22 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 688 <u>+</u> 58.7 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 601 and 851 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.11.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for fishmeal, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	21.0	21.0	21.0	22.0	20.0	17.0	22.0	22.0	14.0	21.0	14.0	16.0	14.0	16.0	16.0	15.0	15.0	15.0
Average *	5.9	2.4	4.2	7.1	7.6	2.6	3.9	4.2	0.9	4.8	6.0	8.8	0.9	12.7	6.6	4.4	3.8	2.9
STDEV	0.28	0.41	0.19	0.35	0.45	0.53	0.19	0.30	0.12	0.37	0.39	0.77	0.15	1.54	1.92	0.67	0.50	0.41
Min	5.5	1.8	3.8	6.5	6.8	1.7	3.6	3.7	0.8	3.7	4.9	7.3	0.7	10.4	2.9	3.3	3.1	2.1
Max	6.4	3.4	4.5	7.8	8.6	4.2	4.3	4.7	1.2	5.7	6.3	10.0	1.3	15.3	10.2	5.8	4.7	3.7
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	5.9	2.6	4.2	7.3	7.6	2.8	3.9	4.2	1.1	4.9	6.3	9.3	0.9	13.0	6.5	4.4	4.0	3.1
STDEV	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.1	0.7	0.7	0.5	0.3	0.3

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.11.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for fishmeal, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of fishmeal in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item									9	SIDC (%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	20	20	22	22	21	21	18	21	22	13	21	15	16	14	16	15	14	16	17
Average SIDC	85.4	91.5	85.8	86.7	87.8	88.1	87.7	86.3	85.9	85.8	86.2	85.8	80.5	73.1	86.5	86.2	108	84.8	82
STDEV **	7.05	4.28	6.84	6.13	5.55	4.97	6.2	6.61	7.57	2.77	6.14	8.00	9.38	12.23	6.45	11.96	33.44	8.33	8.24
Min	69.5	83	74.3	75	76.3	81	76.3	73.7	73.4	79.9	73.9	70	61.8	48.8	75.3	65.8	49.7	72.8	67.3
Max	99.5	99.3	97.7	96.2	97.1	97.1	96.8	95.6	98.3	90.2	96.4	95.8	95.3	92.9	96.1	107.4	161.8	99.8	95.5
							Aft	er con	versio	n to ar	integ	ral nur	nber						
SIDC	85	92	86	87	88	88	88	86	86	86	86	86	81	73	87	86	85***	85	82
		SIDC values in the CVB Feed Table 2021																	
SIDC	85	92	87	90	90	89	89	87	88	86	89	90	79	74	90	87	98	89	88

*: This evaluation will be used for all four qualities in the CVB Feed Table. **: STDEV > 7% are marked red. ***: SIDC-PRO is the average SIDC of the other 17 AA.

3.12 Grass meal

The SIDC evaluation of grass meal is based on an initial dataset with 2 observations, in which the crude protein content was 228 and 152 g/kg DM for observation 1 and 2, respectively.

Table 3.12.1.	Amino acid pattern of the two observations for grass meal in g/16g N. In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table	2021 is
	given as a reference.	

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern ((g/16g	N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Observation 1 *	3.7	1.7	3.8	6.3	3.9	1.2	3.8	3.6		4.8	4.6	11.1	0.9	9.0	4.2	4.5	4.0	2.6
Observation 2 *	4.4	1.7	4.0	6.8	3.9	1.5	4.5	3.6		5.3	5.3	8.2	2.5	10.0	4.0	9.0	4.0	2.7
CVB Feed Table	2021																	
Average	4.1	1.9	3.8	6.9	3.9	1.5	4.3	4.1	1.4	5.2	6.4	9.1	1.0	10.0	4.6	4.6	4.0	2.7
STDEV	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.6	0.2	0.6	0.4	0.1	0.6	0.8	1.1	0.2	1.0	0.5	0.6	0.4	0.3

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.12.2.
 Standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for two observations of grass meal. The SIDC's of grass meal in the CVB Feed Table 2021 are shown as a reference.

ltem									5	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Observation 1	51.7					74.3	78.0		65.1					40.0					
Observation 2		74.8	70.9	71.8	69.4	71.3	49.8	70.0	59.6		74.1			59.3	7.0	21.2		9.7	67.8
						Propo	osed S	IDC fo	r grass	s meal	in futu	ire CV	B Feed	l Table	;				
SIDC	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60
							SID	C valu	es in tl	ne CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	48	48	48	48	48	48	63	48	48	48	48	48	48	33	48	48	48	48	48

For grass meal there are 4 protein classes in the CVB Feed Table varying from a class with a CP concentration <140 g/kg to a class with a CP content >200 g/kg. Two (incomplete) observation is insufficient to relate the SIDC evaluation to the crude fiber content. As the two observations have a low and a high CP value it is proposed to average the average SIDC-AA values of the two observations resulting in an average SIDC-AA value of (64.4 + 55.5) / 2 = 60%.

3.13 Groundnut expeller and meal

This SIDC evaluation of groundnut expeller and meal is based on an initial dataset with 20 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 509 ± 31.4 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 442 and 560 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.13.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for groundnut expeller and meal, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	19	19	19	18	18	16	17	18	17	18	15	15	15	15	15	15	15	14
Average *	10.8	2.1	3.1	5.9	3.1	0.9	4.7	2.6	0.8	4.1	4.2	11.4	1.3	17.0	5.5	4.6	4.3	2.3
STDEV	0.8	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.7	0.2	1.0	0.3	0.7	0.3	0.8
Min	9.7	1.6	2.7	5.3	2.5	0.8	4.1	2.3	0.7	3.6	3.4	10.3	0.9	15.4	5.0	3.5	3.9	1.7
Мах	12.4	2.9	3.6	6.6	3.7	1.1	5.2	3.1	1.0	4.8	4.9	12.8	1.6	18.6	6.1	5.5	4.9	3.8
CVB Feed 1	able 20)21																
Average	10.9	2.3	3.3	6.3	3.3	1.2	4.9	2.6	1.0	4.0	3.9	11.3	1.4	18.5	5.5	4.3	4.7	3.7
STDEV	0.6	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3

*: Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.13.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for groundnut expeller and meal, after
removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of groundnut
expeller and meal in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									ç	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	17	17	17	17	18	17	15	17	18	17	18	14	14	15	15	14	14	15	14
Average SIDC	77.7	96.3	88.5	91.9	92.2	85.7	93	94.1	88.2	87	90.8	90.4	92.6	87.2	93.3	85	91.7	91.3	92.7
STDEV *	6.14	1.75	5.25	3.48	4.45	8.44	4.24	3.28	7.66	5.24	4.82	3.1	5.18	7.86	3.59	7.60	6.22	6.01	2.49
Min	69.6	93.4	80.3	86.7	79.4	66.5	83.4	85.5	71	78.5	79.6	85.8	81.9	72.1	86.7	67.9	83	79.4	88.4
Max	86.9	98.7	96.6	97.9	97.8	94.7	99.2	98.7	97	94.3	97.4	94.4	97.7	97.2	97.2	93.6	104.8	97.6	96.8
							Af	ter con	versio	n to an	integr	al num	ber						
SIDC	78	96	89	92	92	86	93	94	88	87	91	90	93	87	93	85	90**	91	93
							SIDC	value	s in the	CVB F	Feed T	able 20	21 ***						
SIDC	85	94	83	88	87	81	85	92	83	86	87	84	87	78	89	76	92	86	91

*: STDEV >7% are marked red. **: SIDC-PRO is the average SIDC of the other 17 AA.

***: These values are identical for the dehulled and dehulled qualities of groundnut expeller and groundnut meal in the current CVB Table.

3.14 Horse beans, colored flowering

This SIDC evaluation of horse beans, colored flowering is based on an initial dataset with 18 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 299 <u>+</u> 14.0 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 271 and 320 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.14.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for horse beans, colored flowering, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	17	14	17	18	18	15	14	15	5	17	18	18	14	18	17	15	18	14
Average *	8.4	2.6	3.8	7.0	6.0	0.7	4.1	3.4	0.8	4.4	4.0	10.3	1.3	16.8	3.9	4.5	4.7	3.0
STDEV	0.51	0.20	0.33	0.58	0.28	0.09	0.34	0.24	0.06	0.38	0.36	0.75	0.09	2.22	0.20	0.72	0.34	0.55
Min	7.2	2.3	3.4	5.9	5.5	0.5	3.5	2.9	0.7	3.8	3.3	9.0	1.2	12.9	3.6	3.8	4.0	2.1
Мах	9.3	3.0	4.4	7.9	6.4	0.9	4.8	3.6	0.9	5.1	4.6	11.2	1.5	19.7	4.2	5.9	5.1	3.6
CVB Feed 1	Table 20)21																
Average	9.1	2.6	4.1	7.3	6.3	0.8	4.1	3.5	0.9	4.5	4.1	10.9	1.3	16.4	4.2	4.3	4.8	3.3
STDEV	0.7	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.5	0.1	0.7	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2

*: Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.14.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for horse beans, colored flowering, after
removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of horse beans,
colored flowering in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item										SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	11	17	14	17	17	17	13	14	14	4	16	13	13	10	12	13	10	12	6
Average SIDC	77.5	88.5	78.0	78.8	79.9	82.7	69.7	76.6	75.8	56.5	78.0	75.5	82.1	59.0	85.9	72.1	74.7	82.0	76.3
STDEV *	5.83	2.67	5.89	5.15	4.91	3.72	7.27	6.51	6.31	6.35	4.30	5.99	4.02	12.99	2.55	8.37	6.55	3.88	7.22
Min	69.5	84.0	69.0	69.2	71.6	78.0	58.0	67.2	64.0	53.0	71.0	64.1	76.4	48.0	83.0	59.0	65.0	77.0	65.1
Max	87.7	91.9	86.1	89.2	91.0	90.9	81.8	90.8	86.9	66.0	86.8	86.2	90.7	83.1	91.1	88.6	83.9	88.9	86.8
							Af	ter cor	nversio	n to an	integr	al num	nber						
SIDC	78	89	78	79	80	83	70	77	76	57	78	76	82	59	86	72	76 **	82	76
							SIC	C valu	ues in t	he CVE	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	77	89	80	80	78	82	66	75	77	68	76	75	81	59	83	74	80	79	77

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.15 Horse beans, white flowering

This SIDC evaluation of horse beans, white flowering is based on an initial dataset with 7 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 320 ± 23.8 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 270 and 337 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.15.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for horse beans, white flowering, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	6.0	4.0	6.0	5.0	6.0	6.0	4.0	5.0	2.0	6.0	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0	6.0	5.0	6.0	3.0
Average *	8.7	2.5	4.0	7.1	5.9	0.7	4.1	3.2	0.8	4.4	3.8	10.3	1.2	16.0	4.0	3.9	4.3	2.7
STDEV	1.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.0	0.6	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.0
Min	7.4	2.3	3.8	6.7	5.5	0.6	4.0	3.1	0.8	4.3	3.7	9.6	1.2	15.2	3.8	3.6	3.6	2.7
Max	9.7	2.6	4.2	7.2	6.4	0.8	4.2	3.3	0.9	4.7	3.9	10.9	1.3	16.9	4.1	4.1	4.9	2.8
CVB Feed 1	able 20)21																
Average	9.1	2.6	4.1	7.3	6.3	0.8	4.1	3.5	0.9	4.5	4.1	10.9	1.3	16.4	4.2	4.3	4.8	3.3
STDEV	0.7	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.5	0.1	0.7	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2

*: Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.15.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for horse beans, white flowering, after
removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of horse beans,
white flowering in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item										SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	4	4	4	4	5	5	4	4	4	3	5	4	4	5	4	4	4	4	2
Average SIDC	82.0	91.1	87.2	85	86.6	87.8	78.5	85.6	81.5	76.8	84.2	81.6	86.3	71.8	88.5	77.5	90.3	85.9	85.7
STDEV *	2.0	1.21	3.16	1.08	3.61	3.28	2.73	1.33	1.76	11.74	3.98	1.38	0.41	7.12	1.16	5.44	13.91	1.49	1.02
Min	80	90	84	83.7	84	84	77	84	80	69	81.6	80	86	64	87	73	82	84.7	85
Max	84.6	92.8	90.6	86.3	92.5	93	82.5	87	83.5	90.3	91.1	82.9	86.9	80.4	89.7	83.9	111.1	88	86.4
							Af	ter cor	nversio	n to an	integr	al num	ber						
SIDC	82	91	87	85	87	88	79	86	82	77	84	82	86	72	89	78	84**	86	86
							SIC	C valu	ies in t	he CVB	Feed	Table 2	2021						
SIDC	86	94	88	86	87	89	86	79	83	76	85	82	87	72	92	84	88	89	78

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: SIDC-PRO is the average SIDC of the other 17 AA.
3.16 Lentils

In the literature 4 observations with lentils were found, 2 with lentils, untreated and 2 with lentils heat treated. As the lentils in the current CVB Feed Table are lentils, untreated the proposal for a new SIDC evaluation of lentils is based on the 2 untreated lentils only. For these two observations the crude protein content was 274 and 265 g/kg DM for observation 1 and 2, respectively.

Table 3.16.1. Amino acid pattern of the two observations for grass meal in g/16g N. In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern ((g/16g	N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Observation 1	7.3	2.3	3.9	7.0	6.4	0.7	4.7	3.4	0.7	4.4	4.5	10.7	1.1	14.5	3.9	4.4	4.4	3.1
Observation 2	7.2	2.4	4.4	7.1	6.9	0.8	4.9	3.5	0.6	4.9	4.1	10.8	1.1	15.3	4.0	3.6	3.9	2.9
CVB Feed Table	2021																	
Average	8.4	2.7	3.7	6.8	7.6	0.9	4.6	3.3	0.9	4.1	4.7	10.7	0.9	15.3	4.2	4.0	4.3	2.8
STDEV	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 3.16.2. Standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for two observations of lentils, untreated. The SIDC's of lentils, untreated in the CVB Feed Table 2021 are shown as a reference.

Item									S	SIDC (%	%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Observation 1		86.7	86.5	80.9	80.0	80.7	87.6	81.8	80.5	72.9	76.7	78.7	72.6	76.4	77.6	71.6		80.5	75.4
Observation 2	80.3	30.3 86.2 79.7 77.8 79.0 80.6 75.6 78.7 79.0 86.4 77.3 77.5 81.3 71.7 82.2 79.2 80.6 80.3 86.4 83.1 79.4 79.5 80.6 81.6 80.2 79.8 79.6 77.0 78.1 76.9 74.1 79.9 75.4 80.6														80.2			
Average	80.3	30.3 86.2 79.7 77.8 79.0 80.6 77.3 77.5 81.3 71.7 82.2 79.2 80.6 80.3 86.4 83.1 79.4 79.5 80.6 81.6 80.2 79.8 79.6 77.0 78.1 76.9 74.1 79.9 75.4 80.6														77.8			
STDEV		0.35	4.81	2.19	0.71	0.07	8.49	2.19	1.06	9.55	0.42	0.85	6.15	3.32	3.25	5.37		0.07	3.39
			Prop	osed	SIDC f	or lent	tils in f	uture	CVB F	eed Ta	ble aft	ter cor	versio	on to a	n integ	gral nu	mber		
SIDC	80	86	83	79	80	81	82	80	80	80	77	78	77	74	80	75	79*	81	78
							SID	C value	es in tl	ne CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	77	86	79	77	76	79	71	75	73	68	75	73	79	66	82	75	84	78	77
SIDC SIDC	80 77	86 86	83 79	79 77	80 76	81 79	82 SID 71	80 C valu 75	80 es in tl 73	80 n e CVE 68	77 8 Feed 75	78 Table 73	77 2021 79	74 66	80 82	75 75	79* 84	81 78	

*: SIDC-PRO is the average SIDC of the other 17 AA.

3.17 Linseed expeller

From the literature initially 13 observations from 3 studies for linseed expeller were collected. In one study 10 batches of linseed expeller were tested. The average SIDC of all AA (except PRO) for these 10 observations is 82.6. For the three remaining observations (from 2 studies) the figure is 71.8%. To prevent that the study with 10 observations would dominate the new SIDC proposal too much it was decided to reduce the number of observations from this study to 3, by taking the average values for the observations 1-3, 4-7 and 8-10. By doing this the number of observations was reduced to 6 in total. The average crude protein content of this dataset was 355 ± 27.5 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 319 and 394 g/kg DM, respectively.

	vuluo i	oponioc	<u>, (g/ 109</u>								000 10		<u>- 1 10 gri</u>			100.		
Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g I	N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	5	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6
Average **	8.7	2.5	3.7	6.0	3.8	1.7	4.4	3.4	1.9	4.5	4.6	9.0	1.6	17.9	5.6	3.9	4.6	2.2
STDEV	0.70	0.20	0.35	0.58	0.40	0.31	0.45	0.91	1.25	0.33	0.44	0.77	0.18	1.49	0.18	0.14	0.57	0.41
Min	7.9	2.2	3.3	5.3	3.4	1.0	3.6	1.5	1.2	4.2	3.9	8.3	1.2	16.4	5.5	3.7	4.3	1.8
Max	9.5	2.7	4.3	7.1	4.5	1.9	4.8	3.8	4.1	5.0	5.3	10.4	1.7	19.6	6.0	4.1	5.7	2.8
CVB Feed Ta	able 20	21																
Average	8.9	2.2	4.0	5.9	3.7	1.9	4.6	3.6	1.6	4.9	4.5	9.1	1.8	18.8	5.7	3.9	4.5	2.5
STDEV	0.7	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.7	0.2	1.5	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4

 Table 3.17.1.
 Amino acid pattern of all observations for linseed expeller: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference. *

*: There were no outliers for the AA pattern. *: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.17.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for linseed expeller: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of linseed expeller in the CVB Table 2021 is shown as a reference.

Item									Ş	SIDC (%	%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	5	6	6	6	6	6	6	3	6	6
Average SIDC	75.0 87.8 75.0 79.4 78.9 71.4 79.3 80.5 72.5 79.3 77.4 74.4 78.1 69.8 82.5 72.3 81.8 77.3 4.82 5.68 9.29 7.01 8.10 9.00 16.34 9.07 6.09 7.79 7.26 8.94 6.71 12.64 6.72 4.22 15.19 3.93														77.4				
STDEV *	4.82	75.0 87.8 75.0 79.4 78.9 71.4 79.3 80.5 72.5 79.3 77.4 74.4 78.1 69.8 82.5 72.3 81.8 77.3 4.82 5.68 9.29 7.01 8.10 9.00 16.34 9.07 6.09 7.79 7.26 8.94 6.71 12.64 6.72 4.22 15.19 3.93 4.82 5.68 9.29 7.01 8.10 9.00 16.34 9.07 6.09 7.79 7.26 8.94 6.71 12.64 6.72 4.22 15.19 3.93 4.82 5.68 9.29 7.01 8.10 9.07 6.09 7.79 7.26 8.94 6.71 12.64 6.72 4.22 15.19 3.93 4.82 5.68 9.29 7.01 8.10 9.07 6.09 7.79 7.26 8.94 6.71 12.64 6.72 4.22 15.19 3.93 4.82 5.68 9.29 5.74 5.74 5.74 5.74 5.74 5.74 5.74														7.19			
Min	69.3	79.1	60.9	69.5	67.0	57.4	50.7	68.0	61.2	70.5	68.3	57.9	66.7	50.3	73.2	67.5	65.2	71.2	65.2
Мах	80.5	93.2	82.9	85.4	86.2	79.5	92.4	88.4	78.0	87.9	84.0	81.3	84.1	81.1	88.2	78.8	95.0	80.6	83.5
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nur	nber						
SIDC	75	88	75	79	79	71	79	81	73	79	77	74	78	70	83	72	77 **	77	77
							SID	C valu	es in t	he CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	75	75	75	75	75	82	85	75	80	85	75	75	75	85	75	75	75	75	75

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

For linseed, full fat there was 1 observation with very low SIDC's. For linseed, full fat that is sufficiently grinded/milled the SIDC's of linseed expeller are proposed.

3.18 Linseed meal, solvent extracted

The SIDC evaluation of linseed meal, solvent extracted is based on an initial dataset with 5 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 362 ± 46.9 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 317 and 421 g/kg DM, respectively.

r			3 3	/								- 0 -			-			
Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)							
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	4	5	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
Average **	8.6	2.0	3.9	5.8	3.5	1.7	4.4	3.4	1.6	3.9	4.6	8.6	1.7	18.9	5.6	4.2	4.5	2.1
STDEV	1.15	0.21	0.46	0.46	0.24	0.45	0.29	0.08	0.18	1.37	0.04	0.34	0.43	1.06	0.33	1.28	0.50	0.26
Min	7.6	1.9	3.1	5.3	3.2	0.9	4.0	3.3	1.5	1.6	4.5	8.5	1.1	17.4	5.1	2.8	3.9	1.9
Мах	10.3	2.3	4.3	6.2	3.9	2.0	4.8	3.5	1.9	5.0	4.6	9.2	2.0	19.5	5.7	5.3	5.1	2.5
CVB Feed Tal	ble 2021																	
Average	8.9	2.2	4.0	5.9	3.7	1.9	4.6	3.6	1.6	4.9	4.5	9.1	1.8	18.8	5.7	3.9	4.5	2.5
STDEV	0.7	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.7	0.2	1.5	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4

 Table 3.18.1.
 Amino acid pattern of all observations for linseed meal, solvent extracted: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference. *

*: There were no outliers for the AA pattern. **: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.18.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for linseed meal, after removal of the outliers:

 number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of linseed meal in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is

 mentioned as a reference. *

Item										SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	2	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	4	5	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
Average SIDC	72.3	80.7	73.4	72.9	73.5	65.7	75.0	75.0	66.6	79.9	69.6	67.1	70.4	68.5	78.6	77.0	110.5	74.4	72.6
STDEV **	5.37	7.06	7.17	8.43	6.66	9.22	7.03	4.61	4.68	6.82	5.41	7.80	4.75	10.20	3.95	7.82	10.13	3.29	2.84
Min	68.5	70.8	65.7	64.8	66.7	49.5	64.5	68.5	60.2	70.1	65.2	60.5	64.8	55.2	73.0	65.7	97.8	70.2	70.3
Max	76.1	87.3	82.0	84.6	82.0	72.3	83.4	80.4	72.5	85.9	78.3	78.3	76.4	76.7	81.4	83.8	121.5	78.0	76.5
							Α	fter co	nversio	n to an	integra	al numl	ber						
SIDC	72	81	73	73	74	66	75	75	67	80	70	67	70	69	79	77	73 ***	74	73
							SI	DC valu	ues in t	he CVB	Feed	Table 2	021						
SIDC	75	75	75	75	75	82	85	75	80	85	75	75	75	85	75	75	75	75	75

*: There were no outliers for the SIDC values. **: STDEV > 7% are marked red. ***: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.19 Lucerne (alfalfa) meal

In this project 3 new observations were found in the literature for lucerne meal, all published after 1996.

In the ILOB-TNO report (1996) quite a large number of data is reported for lucerne/alfalfa: up to 9 observations for the level and digestibility for CP and 5 amino acids, 8 for 1 amino acid, 7 for 2 amino acids and 3 for the remaining 10 amino acids and CP. Unfortunately, we could not trace back the publication(s) that were used in that study.

As the new information is restricted to only 3 observations it was decided to create the following data from the ILOB-TNO data: a) the average values for CP and SIDC's for CP and AA; b) the average - 1*STDEV for CP-level and SIDC's of CP and AA and c) the average + 1*STDEV for CP-level and SIDC's of CP and AA. For the AA pattern we used the published pattern in all cases.

This resulted in a total of 6 observations with an average crude protein content was 183 ± 52 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 98 and 253 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.19.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for lucerne meal, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	4	6	5	5	6	5	5	5	5	5
Average *	3.2	2.2	3.9	5.6	4.3	1.4	4.2	4.1	1.4	4.2	4.1	9.2	1.4	9.7	4.6	4.8	4.1	2.9
STDEV	0.86	0.55	1.04	0.40	0.23	0.27	1.40	0.33	0.38	0.46	0.32	2.73	0.76	0.99	1.99	1.62	0.54	1.00
Min	1.6	1.5	1.8	5.2	3.8	0.8	3.4	3.6	0.8	4.0	4.0	5.1	0.8	8.2	3.6	3.7	3.7	2.2
Max	4.2	3.2	4.5	6.4	4.5	1.6	6.9	4.4	1.6	5.1	4.7	12.8	2.9	10.4	8.2	7.7	4.8	4.5
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	4.1	2.0	4.0	6.9	4.3	1.5	4.6	4.0	1.4	5.1	5.1	11.1	1.0	9.6	4.7	4.8	4.2	3.1
STDEV	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.7	0.1	0.8	0.3	0.6	0.2	0.3

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.19.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for lucerne meal, after removal of the
outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of lucerne meal in the
CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									S	IDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	4	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	4	6	4	4	6	5	5	4	5	5
Average	49.8	76.2	65.3	64.2	69.1	53.8	63.3	71.1	54.4	56.6	67.0	67.1	74.3	34.1	44.2	56.3	62.0	55.1	74.7
STDEV *	13.21	3.21 14.19 15.02 13.31 13.48 23.23 17.15 14.53 10.85 7.75 15.70 16.30 12.78 19.06 25.67 21.88 16.53 31.23 15 4.4 59.0 49.4 51.8 53.0 24.3 39.0 48.0 41.0 46.9 52.0 53.4 64.2 7.1 13.3 32.1 40.6 12.5 5															15.37		
Min	34.4	.2114.1915.0213.3113.4823.2317.1514.5310.857.7515.7016.3012.7819.0625.6721.8816.5331.2315.754.459.049.451.853.024.339.048.041.046.952.053.464.27.113.332.140.612.55															51.7		
Max	66.6	99.0	85.2	81.7	90.3	80.8	84.8	88.8	68.1	64.3	89.6	88.6	91.0	61.0	76.7	88.6	80.4	94.9	93.3
							Aft	er conv	version	to an	integr	al num	ber						
SIDC	50	76	65	64	69	54	63	71	54	57	67	67	74	34	44	56	62 **	55	75
							SID	C value	es in th	e CVB	Feed	Table 2	2021						
SIDC	45	73	54	62	62	46	72	65	55	54	58	59	68	9	57	51	73	58	58
	10/			-						6.41	41								

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

The SIDC evaluation of CP and AA will be used for all four qualities of lucerne meal that are published in the CVB Feed Table

3.20 Lupins

This SIDC evaluation is based on an initial dataset with 29 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 335.1 + 95.9 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 156 and 476 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.20.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for lupins, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content
and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a
reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)							
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	25.0	28.0	27.0	28.0	27.0	27.0	26.0	27.0	14.0	28.0	17.0	17.0	22.0	18.0	18.0	17.0	17.0	16.0
Average *	10.1	2.7	4.1	7.1	4.8	0.7	4.1	3.4	0.8	4.0	3.4	9.2	1.6	22.3	4.3	4.7	4.7	3.3
STDEV	1.4	0.3	0.4	0.7	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.3	1.2	0.5	2.5	0.4	1.1	0.4	0.8
Min	7.6	2.2	3.4	4.6	4.3	0.5	3.5	2.9	0.7	3.2	3.0	6.9	0.8	16.3	3.6	3.5	4.1	2.2
Max	12.9	3.5	4.9	8.0	5.8	1.1	4.8	3.9	1.0	4.8	3.9	11.4	2.3	24.8	5.0	6.5	5.6	4.7
CVB Feed T	able 202	21																
Average	10.7	2.5	4.1	7.0	4.8	0.7	3.9	3.5	0.8	3.9	3.4	10.1	1.5	20.9	4.1	4.1	4.9	4.0
STDEV	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.2	1.4	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.5

*: Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.20.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for lupins, after removal of the outliers:
number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of lupin in the CVB Feed Table
2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item										SIDC (%	%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	21	20	24	24	24	24	20	24	24	14	24	14	14	21	14	14	13	14	12
Average SIDC	87.6	93.9	87.8	86.1	85.6	86.0	82.3	83.8	82.6	82.4	82.0	82.0	86.9	87.7	89.6	86.6	104.7	86.7	84.9
STDEV **	3.1	87.0 93.9 87.8 80.1 85.0 80.0 82.3 83.8 82.0 82.0 86.9 87.7 89.6 80.6 104.7 80.7 80.7 3.1 1.8 3.8 4.6 4.0 3.5 7.0 5.6 4.4 6.0 4.8 6.1 3.4 7.1 6.0 7.5 21.1 6.3 90.9 90.9 77.4 75.5 70.7 74.4 76.9 74.9 74.2 69.9 80.9 74.8 73.7 93.9 73.7 73.7														5.0			
Min	80.8	90.0	77.1	75.5	73.7	78.7	71.0	71.4	76.0	74.9	71.3	68.3	80.9	76.8	74.8	72.7	83.9	72.5	76.1
Max	93.9	97.2	94.0	92.0	91.0	92.3	98.2	92.2	91.4	92.9	89.8	90.7	92.7	101.0	96.1	102.6	143.3	97.6	92.3
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nur	nber						
SIDC	88	94	88	86	86	86	82	84	83	82	82	82	87	88	90	87	86***	87	88
							SID	C valu	es in t	he CVE	8 Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	87	95	89	86	86	88	82	87	86	87	86	81	87	87	92	88	94	89	89

*: The new SIDC evaluation of CP and AA will be used also for both qualities of lupins that are published in the CVB Feed Table.

: STDEV > 7% are marked red. *: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.21 Maize (corn) and maize, heat treated

This SIDC evaluation is based on an initial dataset with 77 observations for maize (not heat treated), in which the average crude protein content was 94.3 ± 11.6 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 66 and 129 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.21.1.Amino acid pattern of the dataset of maize, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average value (g/16g N) and
STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The amino acid pattern in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	j/16g N)							
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	75	74	76	77	77	75	73	74	49	77	68	68	63	69	69	55	64	68
Average *	4.6	2.8	3.4	12.2	3.1	2.1	4.8	3.5	0.7	4.7	7.0	6.7	2.4	17.7	3.8	8.6	4.5	3.4
STDEV	0.5	0.2	0.3	0.9	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.8	0.5	0.3	1.7	0.4	0.8	0.4	0.4
CVB Feed T	able 20)21																
Average	4.7	3.0	3.4	12.1	2.9	2.1	4.8	3.6	0.7	4.8	7.5	6.7	2.2	18.1	3.9	8.9	4.8	3.7
STDEV	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.7	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.2	1.0	0.3	0.7	0.2	0.4

*: When there are averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the average value in the current CVB Feed Table they are marked red.

Table 3.21.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids in maize, after removal of the outliers:
number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of maize in the CVB Feed Table
2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									9	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	63	76	73	76	77	75	72	74	76	55	76	66	68	65	64	60	55	67	57
Average SIDC	84.3	90.4	85.1	82.7	88.1	75.7	88.3	86.2	78.4	79.4	82.4	84.6	81.3	83.4	86.5	80.9	96.1	84.0	84.2
STDEV	8.0	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$														5.0			
Min	71.2	76.7	78.7	73.4	80.5	59.6	78.5	76.7	66.4	60.9	69.2	73.4	70.7	72.4	75.0	53.5	47.2	71.3	73.9
Max	101.9	103.9	94.9	95.2	94.7	97.9	96.4	96.1	95.1	101.2	95.6	96.3	94.9	94.3	96.9	111.2	161.1	96.5	96.0
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integr	ral nur	nber						
SIDC	84	90	85	83	88	76	88	86	78	79	82	85	81	83	86	81	84 *	84	84
							SID	C value	es in tl	he CVB	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	82	88	86	86	89	75	87	87	79	76	86	87	82	81	89	79	85	88	86

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

The new SIDC evaluation of CP and AA for maize will be used also for maize, heat-treated as only limited information was available on heat treated maize.

3.22 Maize germs and maize germs meal.

This SIDC evaluation maize germs and maize germs meal is based on an initial dataset with 16 observations. The average crude protein content of the 2 observations for maize germs was 167 + 21.1 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 152 and 182 g/kg DM, respectively. The average crude protein content of the 14 observations for maize germs meal was 215 + 23.8 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 184 and 277 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.22.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for maize germs and maize germs meal, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	16	15	15	16	16	15	16	15	15	16	15	15	14	13	13	15	14	14
Average *	6.3	3.5	3.7	9.0	4.6	1.9	4.9	4.2	0.9	6.0	7.2	7.2	2.0	13.9	5.6	6.4	4.6	2.4
STDEV	0.78	0.33	0.23	0.84	0.55	0.15	0.47	0.29	0.11	0.50	1.04	0.44	0.30	1.07	0.16	1.22	0.37	0.43
Min	4.7	2.9	3.2	7.5	3.8	1.6	4.1	3.6	0.7	5.0	5.3	6.4	1.3	11.5	5.4	4.4	3.9	1.6
Max	7.7	4.0	4.2	10.2	5.6	2.1	5.5	4.6	1.1	6.8	8.6	8.0	2.4	15.2	5.8	8.2	5.2	3.2
CVB Feed 1	Table 20	21																
Average	5.0	2.9	3.5	11.1	3.2	2.1	4.7	3.7	0.7	5.1	7.3	7.0	2.2	17.6	4.2	8.4	4.8	3.6
STDEV	0.9	0.2	0.3	2.0	0.6	0.3	0.6	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.8	0.6	0.2	2.5	0.6	1.2	0.4	0.4

Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for maize germs and maize germs meal, Table 3.22.2. after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of maize germs and maize germs meal in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item										SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	12	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	13	13	13	13	13	12	13	13
Average SIDC	62.4	85.8	76.1	70.0	77.2	63.4	74.7	75.6	63.5	63.7	72.5	70.4	62.1	68.1	72.0	66.3	94.7	69.5	65.8
STDEV **	5.59	5.59 3.76 4.95 6.29 6.05 5.13 3.74 5.23 8.29 11.37 5.83 5.67 6.45 5.67 4.28 9.20 19.26 4.51 56.0 81.0 65.1 57.0 66.1 58.0 67.7 64.0 51.7 49.4 62.0 61.6 54.9 57.5 66.2 52.4 48.3 64.4															7.51		
Min	56.0	5.59 3.76 4.93 6.29 6.05 5.13 3.74 5.23 6.29 11.37 5.63 5.67 6.43 5.67 4.26 9.20 19.26 4.51 7 56.0 81.0 65.1 57.0 66.1 58.0 67.7 64.0 51.7 49.4 62.0 61.6 54.9 57.5 66.2 52.4 48.3 64.4 5 50.0 81.0 65.1 57.0 66.1 58.0 67.7 64.0 51.7 49.4 62.0 61.6 54.9 57.5 66.2 52.4 48.3 64.4 5 50.0 81.0 65.1 57.0 66.1 58.0 67.7 64.0 51.7 49.4 62.0 61.6 54.9 57.5 66.2 52.4 48.3 64.4 5															58.8		
Max	72.2	56.0 81.0 65.1 57.0 66.1 58.0 67.7 64.0 51.7 49.4 62.0 61.6 54.9 57.5 66.2 52.4 48.3 64.4 72.2 93.2 85.8 79.6 86.8 75.9 80.8 82.4 78.1 81.4 79.7 80.4 76.0 77.5 79.6 84.3 117.5 78.7															79.4		
							Af	ter cor	nversio	n to an	integr	al num	nber						
SIDC	62	86	76	70	77	63	75	76	64	64	73	70	62	68	72	66	70***	70	66
					-		SIC	C valu	ies in t	he CVE	Feed	Table 2	2021	-					
SIDC	65	80	74	71	74	59	79	78	66	62	69	65	65	63	65	65	65	65	79
*: This new SIDC evalu	lation of C	P/AA will	be used	also for n	naize der	ms expel	lers	**: S	$\overline{\text{TDFV}} > 7$	% are ma	rked red.	**	*: SIDC o	of PRO =	average S	SIDC of th	e remainin	a 17 AA	•

*: This new SIDC evaluation of CP/AA will be used also for maize germs expellers

***: SIDC of PRO = average SIDC of the remaining 17 AA.

3.23 Maize gluten feed

The SIDC evaluation of maize gluten feed is based on an initial dataset with 11 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 234 <u>+</u> 23.7 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 199 and 277 g/kg DM, respectively.

		io givoi	1 40 4 1		0.													
Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	9	10	10	10	10	10	10	9	10	10	10	10	9	9	10	3	9	10
Average *	4.8	2.8	3.1	8.4	3.3	1.6	3.6	3.4	0.6	4.5	6.5	5.7	1.9	13.9	4.2	7.8	4.1	2.5
STDEV	0.50	0.21	0.21	1.05	0.58	0.22	0.35	0.18	0.23	0.31	0.74	0.67	0.32	1.01	0.32	0.78	0.17	0.39
Min	4.1	2.6	2.8	6.8	2.4	1.2	3.2	3.1	0.2	4.1	5.1	4.8	1.5	11.7	3.7	7.0	3.9	2.2
Max	5.6	3.2	3.4	10.4	4.4	1.9	4.3	3.7	1.0	4.9	7.5	6.5	2.6	15.0	4.7	8.6	4.4	3.4
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	4.4	3.0	3.1	9.0	3.0	1.7	3.8	3.6	0.6	4.7	6.7	6.1	2.1	15.4	4.5	8.3	4.3	3.0
STDEV	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.1	0.7	0.7	0.5	0.3	0.3

 Table 3.23.1.
 Amino acid pattern of all observations for maize gluten feed, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

*: Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.23.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for maize gluten feed, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of maize gluten feed in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item									ę	SIDC (%	%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	10	10	10	10	10	9	10	10	10	9	9	10	10	10	9	10	2	10	9
Average SIDC	69.3	86.3	75.2	76.5	82.9	63.5	83.7	82.6	70.4	67.3	72.8	79.6	69.6	66.6	77.9	65.3	88.0	76.8	82.6
STDEV **	5.48	2.80	5.03	2.49	3.07	3.34	3.71	2.32	2.90	8.76	2.14	3.53	3.06	4.35	1.79	6.29	0.91	2.43	1.93
Min	61.8	82.5	69.6	73.2	78.6	57.7	78.3	79.6	66.7	59.2	69.5	75.0	65.7	60.4	75.8	57.4	87.3	73.9	79.6
Max	77.4	90.6	84.3	80.1	87.8	68.8	89.0	85.9	75.2	87.5	75.7	85.8	74.6	71.6	80.8	76.2	88.6	80.5	85.9
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nur	nber						
SIDC	69	86	75	77	83	64	84	83	70	67	73	80	70	67	78	65	88 ***	77	83
							SID	C valu	es in t	he CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	70	85	76	80	85	65	81	84	72	66	77	84	72	59	82	62	78	76	84

*: This evaluation will be used for all 3 qualities of maize gluten feed in the CVB Feed Table. **: STDEV > 7% are marked red. ***: SIDC of PRO is the average SIDC of the remaining 17 AA is used.

3.24 Maize gluten meal

The SIDC evaluation of maize gluten meal is based on an initial dataset with 25 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 631 <u>+</u> 71.9 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 498 and 728 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.24.1.	Amino acid pattern of all observations for maize gluten meal, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations,
	average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table
	2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N	I)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	24	22	23	24	23	22	24	24	23	23	22	22	21	21	22	20	21	21
Average *	2.9	1.9	3.7	15.9	1.6	2.4	5.9	3.2	0.4	4.2	8.0	5.5	1.9	19.1	2.3	8.7	4.5	4.5
STDEV	0.38	0.24	0.30	0.98	0.20	0.19	0.38	0.24	0.05	0.31	0.53	0.45	0.14	1.82	0.34	0.46	0.21	0.43
Min	2.5	1.6	3.4	14.7	1.4	2.1	5.5	2.9	0.3	3.7	7.5	5.0	1.7	17.5	1.8	7.9	4.0	4.1
Max	3.7	2.7	4.4	18.3	2.1	2.9	6.7	3.7	0.5	4.9	9.3	6.4	2.3	23.9	3.0	9.8	5.1	5.4
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	3.0	2.1	4.1	16.6	1.7	2.4	6.3	3.4	0.5	4.7	8.9	6.3	1.8	21.6	2.7	9.4	5.3	5.2
STDEV	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.7	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.1	1.1	0.2	0.5	0.2	0.4

*: Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.24.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for maize gluten meal, after removal of
the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of maize gluten meal
in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									Ş	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	19	23	23	23	23	21	23	23	23	22	23	22	21	21	22	21	21	21	20
Average SIDC	87.9	90.3	89.5	90.7	93.8	84.3	94	92.7	86	73.5	89.5	91.0	87.7	86.5	92.1	76.9	80.2	91.2	93.6
STDEV *	2.47	2.32	3.53	2.52	2.69	2.78	2.89	2.95	2.85	9.11	2.55	2.99	2.26	2.80	2.83	7.23	8.39	1.95	2.55
Min	83.9	86.6	82.8	86.4	89.2	78.7	88.9	88.5	79.6	62.4	84.9	85.4	83.2	81	87.6	65.8	65.7	87.7	89.4
Max	93.6	94.3	94.6	95.3	97.8	89.3	98.7	96.9	92.9	91.8	94.7	95.8	91.7	92	96.5	87.8	97.2	95.2	98.1
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nur	nber						
SIDC	88	90	90	91	94	84	94	93	86	74	90	91	88	87	92	77	88 **	91	94
							SID	C valu	es in tl	he CVE	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	90	93	86	89	91	87	97	91	90	86	88	89	94	88	88	75	89	98	93

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the remaining 17 AA is used.

3.25 Malt culms

In the literature 1 observation was found for malt culms with a crude protein content of 305 g/kg DM.

Table 3.25.1. Amino acid pattern of the single observation for malt culms in g/16g N. In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g	N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Observation	4.9	1.8	3.0	5.0	4.6	1.3	2.8	3.3		4.3	4.2	10.6	1.1	9.6	3.7	4.4	3.0	1.9
CVB Feed Table 2	2021																	
Average	4.4	1.7	3.0	5.6	4.2	1.5	3.3	3.2	1.0	4.4	4.7	9.9	1.2	11.3	4.0	5.7	3.3	2.2
STDEV	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.2	-	0.4	0.3	0.9	0.2	0.8	0.2	1.1	0.3	0.2

*: When the AA level deviates more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.25.2.Standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for the single observation of malt culms. The SIDC's of
malt culms in the CVB Feed Table 2021 are shown as a reference. In the last line the proposal for the SIDC's in the future CVB
Feed Table is given.

					SID	C (%) o	f the si	ngle ob	servatio	on avail	able for	r malt c	ulms					
СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
30	71	58	63	58	61	73	54	49		59	53	74	30	65	37	66	46	18
	30 71 30 63 30 61 73 34 49 39 53 74 30 65 37 66 46 18 Proposal of SIDC values for the future CVB Feed Table																	
66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66	66
						S	IDC val	ues in t	he CVB	Feed T	able 20)21						
77	81	80	79	79	73	79	81	77	74	78	70	73	77	86	75	89	82	80

The new SIDC evaluation is substantial lower than the current valuation in the CVB Feed Table 2021.

Further. it was observed that the SIDC values found in the single observation for malt culms in the CVB database (Brestensky et al. (2013) are also the basis for the SIDC-AA values for pigs included in the French Feed Tables (<u>https://www.feedtables.com/content/barley-rootlets-dried</u>). The values are exactly the same.

However, the ileal digestibility of CP and AA reported by Bretensky et al (2013) is considered too low for a feedstuff like malt culms. Therefore, it is proposed to use the average of the average SIDC of the observation of Bretensky et al (2013) (53.6%) and the current SIDC evaluation (78.4%) (being (53.6 + 78.4)/2 = 66% for CP and all AA.

3.26 Milk powder, skimmed

The SIDC evaluation of milk powder, skimmed is based on an initial dataset with 5 observations (4 milk powder, skimmed and 1 milk protein concentrate), in which the average crude protein content of the skimmed milk powder was 382 ± 25.8 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 356 and 417 g/kg DM, respectively. The protein content of the observation for milk protein concentrate was 732 g/kg DM.

	2021	is giver	1 as a 10	elerenc	е.													
Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	2	5	5	5	4	5	5	5	5	5
Average *	3.7	3.0	5.1	9.5	8.0	2.5	4.7	4.3	1.5	6.3	3.2	7.6	0.7	21.3	1.9	9.4	5.3	4.7
STDEV	0.36	0.18	0.53	0.99	0.37	0.16	0.47	0.16	0.05	0.49	0.20	0.22	0.04	1.00	0.12	0.56	0.22	0.48
Min	3.4	2.8	4.3	7.8	7.5	2.3	3.9	4.0	1.5	5.5	3.0	7.2	0.7	19.6	1.7	8.4	5.1	4.0
Max	4.3	3.2	5.7	10.2	8.4	2.7	5.0	4.4	1.6	6.8	3.5	7.8	0.8	22.2	2.0	9.8	5.7	5.2
CVB Feed 1	able 20)21																
Average	3.5	2.8	5.2	9.7	7.8	2.7	4.8	4.4	1.3	6.3	3.3	8.0	0.8	20.8	2.0	9.8	5.6	4.5
STDEV	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.7	0.1	0.6	0.2	0.6

 Table 3.26.1.
 Amino acid pattern of all observations for milk powder, skimmed, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.26.2. New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for milk powder, skimmed, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of milk powder, skimmed in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item									9	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	2	4	4	4	4	5	4	4	4	2	4	3	4	4	4	4	2	4	4
Average SIDC	92.8	98.2	94.8	89.5	96.2	95.9	96.7	95.2	92.7	94.0	91.1	92.0	92.7	84.8	90.4	105.8	111.9	82.7	93.9
STDEV *	1.49	1.49 3.24 4.37 2.34 1.70 0.92 0.60 2.54 0.89 4.24 1.96 3.62 3.70 8.84 2.67 8.63 0.13 3.63 5 91.8 94.1 89.1 88.0 94.0 95.0 96.0 92.2 91.4 91.0 89.8 89.0 88.0 73.0 87.5 96.0 111.8 80.0 8															5.60		
Min	91.8	94.1	89.1	88.0	94.0	95.0	96.0	92.2	91.4	91.0	89.8	89.0	88.0	73.0	87.5	96.0	111.8	80.0	85.7
Max	93.9	102.0	99.0	93.0	98.0	97.0	97.4	97.6	93.5	97.0	94.0	96.0	97.0	94.4	94.0	117.0	112.0	88.0	98.0
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nur	nber						
SIDC	93	98	95	90	96	96	97	95	93	94	91	92	93	85	90	93	93 ***	83	94
							SID	C valu	es in tl	he CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	91	97	96	89	96	97	97	97	93	91	90	89	93	91	88	95	99	81	97

*: This evaluation will be used also for milk powder, whole. **: STDEV > 7% are marked red. ***: For the SIDC of GLY and PRO the average SIDC of the remaining 16 AA is used.

The SIDC evaluation of milk powder, skimmed will be used also for milk powder, whole.

3.27 Millet and Pearl millet

The SIDC evaluation of millet and pearl millet is based on an initial dataset with 3 observations (1 millet and 2 pearl millet), in which the average crude protein content was 158 + 29.7 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 128 and 187 g/kg DM, respectively.

					3 /													
Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	3	1	3	2	2	2	2	2	0	2	3
Average	4.3	2.1	4.7	9.7	3.0	2.0	4.2	3.5	0.5	5.1	7.1	7.0	2.0	17.8	2.5		4.1	2.5
STDEV	1.02	0.48	1.33	1.00	0.51	0.24	1.08	0.53	0.00	0.77	0.90	0.62	0.08	1.07	0.03		0.43	1.11
Min	3.3	1.6	3.5	8.8	2.5	1.9	3.2	3.2	0.5	4.7	6.4	6.5	1.9	17.0	2.5		3.8	1.3
Max	5.3	2.5	6.1	10.7	3.5	2.2	5.3	4.2	0.5	6.0	7.7	7.4	2.0	18.5	2.6		4.5	3.5
CVB Feed T	able 20)21																
Average	3.7	2.1	3.7	11.5	1.8	2.7	5.3	3.0	1.2	5.0	10.1	6.4	1.8	21.1	2.5	6.6	5.9	3.7
STDEV	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

 Table 3.27.1.
 Amino acid pattern of all observations for millet and pearl millet: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference. *

*: No outliers were identified in this small dataset.

Table 3.27.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for millet and pearl millet, after
removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of millet
and pearl millet in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									ç	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	3	1	3	2	2	2	2	2	0	2	2
Average SIDC	85.4	88.7	91.1	87.9	91.5	80.3	81.5	89.5	83.9	95.7	87.5	91.0	88.9	87.2	92.2	90.1		91.2	86.1
STDEV *	5.14	5.33	1.85	3.65	0.81	3.45	9.58	3.62	3.50		3.51	0.97	4.61	0.44	0.21	2.83		2.93	1.27
Min	79.6	83.1	89.2	83.9	90.6	76.7	74.7	85.4	80.0		84.6	90.3	85.6	86.9	92.0	88.1		89.1	85.2
Max	89.5	93.7	92.9	91.0	92.0	83.6	88.3	92.1	86.7		91.4	91.7	92.2	87.5	92.3	92.1		93.3	87.0
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nun	nber						
SIDC	85	89	91	88	92	80	82	90	84	88 **	88	91	89	87	92	90	88 **	91	86
							SID	C valu	es in tl	he CVE	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	85	87	90	89	90	85	82	91	85	98	87	90	85	75	93	83	95	90	85

*: When STDEV's are > 7%, they are marked red. **: For the SIDC of TRP and PRO the average SIDC of the other 16 AA is used.

3.28 Oats and oats, peeled

3.28.1 Oats

For oats only one observation was found in the literature. This observation mentioned only ileal digestibility's of CP and 4 amino acids (LYS, MET, THR and CYS). This observation is of no value for an update of the current SIDC evaluation. Therefore, it is proposed to maintain the current evaluation, except for SIDC-PRO for which AA the average SIDC of the remaining AA is used. This implied that the SIDC of PRO decreased from 85% to 81% (see Table 3.28.1).

 Table 3.28.1.
 Oats: Current SIDC evaluation as published in the CVB Feed Table (2021), except for the SIDC of PRO that now has a SIDC value equal to the average SIDC of the 17 other AA.

СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
								1	SIDC (%	6)								
76	90	88	82	84	80	84	86	75	77	82	76	76	75	84	77	81	80	85

3.28.2 Oats, dehulled / Oats, peeled / Oat groats

The SIDC evaluation of of oat groats is based on an initial dataset with 3 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 143 <u>+</u> 39.2 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 101 and 179 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.28.2.	Amino acid patte	ern of all ot	oservations for or	at groats: number	of observa	tions, average	e content and STDEV	, lowest and highest value
	reported (g/16g	N). In the la	ast two lines the	pattern from the C	VB Feed	Table 2021 is	given as a reference.	*

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	3	3	2	3	3	2	3	3
Average **	6.8	2.2	3.9	7.5	4.2	1.7	5.1	3.5	0.8	5.4	4.9	8.5	3.0	22.1	5.0	5.2	4.9	3.0
STDEV	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.8	0.1	1.7	0.2	0.8	0.7	0.8
Min	6.6	1.9	3.9	7.2	3.9	1.5	4.8	3.3	0.8	5.4	4.7	7.7	2.9	20.2	4.8	4.6	4.3	2.3
Max	7.2	2.4	4.0	7.7	4.4	1.8	5.5	3.7	0.9	5.5	5.2	9.4	3.1	23.0	5.1	5.8	5.6	3.9
CVB Feed Ta	ble 202	21																
Average	6.5	2.2	3.7	7.3	4.1	1.7	4.8	3.5	1.2	5.2	4.8	8.2	3.0	19.2	4.9	5.3	4.8	3.3
STDEV	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.3	1.5	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.3

*: No outliers removed.

**: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.28.3.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for oats groats, after removal of the
outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of oat groats in the CVB
Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									S	DC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	3	3	2	3	3	2	3	3
Average SIDC	88.4	93.5	91.9	89.5	89.8	91.5	90.7	91.8	87.1	85.1	89.3	87.1	87.1	80.8	93.4	85.0	98.2	87.1	83.6
STDEV *	5.3	3.2	3.7	2.6	3.0	8.9	1.6	2.9	5.7	4.6	4.1	5.5	3.3	4.8	1.8	3.0	29.8	2.8	11.8
Min	84.6	90.1	88.1	86.5	87.2	84.5	89.7	88.4	81.3	81.9	84.7	81.1	85.1	77.4	91.3	81.7	77.1	84.5	70.7
Max	92.1	96.3	95.5	91.2	93.2	101.5	92.5	93.5	92.6	88.3	92.6	92.0	90.9	84.2	94.9	87.4	119.3	90.1	94.0
							Afte	er conv	version	n to an	integr	al num	nber						
SIDC	88	93	92	89	90	92	91	92	87	85	89	87	87	81	93	85	89 **	87	84
		SIDC values in the CVB Feed Table 2021																	
SIDC	81	96	94	88	90	86	90	92	81	83	88	82	82	81	90	83	91	86	91
			al al al a			(~		0100										

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.29 Palm kernel expeller and meal

The SIDC evaluation of palm kernel expeller and meal is based on an initial dataset with 9 observations (5 observations for palm kernel expeller and 4 for palm kernel meal), in which the average crude protein content was 168 ± 13.1 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 155 and 187 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.29.1.	Amino acid pattern of all observations for palm kernel expeller and meal, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations,
	average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is
	given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	9	9	9	9	9	9	8	9	8	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	8	7
Average *	10.2	1.6	3.4	5.9	2.6	1.5	3.7	2.9	0.7	4.9	3.9	7.5	1.2	17.2	4.2	2.7	3.9	2.2
STDEV	1.36	0.29	0.37	0.61	0.39	0.28	0.27	0.46	0.19	0.72	0.41	1.01	0.24	1.86	0.46	0.28	0.61	0.24
Min	7.8	1.2	3.0	5.0	1.9	1.0	3.3	2.4	0.4	4.1	3.4	6.2	0.7	14.9	3.4	2.3	3.2	1.8
Max	12.3	2.0	4.1	6.9	3.1	1.8	4.1	3.5	1.0	6.1	4.5	9.2	1.6	19.8	4.9	3.1	4.9	2.5
CVB Feed 1	Table 20)21																
Average	12.0	1.7	3.3	6.3	3.0	1.9	4.1	3.1	0.8	4.8	4.0	8.3	1.5	17.9	4.6	3.4	4.2	2.6
STDEV	1.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.4	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.7	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.29.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for palm kernel expeller and meal, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of palm kernel expeller and meal in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

ltem										SIDC (%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	6	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	5	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	7
Average	68.8	83.8	72.6	72.9	75.3	59.7	77.1	77.7	67.5	76.5	73.8	68.2	61.5	60.8	73.2	56.0	5.1	73.2	70.4
STDEV **	12.32	7.18	10.97	10.52	7.33	16.24	7.61	6.79	10.61	17.02	8.89	9.36	15.56	15.89	10.42	23.70	164.89	10.09	13.69
Min	52.8	69.1	56.4	57.6	61.4	39.1	67.4	64.4	48.9	54.9	57.9	52.7	43.2	39.7	55.1	17.6	-265.0	54.6	53.6
Max	85.0	92.5	85.4	85.2	84.3	78.8	87.0	86.0	78.2	90.0	82.8	81.8	78.4	77.5	84.3	83.8	137.0	82.7	83.7
							Α	fter co	nversio	on to ar	n integ	ral nu	mber						
SIDC	69	84	73	73	75	60	77	78	68	77	74	68	62	61	73	56	71 ***	73	70
							SI	DC val	ues in t	the CVI	3 Feed	I Table	2021						
SIDC	65	65	65	65	65	65	73	65	70	58	65	65	65	66	65	65	64	65	65

*: This evaluation is used for 2 qualities palm kernel expeller, the 2 qualities palm kernel meal and palm kernels as published in the CVB Table 2021 **: STDEV > 7% are marked red. ***: SIDC of PRO = the average SIDC of the other 17 AA.

3.30 Peas

This SIDC evaluation is based on a dataset with 59 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 248.7 + 22.5 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 199 and 310 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.30.1.	Amino acid pattern of the dataset of peas, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average value (g/16g N) and
	STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The amino acid pattern in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item								Aminc	acid pa	attern (g	/16g N)							
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	56	52	62	66	63	63	64	63	42	61	55	55	62	56	55	34	54	55
Average *	8.5	2.4	4.1	7.0	7.3	1.0	4.6	3.7	0.9	4.6	4.2	11.3	1.4	17.0	4.2	4.3	4.5	2.8
STDEV	1.0	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.7	0.1	1.3	0.3	0.6	0.5	0.5
CVB Feed T	able 20)21																
Average	8.8	2.5	4.1	7.1	7.1	1.0	4.7	3.7	0.9	4.6	4.4	11.7	1.5	16.7	4.4	4.0	4.7	3.3
STDEV	0.7	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.5	0.1	0.7	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2

*: When there are averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the average value in the current CVB Feed Table they are marked red and bold.

Table 3.30.2. New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids in peas, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of peas in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									ę	SIDC (%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	53	59	56	59	59	58	56	59	57	39	57	53	55	53	53	53	32	54	49
Average SIDC	80.0	90.3	82.6	79.8	80.5	84.6	76.6	80.3	76.5	70.5	77.5	76.1	82.4	69.5	85.1	77.3	88.5	79.5	80.0
STDEV *	3.8	2.6	4.1	4.3	4.3	3.4	5.9	4.4	4.6	5.9	4.2	4.9	3.1	6.0	3.6	7.0	21.7	5.1	5.2
Min	70.5	83.4	74.9	69.8	68.8	75.0	59.7	70.8	65.6	59.3	66.5	64.2	72.6	56.5	77.3	55.7	49.3	60.1	67.3
Max	87.0	95.4	94.3	87.7	88.0	91.1	88.6	89.2	84.0	85.1	85.0	85.9	89.3	84.8	92.7	89.8	121.1	93.1	92.9
							Aft	er con	versio	n to ar	n integ	ral nui	nber						
SIDC	80	90	83	80	81	85	77	80	87	71	78	76	82	70	85	77	79 **	80	80
							SID	C valu	es in t	he CVI	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79	79

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: SIDC of PRO = the average SIDC of the other 17 AA.

3.31 Potato protein

This SIDC evaluation of potato protein is based on an initial dataset with 5 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 791 <u>+</u> 98.3 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 643 and 866 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.31.1.	Amino acid pattern of all observations for potato protein, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average
	content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is
	given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	5	5	4	5	5	4	5	5	3	4	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	0
Average *	5.5	.5 2.5 5.6 11.7 8.7 2.2 7.1 6.5 1.4 6.7 5.4 13.3 1.5 11.5 5.4 5.4 5.5 37 0.27 0.52 1.41 0.91 0.11 0.73 0.65 0.07 0.08 0.67 1.43 0.16 1.15 0.45 0.56 0.18																
STDEV	0.37	0.27	0.52	1.41	0.91	0.11	0.73	0.65	0.07	0.08	0.67	1.43	0.16	1.15	0.45	0.56	0.18	
Min	5.2	2.2	4.9	10.0	7.7	2.2	6.3	5.7	1.4	6.6	5.0	12.5	1.4	10.8	5.0	5.0	5.3	
Max	6.1	2.8	6.0	13.1	9.8	2.4	8.0	7.1	1.5	6.8	6.2	15.0	1.7	12.8	5.9	6.1	5.6	
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	5.2	2.2	5.6	10.2	7.8	2.3	6.4	5.7	1.4	6.6	4.9	12.7	1.5	10.9	4.9	4.9	5.3	5.6
STDEV	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3

*: Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.31.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for potato protein, after removal of the
outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of potato protein in the
CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item										SIDC (%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	1
Average SIDC	89.6	93.3	91	90.5	92	90.9	92.8	88.3	88.8	83.1	90.7	88.6	86.9	70.2	87.7	89.5	103.2	87.7	95.8
STDEV **	5.63	3.01	4.93	4.75	4.30	4.60	3.37	7.96	5.86	10.07	3.90	5.57	5.90	9.49	4.51	8.35	26.40	3.51	
Min	83	90	85	85	87	86	89	80	82	75	86	84	81	62	83	82	87	84	
Max	95.4	97	96	94.5	96.3	96.8	96	95.3	94.7	94.4	94.5	94.8	92.8	80.6	92	98.5	133.7	91	
							Af	ter cor	nversio	on to a	n integ	gral nu	mber						
SIDC	90	93	91	91	92	91	93	88	89	83	91	89	87	70	88	90	88 ***	88	88 ***
							SID	C valu	ues in	the CV	B Fee	d Table	e 2021						
SIDC	90	93	87	89	91	89	91	90	86	80	88	87	83	76	88	82	95	87	91

*: The evaluation is used for both qualities of potato protein published in the CVB Feed Table. **: STDEV > 7% are marked red. ***: SIDC PRO and TYR = average SIDC of the remaining 16 AA.

3.32 Rapeseed, full fat

The SIDC evaluation of rapeseed, full fat is based on an initial dataset with 2 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 235 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 207 and 263 g/kg DM, respectively.

				J /														
Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	I)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2
Average *	5.7	2.7	3.9	6.4	5.6	2.0	4.1	4.2	1.3	5.1	4.2	7.0	2.4	17.3	4.2	5.5	3.8	2.7
STDEV	5.6	2.6	3.9	6.3	5.5	1.9	3.7	3.7	1.3	4.9	4.0	6.3	2.4	15.5	3.9	5.5	3.1	2.6
Min	5.8	2.8	3.9	6.5	5.7	2.2	4.4	4.7	1.3	5.3	4.4	7.7	2.4	19.1	4.6	5.5	4.4	2.9
Max	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	6.1	2.8	3.9	7.0	5.5	2.0	4.1	4.4	1.3	5.1	4.5	7.5	2.5	16.9	5.2	6.0	4.4	3.1
STDEV	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.9	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.3

Table 3.32.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for rapeseed, full fat: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.32.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for rapeseed, full fat: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of rapeseed, full fat in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									ç	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Average SIDC	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2
Min	65.4	65.4 78.4 70.7 67.1 68.0 63.3 72.3 70.5 61.5 83.5 66.7 69.8 73.4 69.2 78.9 78.6 137.1 65.5 62.8 75.3 67.9 66.6 67.4 58.8 70.2 68.9 59.2 65.4 68.1 68.4 67.7 78.8 78.6 64.8															60.9		
Max	62.8	35.4 76.4 76.7 67.1 66.6 67.4 58.8 70.2 68.9 59.2 65.4 68.1 68.4 67.7 78.8 78.6 137.1 65.5 60.7 32.8 75.3 67.9 66.6 67.4 58.8 70.2 68.9 59.2 65.4 68.1 68.4 67.7 78.8 78.6 64.8 59															59.9		
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nun	nber						
SIDC	65	78	71	67	68	63	72	71	62	69 *	67	70	73	69	79	79	69 *	66	61
							SID	C valu	es in tl	ne CVE	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	72	84	80	74	76	73	81	77	70	71	71	75	71	70	84	73	79	76	75

*: For the SIDC of PRO and TRP the average SIDC of the other 16 AA is used.

The SIDC values of CP and AA for rapeseed, full fat, are lower than those for rapeseed expeller and rape seed meal. Possibly this is due to improper milling of the small seed.

3.33 Rapeseed / Canola seed expeller, warm and cold pressed

This SIDC evaluation of rapeseed expeller, warm and cold pressed is based on an initial dataset with 29 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 361 ± 43.4 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 269 and 447 g/kg DM, respectively. When analyzing the dataset, no significant differences were found between rapeseed expeller, warm (18 observations) and rapeseed expeller, cold pressed (11 observations). So, the combined dataset was used in the further processing. Further it was decided to remove one observation with an extremely high Crude Fat content of 339 g/kg DM.

. .

Table 3.33.1	. Amino acid pattern of all observations for rapeseed expeller, warm and cold pressed, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern:
	number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern
	from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N	I)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	27	26	26	26	26	23	25	26	19	26	20	21	20	19	21	20	21	19
Average *	5.8	2.6	3.9	6.8	5.6	1.9	3.8	4.1	1.2	4.9	4.3	7.0	2.2	15.9	4.9	5.7	4.0	2.8
STDEV	0.31	0.13	0.23	0.27	0.31	0.12	0.23	0.21	0.10	0.29	0.19	0.40	0.22	0.94	0.24	0.32	0.57	0.29
Min	5.2	2.4	3.3	6.3	5.0	1.6	3.4	3.7	1.0	4.3	3.8	6.4	1.8	13.9	4.4	5.1	3.1	2.3
Max	6.3	2.8	4.2	7.3	6.1	2.1	4.2	4.5	1.4	5.5	4.7	7.8	2.6	17.3	5.4	6.4	5.1	3.3
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	6.1	2.8	3.9	7.0	5.5	2.0	4.1	4.4	1.3	5.1	4.5	7.5	2.5	16.9	5.2	6.0	4.4	3.1
STDEV	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.9	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.3

*: Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

Further it was observed that there are significant correlations between SIDC of CP and AA and crude protein. In the Table 3.33.2 a correlation matrix is presented, showing the number of observations, correlation coefficients and the significance of the correlation.

Table 3.33.2. Correlation matrix for rapeseed expeller, warm and cold pressed showing the correlation of the standardized ileal digestible CP and Amino Acid contents (g/kg DM) to crude protein (g/kg DM): number of observations, correlation coefficient (r) and significance (p).

	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	25	28	28	28	28	28	24	28	28	21	28	22	22	22	22	22	12	22	21
Corr. Coeff. (r)	0.628	0.522	-0.105	0.601	0.567	0.034	0.478	0.571	0.347	0.058	0.577	0.388	0.471	0.446	0.515	0.311	0.300	0.574	0.449
Significance (p)	0.001	0.004	0.595	0.001	0.002	0.862	0.018	0.002	0.071	0.802	0.001	0.074	0.027	0.037	0.014	0.159	0.344	0.005	0.041

Based on the results in Table 3.3.2 prediction equations were developed by performing regression analysis with the model: SID level of CP or AA = a*Crude Protein + c (results not shown). In Table 3.33.3 the SIDC's of CP and AA are calculated using these prediction equations for rapeseed expeller using the crude protein content and the amino acid pattern as published in the CVB Feed Table (2021). Also, the current SIDC evaluation is mentioned as a reference.

Table 3.33.3.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for rapeseed expeller, warm and cold
pressed, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. These
SIDC's were calculated with the regression equations. The SIDC's of rapeseed, warm and cold pressed in the CVB Feed Table
2021 are mentioned as a reference.

							5	SIDC va	lues (in	%-unit	s)							
СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
75.7	87.4	84.6	75.6	78.4	77.5	86.3	78.3	74.8	82.2	75.5	78.3	75.6	74.2	84.7	77.4	79.0	74.3	78.4
	<u>5.7 57.4 54.0 75.0 76.4 77.5 50.3 78.3 74.8 52.2 75.5 78.3 75.6 74.2 84.7 77.4 79.0 74.3 78.4 78</u>																	
76	87	85	76	78	78	86	78	75	82	76	78	76	74	85	77	79	74	78
						S	IDC val	ues in t	he CVB	Feed T	able 20	21						
72	84	80	75	77	74	81	77	71	71	72	76	71	70	84	74	80	76	75
*							Λ '											

*: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.34 Rapeseed / canola meal, solvent extracted

STDEV

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.2

This SIDC evaluation of rapeseed meal, solvent extracted is based on an initial dataset with 142 observations, with an average crude protein content of 412 + 35.3 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 193 and 513 g/kg DM, respectively. In 66 samples studied the total glucosinolate level was analyzed, in 76 samples not.

	Table	2021 is	s given a	as a refe	erence.			-		-								
Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
N	136	128	135	133	134	123	137	133	107	134	123	128	121	128	128	119	126	105
Average *	5.8	2.7	3.8	6.9	5.4	1.9	3.8	4.2	1.2	4.9	4.4	7.1	2.2	16.6	4.9	6.0	4.0	2.6
STDEV	0.5	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.6	0.3	1.5	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.3
Min	4.8	2.2	3.0	5.9	4.4	1.3	2.9	3.3	0.8	4.0	3.5	6.1	1.2	13.6	3.6	4.2	3.0	1.9
Max	6.8	3.5	4.5	7.7	6.3	2.4	4.7	5.0	1.5	5.8	5.2	8.6	2.9	20.2	6.8	7.7	5.2	3.3
CVB Feed	Table 20)21																
Average	6.1	2.8	3.9	7.0	5.5	2.0	4.1	4.4	1.3	5.1	4.5	7.5	2.5	16.9	5.2	6.0	4.4	3.1

Table 3.34.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for rapeseed meal, solvent extracted, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed

0.3 Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.2

0.9

0.2

0.4

0.2

0.3

Item									5	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	120	127	126	125	127	128	121	126	128	98	127	121	120	121	120	121	91	116	120
Average SIDC	73.8	86.0	81.9	77.1	79.6	74.2	84.6	79.1	72.9	79.0	74.6	77.8	73.6	73.6	84.0	77.1	86.9	75.9	73.8
STDEV	5.7	5.7 3.7 5.7 4.9 4.4 7.5 3.3 4.5 6.3 8.4 5.2 5.3 6.3 7.0 3.6 7.7 14.4 5.5 60.0 76.0 67.3 66.0 69.0 55.0 76.6 68.4 59.0 63.0 60.6 65.7 59.0 59.0 75.0 58.1 54.5 62.0 6															5.7		
Min	60.0	76.0	67.3	66.0	69.0	55.0	76.6	68.4	59.0	63.0	60.6	65.7	59.0	59.0	75.0	58.1	54.5	62.0	60.0
Max	84.3	94.0	94.0	87.0	89.5	88.9	91.6	89.6	87.6	93.6	86.1	89.4	88.8	87.5	92.1	93.6	115.0	88.8	84.3
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nun	nber						
SIDC	74	86	82	77	80	74	85	79	73	79	75	78	74	74	84	77	87	76	74
							SID	C valu	es in tl	he CVE	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	77	79	79	78	79	75	81	82	74	76	78	70	78	82	91	79	97	84	76

Table 3.34.2. New values for SIDC (%) of crude protein and amino acids for rapeseed meal, solvent extracted, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of rapeseed meal, solvent extracted in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. The SIDC PRO is calculated as the average SIDC of the other 16 AA.

Further it was observed that there are significant correlations between SIDC of CP and AA and some other nutrients. In the Table 3.34.3. a correlation matrix is presented, showing the number of observations, correlation coefficients and the significance of the correlation of the SIDC's to crude protein, glucosinolate content, crude fiber, NDF and ADF. This Table clearly demonstrates that there is a very significant correlation between almost all SIDCs and NDF. The correlation to other cell wall parameters (crude fiber and ADF) is much less.

Table 3.34.3. Correlation matrix for rapeseed meal, solvent extracted showing the correlation of the standardized ileal digestible CP and Amino Acid contents (g/kg DM) to crude protein (g/kg DM), glucosinolate content (µmol/g DM), crude fiber (g/kg DM), NDF (g.kg DM) and ADF (g/kg DM): number of observations, correlation coefficient (r) and significance (p), *

	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Crude protein																		•	
Number	129	141	141	140	140	142	133	140	141	105	140	131	130	133	131	131	100	130	114
Corr.coeff. (r)	0.298	0.056	0.083	0.102	0.066	0.146	-0.016	-0.004	0.140	0.436	0.149	0.039	0.038	0.007	0.140	0.047	-0.023	0.123	-0.029
Significance (p)	0.001	0.509	0.326	0.230	0.438	0.084	0.858	0.967	0.097	<.0001	0.080	0.657	0.671	0.940	0.111	0.596	0.820	0.162	0.757
Glucosinolates																			
Number	55	56	56	56	56	56	56	56	56	46	56	48	48	56	48	48	44	48	35
Corr.coeff. (r)	-0.010	-0.225	0.083	-0.306	-0.258	-0.211	-0.150	-0.269	-0.257	-0.117	-0.294	-0.088	-0.082	0.034	-0.031	0.014	0.160	-0.017	-0.101
Significance (p)	0.941	0.095	0.543	0.022	0.055	0.118	0.271	0.045	0.056	0.438	0.028	0.552	0.579	0.802	0.836	0.923	0.301	0.911	0.564
Crude Fiber																			
Number	33	36	36	36	36	37	35	36	37	24	36	35	35	35	35	35	35	35	34
Corr.coeff. (r)	-0.317	0.364	-0.745	0.310	0.231	0.330	0.328	0.405	0.040	-0.263	0.345	0.274	0.158	-0.398	0.415	0.008	0.179	0.036	-0.186
Significance (p)	0.072	0.029	<.0001	0.065	0.176	0.046	0.054	0.014	0.815	0.214	0.039	0.112	0.366	0.018	0.013	0.962	0.305	0.836	0.292
NDF																			
Number	88	97	97	96	96	97	91	96	96	82	96	89	88	91	89	89	77	88	73
Corr.coeff. (r)	-0.767	-0.539	-0.385	-0.432	-0.461	-0.704	-0.537	-0.557	-0.465	-0.582	-0.473	-0.577	-0.459	-0.644	-0.519	-0.441	-0.480	-0.419	-0.045
Significance (p)	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.704
ADF																			
Number	71	80	80	79	79	80	74	79	79	66	79	72	71	74	72	72	60	71	56
Corr.coeff. (r)	-0.708	-0.437	-0.266	-0.373	-0.375	-0.611	-0.603	-0.544	-0.375	-0.686	-0.405	-0.403	-0.312	-0.605	-0.344	-0.261	-0.280	-0.230	0.005
Significance (p)	<.0001	<.0001	0.017	0.001	0.001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.001	<.0001	0.000	0.000	0.008	<.0001	0.003	0.027	0.030	0.054	0.971

*: For this correlation matrix all observations (so including outliers with respect to the AA patten) were used.

Looking to the variation in the NDF content extremely high levels were found. As crude protein and NDF are the predominant nutrients in rapeseed meal, one would expect that an increase in the NDF content would result in a decrease of the crude protein content. This, however, appeared not to be the case (Figure 1). Further, it was observed that the mass balance (= Ash + crude protein + crude fat + NDF + starch + sugars + RNSP) exceeds 1000 g/kg DM at higher NDF contents. As not in all samples all nutrients were analyzed, the following figures were added in case of missing values (= the average value of the samples where the nutrient of concern was analyzed): Ash: 81.2 g/kg DM; crude fat: 38.3 g/kg DM; Starch: 9.1 g/kg DM; Sugars: 27.1 g/kg DM. Finally, in this calculation the RNSP² figure was used as mentioned in the CVB Feed Table for rapeseed meal, CP<370 g/kg (= 110 g/kg). Figure 2 shows that for about 50% of the samples the mass balance exceeds 1000 g/kg DM. Based on this evidence it is concluded that the NDF level is an artefact. Depending on the processing conditions less or more (denatured) crude protein will be attached to the fiber fraction, resulting in a lower digestibility. Although being an artefact, NDF appeared to be a good predictor of the SIDC of CP and AA in rapeseed / canola meal. As can be seen, in approximately 70% of the samples NDF is analyzed. So, there is a robust dataset to execute regression analysis. For this analysis the following model was used: (Standardized ileal digestible level of CP or AA; %) = a*NDF + c (results not shown).



Figure 1 (left).

Relationship between crude protein and NDF in rapeseed / canola meal.

Figure 2 (right). Relationship between the mass balance and the NDF content in rapeseed / canola meal.



In Table 3.34.5 the SIDC's of CP and AA are calculated using the prediction equations for rapeseed meal, solvent extracted as published in the CVB Feed Table (2021). Also, the current SIDC evaluation is mentioned as a reference.

It has been decided to present two evaluations for the SIDC of rapeseed meal:

1. An evaluation based on the average STDEV's are removing outliers for the amino acid pattern and, subsequently, outliers for the SIDC's of the individual amino acids (Table 3.34.4).

² RNSP = Remainder NSP fraction, after subtracting NDF from NSP (RNSP = NSP – NDF)

ltem									S	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Average SIDC	73.8	3.8 86.0 81.9 77.1 79.6 74.2 84.6 79.1 72.9 79.0 74.6 77.8 73.6 73.6 84.0 77.1 77.7** 75.9 After conversion to an integral number														73.8			
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nun	nber						
SIDC	74	86	82	77	80	74	85	79	73	79	75	78	74	74	84	77	78**	76	74
							SID	C valu	es in tł	ne CVB	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	77	79	79	78	79	75	81	82	74	76	78	70	78	82	91	79	97	84	76

Table 3.34.4. SIDC coefficients to be used for rapeseed / canola meal if no NDF content is known.

*: The proposed SIDC values (except for PRO) are based on the data in Table 3.34.2. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

2. SIDC's calculated with the regression equations developed with the model SIDC-AA = a*NDF + c when the NDF content is identical to the content on the product sheet of rape seed meal in the CVB Feed Table 2021 (Table 3.34.5).

Table 3.34.5. New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for rapeseed meal, solvent extracted, calculated with the regression equations developed with the model SIDC = a*NDF + c (see Table 3.34.4). *

							5	SIDC va	lues (in	%-unit	s)							
СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
							I	Rapese	ed <370	g CP/k	g							
74.0	.0 86.0 81.7 77.6 79.8 75.2 85.0 79.8 73.2 79.5 75.1 78.4 73.8 73.3 84.3 77.8 87.2 76.1 80 4 86 82 78 80 75 85 80 73 79 75 78 74 73 84 78 78** 76 80															80.2		
74	.0 86.0 81.7 77.6 79.8 75.2 85.0 79.8 73.2 79.5 75.1 78.4 73.8 73.3 84.3 77.8 87.2 76.1 80. 4 86 82 78 80 75 85 80 73 79 75 78 74 73 84 78 78** 76 80 Bapaceed > 370 g CP//g															80		
							I	Rapese	ed >370	g CP/k	g							
76.1	86.9	82.9	78.5	80.9	78.1	85.8	80.7	75.0	81.7	76.5	80.0	75.5	75.3	85.3	80.3	90.5	77.9	80.3
76	87	83	79	81	78	86	81	75	82	77	80	76	75	85	80	79**	78	80
					SIE	C value	es (in %	-units)	in curre	ent CVB	Feed T	able (2	021)					
77	79	79	78	79	75	81	82	74	76	78	70	78	82	91	79	97	84	76
*						-												

*: SIDC values were calculated with the NDF content as published on the product sheet in the CVB Feed Table 2021, after recalculation to the content in DM.

**: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other (by regression) calculated 17 AA is used.

3.35 Rice, with hulls and dehulled

Eight observations with rice, dehulled were collected from the literature: five observations with rice, broken, one with rice, polished, one with brown rice and 1 with brewer's rice. No observations were found for rice with hulls. The average crude protein content of the 8 observations with rice, dehulled was 88 ± 9.6 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 74 and 104 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.35.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations of rice, dehulled, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	8	7	8	8	8	7	8	8	4	8	7	7	6	7	7	5	7	6
Average *	8.6	2.4	4.2	7.7	3.8	2.4	4.8	3.9	1.1	5.8	5.3	9.6	1.8	16.6	4.4	5.1	4.6	3.1
STDEV	2.19	0.22	0.44	0.72	0.37	0.24	0.62	1.03	0.32	0.87	0.50	1.95	0.53	1.74	0.59	0.53	0.61	1.17
Min	6.0	2.1	3.7	6.5	3.3	2.0	3.8	2.9	0.8	4.4	4.5	7.6	0.9	14.2	3.6	4.6	3.8	1.7
Max	12.5	2.7	5.1	8.7	4.4	2.8	5.9	5.8	1.4	7.0	5.8	12.8	2.5	19.8	5.4	5.9	5.3	4.6
CVB Feed 1	Table 20)21																
Average	7.8	2.7	3.7	7.3	4.2	2.1	4.7	3.7	1.1	5.5	5.9	9.0	2.2	14.6	5.1	4.5	4.7	3.4
STDEV	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.2	1.7	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.5

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.35.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids of rice, dehulled, after removal of the
outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of rice, dehulled in the
CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item										SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	7	7	7	7	7	7	6	7	7	4	7	6	6	5	5	6	4	6	3
Average SIDC	92.8	95.3	93.4	92.5	93.3	92	93.7	93.2	91.4	92	91.8	92.2	93.3	94.2	94.5	97	131.4	94.4	86.8
STDEV *	3.42	2.95	1.81	2.38	1.97	3.08	1.37	1.56	3.39	3.77	5.27	2.46	1.79	1.45	1.39	4.02	35.4	2.2	5.12
Min	88.1	90.9	91.4	88.7	89.3	87	92.1	90.5	85.7	86.6	80.6	89.2	91.1	92.9	93.0	92.6	112	90.6	82
Max	97.3	98.9	96.6	95.5	95	94.7	95.2	95.3	95.2	94.7	95.1	94.9	95	96.5	96.0	103.9	184.4	96.5	92.2
							Af	ter cor	nversio	n to an	integr	al num	ber						
SIDC	93	95	93	93	93	92	94	93	91	92	92	92	93	94	95	97	93 **	94	87
							SIE	C valu	ies in t	he CVE	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	95	96	95	96	96	94	95	92	93	93	95	95	93	90	96	95	93	96	97

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

This SIDC evaluation of CP and AA will be used for rice, dehulled, polished as published in the CVB Feed Table.

As there are no new observations for rice with hulls (Paddy rice) it is decided to maintain the current values of the CVB Feed Table, as shown below.

						S	SIDC va	lues (in	%-unit	s) for r	ice with	n hulls						
СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
76	90	88	82	84	80	84	85	74	74	81	76	75	74	83	77	85 -> <mark>81</mark> *	79	84

*: As the average SIDC of all AA (except PRO) is 80.6; it is proposed to adjust the current value of 85 to 81%.

3.36 Rice bran

The SIDC evaluation of rice bran is based on an initial dataset with 6 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 162 <u>+</u> 10.7 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 150 and 181 g/kg DM, respectively.

Item		.,					3 3	Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)				<u> </u>		
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	5	5	5	5	4	4	5	5	5	4	4	4	4	5	5	2	5	5
Average *	8.1	2.8	3.3	6.8	4.5	1.9	4.3	3.7	1.1	5.0	5.8	8.1	1.8	12.9	5.3	3.9	4.4	2.1
STDEV	0.25	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.6
Min	7.8	2.7	3.3	6.6	4.2	1.7	4.0	3.4	0.8	4.9	5.7	8.0	1.7	12.3	5.1	3.7	3.7	1.6
Max	8.5	3.0	3.5	7.2	4.7	2.1	4.5	3.9	1.3	5.1	6.1	8.4	2.0	13.6	5.6	4.1	4.7	3.0
CVB Feed T	able 20	21																
Average	7.8	2.7	3.7	7.3	4.2	2.1	4.7	3.7	1.1	5.5	5.9	9.0	2.2	14.6	5.1	4.5	4.7	3.4
STDEV	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.2	1.7	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.5

 Table 3.36.1.
 Amino acid pattern of all observations for rice bran, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.36.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for rice bran, after removal of the outliers:

 number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of rice bran in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item										SI	DC (%)							
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	0
Average	80.9	91.5	86.9	85.8	86.8	85.6	86.7	84.4	81.9	81.5	83.8	84.6	82.9	81.3	89.7	84.1	124.6	85.4	
STDEV **	3.02	1.16	0.98	0.85	0.95	1.64	1.23	0.92	1.33	2.09	0.9	1.32	1.17	1.58	1.2	2.23	3.26	1.27	
Min	77.9	90.5	85.8	85.2	86.3	83.9	85	83.4	81.1	79.6	82.7	83.2	81.9	79.3	88.6	82.1	122.2	84.5	
Max	85.1	93.1	87.8	87.1	88.2	87.8	87.8	85.2	83.9	83.9	84.7	86.1	84.6	82.6	90.8	87.2	129.3	87.3	
								After c	onver	sion to	an int	egral	numbe	er ****					
SIDC	81	92	87	86	87	86	87	84	82	82	84	85	83	81	90	84	85 ***	85	85 ***
							S	SIDC va	alues i	n the C	VB Fe	ed Ta	ble 202	21 ****					
SIDC	66	77	66	68	66	62	71	62	61	75	66	66	63	52	71	58	65	68	69

*: This evaluation is used for both qualities in the CVB Table. **: STDEV > 7% are marked red. ***: For the SIDC of PRO and TYR the average SIDC of the other 16 AA is used. ****: the new evaluation is much more in line with SIDC evaluation in the INRA tables than the old one.

3.37 Rice bran meal, solvent extracted.

The SIDC evaluation of rice bran meal, solvent extracted is based on an initial dataset with 11 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 179 <u>+</u> 15.7 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 155 and 210 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.37.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for rice bran meal, solvent extracted, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	9	9	9	9	8	8	9	9	9	9	9	8	8	9	9	8	9	8
Average *	6.8	2.4	3.1	6.2	4.3	1.8	3.4	3.5	1.1	4.9	5.5	8.4	1.9	12.2	4.8	4.2	4.0	2.5
STDEV	1.03	0.33	0.27	0.53	0.3	0.35	0.72	0.22	0.13	0.34	0.35	0.36	0.42	1.11	0.44	0.33	0.37	0.23
Min	5.0	2.0	2.6	5.6	3.8	1.3	2.6	3.0	0.9	4.3	5.1	7.8	1.3	10.5	3.9	3.6	3.4	2.1
Max	8.3	2.9	3.5	6.9	4.6	2.3	4.3	3.7	1.3	5.3	6.0	8.7	2.6	13.6	5.4	4.6	4.5	2.8
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	7.8	2.7	3.7	7.3	4.2	2.1	4.7	3.7	1.1	5.5	5.9	9.0	2.2	14.6	5.1	4.5	4.7	3.4
STDEV	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.2	1.7	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.5

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.37.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for rice bran meal, solvent extracted
after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of
rice bran meal, solvent extracted in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									5	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	8	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	8	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	3	8	6
Average SIDC	75.4	85.1	74.4	74.5	75.6	73.8	83.6	78.2	76.4	71.4	76.3	76.2	75.9	73.1	80	64	127.6	79.6	78.1
STDEV *	4.76	5.43	5.81	6.81	6.41	6.58	9.29	9.53	3.47	9.47	5.43	5.6	6.78	9.83	5.52	15.48	14.82	3.96	7.35
Min	67.6	75	64.4	65.5	66	61.9	68.9	63.5	69.4	56.2	66.5	66.1	63.7	54	69.7	37	113.2	71.6	63.6
Max	81.5	90.7	83.7	81.6	82.5	81.8	95.8	93	79.7	81.1	82.4	82	82.6	85.8	87	80	142.8	83.8	83.1
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nun	nber						
SIDC	75	85	74	75	76	74	84	78	76	71	76	76	76	73	80	64	76**	80	78
							SID	C valu	es in tl	he CVE	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	63	77	66	68	66	62	63	71	61	75	67	66	63	53	71	58	66	68	70

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.38 Rye

The SIDC evaluation of rye is based on an initial dataset with 14 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 126 <u>+</u> 14.8 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 108 and 153 g/kg DM, respectively.

		,				p 0.10 0. (. <u></u>	.,								<u>,</u>		
ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	13	13	12	13	12	13	13	13	8	12	13	13	13	13	13	12	13	5
Average *	5.6	2.4	2.9	6.4	3.6	1.4	4.7	3.3	1.0	4.2	3.9	6.8	1.9	24.0	4.3	11.6	4.4	2.5
STDEV	0.76	0.14	0.11	0.27	0.08	0.19	0.10	0.11	0.02	0.12	0.25	0.28	0.35	0.64	0.10	0.38	0.42	0.31
Min	5.0	2.2	2.8	6.1	3.5	1.1	4.5	3.2	1.0	4.1	3.5	6.3	1.4	23.0	4.1	11.1	3.7	2.3
Max	7.0	2.6	3.1	7.0	3.7	1.7	4.8	3.6	1.0	4.5	4.3	7.1	2.2	25.4	4.4	12.2	4.8	3.1
CVB Feed T	Table 20)21																
Average	5.1	2.4	3.4	6.2	3.8	1.7	4.6	3.3	1.0	4.7	4.3	7.2	2.4	22.7	4.4	9.4	4.3	2.6
STDEV	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.5	0.2	1.5	0.2	0.8	0.2	0.2

Table 3.38.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for rye, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.38.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for rye, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of rye in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									ę	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	10	12	12	12	12	13	13	12	13	8	12	12	12	13	12	11	10	12	4
Average SIDC	71.9	78.6	75.1	71.5	76.0	66.2	77.1	78.7	66.6	64.9	72.7	64.3	70.6	76.5	86.8	62.0	98.3	74.5	68.5
STDEV	1.82	3.26	1.61	3.20	3.77	5.87	2.59	1.70	4.59	1.36	2.10	2.84	3.28	2.52	1.37	4.36	5.46	2.59	1.79
Min	68.0	75.0	73.0	65.0	73.0	60.0	74.0	76.0	62.0	63.0	70.7	61.0	66.0	72.0	85.0	57.0	89.7	72.0	65.9
Max	74.0	84.7	77.7	76.9	83.3	78.2	81.5	81.1	75.4	67.0	77.1	71.1	77.9	80.3	89.0	69.8	104.0	79.5	70.0
							Af	ter con	versio	n to an	integr	al num	ber						
SIDC	72	79	75	72	76	66	77	79	67	65	73	64	71	77	87	62	73 **	75	69
							SID	C valu	ies in t	he CVB	Feed	Table 2	2021						
SIDC	77	79	79	78	79	75	81	82	74	76	78	70	78	82	91	79	97	84	76

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.39 Sesame expeller and meal

The SIDC evaluation of sesame meal and expeller is based on an initial dataset with 3 observations (2 observations for meal, solvent extracted and 1 expeller), in which the average crude protein content was 532 <u>+</u> 14.6 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 516 and 544 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.39.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for sesame meal and expeller, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern *: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2	1	2	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	1
Average **	10.6	2.1	3.2	5.9	2.2	3.0	3.9	3.2	1.5	4.0	4.1	7.2	2.0	16.2	4.5	3.1	3.9	3.0
STDEV	9.3	1.9	2.8	5.4	1.9		3.6	3.0		3.6	3.7	6.9		14.6	4.1	3.0	3.6	
Min	11.9	2.4	3.5	6.3	2.5		4.2	3.4		4.4	4.4	7.5		17.7	4.8	3.2	4.2	
Max	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2	1	2	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	1
CVB Feed 1	Table 20)21																
Average	11.6	2.4	3.6	6.5	2.5	2.7	4.4	3.4	1.3	4.6	4.7	8.1	1.9	17.9	4.8	3.5	4.5	3.5
STDEV	0.8	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.6	0.2	1.2	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3

*: One observation (for meal) was completely removed. **: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

 Table 3.39.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for sesame meal and expeller, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of sesame meal and expeller in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									ę	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	2	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2	1	2	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	1
Observation low	84.2	83.9	80.1	75.0	76.0	67.7	84.6	78.4	78.5	79.9	75.1	83.4	81.7	77.8	76.4	82.8	84.4	78.9	75.7
Observation	88.5	96.9	92.6	90.6	91.4	84.5	94.7	91.8	87.8	90.0	90.4	88.1	87.0	87.9	90.1	88.4	84.6	90.9	85.8
Average	86.4	90.4	86.4	82.8	83.7	76.1	89.7	85.1	83.2	85.0	82.8	85.8	84.4	82.9	83.3	85.6	84.5	84.9	80.8
							Af	ter con	versio	n to an	integr	al nun	nber						
SIDC	86	90	86	83	84	80 **	90	85	83	85	83	86	84	83	83	86	84 ***	85	81
							SID	C valu	es in t	he CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	84	84	84	87	87	82	84	90	79	84	88	84	84	84	84	84	84	84	84

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: The SIDC for LYS pragmatically has been set at 80%. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.40 Sorghum

For sorghum an initial dataset was obtained with 31 observations. In 25 observations condensed tannins were analysed. After surveying the effect of tannins in the SIDC values of sorghum it was decided to prepare a proposal for the SIDC evaluation of sorghum on a subset of 10 observations with a tannin content < 5 g/kg DM in which the AIDC values were also converted in SIDC values using an experiment specific BEL pattern. The average crude protein content of this subset was 110 ± 20.8 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 91 and 156 g/kg DM, respectively.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)							
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	10	9	10	10	10	6	10	9	9	10	9	9	6	9	9	6	8	9
Average *	3.8	2.3	4.1	13.5	2.2	1.7	5.3	3.2	0.9	6.3	8.8	6.6	2.0	21.0	3.0	6.6	4.2	3.4
STDEV	0.37	0.10	0.27	0.98	0.24	0.22	0.35	0.18	0.12	1.41	0.64	0.24	0.38	0.86	0.28	1.45	0.07	1.01
Min	3.1	2.1	3.7	12.6	1.9	1.4	4.7	3.0	0.7	4.7	8.1	6.3	1.7	20.1	2.7	5.3	4.0	2.1
Max	4.3	2.4	4.5	15.5	2.6	2.0	5.8	3.5	1.1	8.1	9.9	6.9	2.8	22.7	3.4	8.5	4.3	4.6
CVB Feed T	able 202	21																
Average	4.0	2.4	4.0	13.0	2.4	1.8	5.3	3.3	1.1	5.0	8.9	7.1	1.9	20.0	3.4	8.1	4.6	3.9
STDEV	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.6	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.1	1.1	0.3	0.5	0.2	0.3

Table 3.40.1.
 Amino acid pattern of all observations for sorghum, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.40.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for sorghum, after removal of the outliers:
number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of sorghum in the CVB Feed Table 2021
is mentioned as a reference.

Item									ç	SIDC (%	5)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	6	10	10	10	10	10	6	10	10	9	10	7	8	5	8	8	5	8	7
Average SIDC	77.7	87.5	81.6	80.5	81.9	84.2	81.4	83.0	81.5	82.2	80.9	82.6	82.8	75.9	83.0	91.1	139.0	86.4	82
STDEV *	7.72	5.84	7.11	5.98	3.52	17.76	1.56	6.45	8.36	7.36	4.83	1.86	4.98	4.45	5.17	14.18	12.03	5.31	5.77
Min	65.4	79.0	73.1	71.4	75.6	66.4	79.2	72.7	74.4	70.5	75.6	80.2	79.0	71.3	75.9	74.1	124.5	81.4	74.5
Мах	84.5	98.4	91.2	91.0	87.6	109.1	83.3	92.7	95.9	93.9	88.8	85.4	92.6	82.1	90.9	111.6	152.9	96.8	90.1
							А	fter co	nversio	n to an	integra	al numb	ber						
SIDC	78	88	82	81	82	84	81	83	82	82	81	83	83	76	83	91	83 **	86	82
							SI	DC valu	ues in t	he CVB	Feed 1	Table 2	021						
SIDC	84	86	83	88	89	80	89	89	86	86	87	85	84	86	93	82	93	91	90

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.41 Soybeans, heat treated

The SIDC evaluation of soybeans, heat treated is based on an initial dataset with 30 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 400 <u>+</u> 32.5 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 319 and 502 g/kg DM, respectively. There are two observations in the dataset for soybeans full fat <u>high protein</u> with CP contents of 502 and 463 g/kg DM. The SIDC's of these two observations were within the range of the total dataset.

	2021	is giver	1 45 4 16	elelenc	e.													
ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	28	27	29	28	29	22	28	28	22	29	25	25	20	25	25	24	26	23
Average *	7.5	2.7	4.7	7.9	6.4	1.4	5.1	4.0	1.4	4.9	4.5	11.7	1.6	18.1	4.3	4.8	4.9	3.7
STDEV	0.44	0.14	0.30	0.42	0.33	0.13	0.24	0.28	0.19	0.31	0.31	0.55	0.11	0.98	0.24	0.72	0.56	0.22
Min	6.8	2.2	4.1	7.2	5.8	1.2	4.5	3.5	0.9	4.4	3.9	10.8	1.4	15.9	3.9	3.1	4.1	3.3
Max	8.5	2.9	5.3	8.7	7.2	1.6	5.5	4.5	1.8	5.5	5.1	12.9	1.8	19.9	4.7	5.9	6.0	4.3
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	7.4	2.7	4.6	7.7	6.2	1.4	5.1	3.9	1.3	4.8	4.4	11.6	1.5	18.1	4.3	5.1	5.2	3.7
STDEV	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.1	0.8	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3

Table 3.41.1.Amino acid pattern of all observations for soybeans, heat treated, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations,
average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table
2021 is given as a reference.

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.41.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for soybeans, heat treated, after
removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of
soybeans, heat treated in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item									ļ	SIDC (9	%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	20	27	27	27	27	27	20	27	27	15	26	24	24	14	23	24	16	24	21
Average SIDC	83.2	89.3	85.4	82.4	81.9	84.2	86.2	83.1	79.2	85.5	80.5	81.9	82.4	78.9	86.4	84.7	119.3	82.1	84.3
STDEV **	7.11	6.19	6.33	7.06	7.46	6.46	6.92	7.81	8.39	8.24	7.58	8.59	6.98	10.23	5.80	9.66	35.27	8.27	6.25
Min	72.0	76.2	74.0	69.3	68.7	73.2	72.0	67.0	63.0	67.0	68.3	63.4	69.4	58.0	72.8	67.0	74.0	66.5	70.4
Max	94.1	99.1	95.2	93.1	93.0	94.2	95.6	94.1	95.3	94.7	92.4	94.7	94.1	92.9	95.2	100.7	171.8	96.0	93.6

*: In one publication with several observations the levels of TRP and CYS were analyzed, but no SIDC's were presented for these AA.

**: STDEV > 7% are marked red.

Further it was observed that there are significant correlations between the SIDC of CP and many AA and NDF. In the Table 3.41.3 a correlation matrix is presented, showing the number of observations, correlation coefficients and the significance of the correlation of the SIDC's to NDF.

Table 3.41.3. Correlation matrix for showing the correlation of the standardized ileal digestible CP and Amino Acid contents (g/kg DM) to NDF: number of observations, correlation coefficient (r) and significance (p). *

				,															
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
NDF																			
Number	8	11	11	11	11	11	10	11	11	10	10	9	9	9	9	9	7	9	8
Corr.coeff. (r)	-0.614	-0.704	-0.794	-0.695	-0.770	-0.480	-0.742	-0.753	-0.717	-0.476	-0.706	-0.769	-0.631	-0.681	-0.854	-0.739	-0.346	-0.744	-0.724
Significance (p)	0.106	0.016	0.004	0.018	0.006	0.135	0.014	0.008	0.013	0.165	0.023	0.016	0.069	0.043	0.003	0.023	0.447	0.022	0.042

*: For this correlation matrix all observations (so including outliers with respect to the AA patten) were used.

It was decided to develop regression equations for the prediction of the STDEV's of CP and AA, based on the NDF content. It further was decided not to publish these equations, first because the number of observations on which the regression formulas are based is rather limited, and secondly because in the CVB database the number of observations on NDF is limited. Based on calculations with these internal formulas the SIDC evaluation for soybeans full fat, heat treated shown in Table 3.41.4 will be used for the chemical composition of soybeans heat treated as published in the CVB Feed Table 2021.

Table 3.41.4.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for soybeans, heat treated after
removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. SIDC-values were
calculated using the NDF content on the product sheet in the CVB Feed Table 2021. The SIDC's of soybeans, heat treated in the
CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									ç	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
							Calcul	ated w	ith inte	ernal re	egress	ion eq	uation	S					
SIDC	84	90	86	83	82	85	87	83	80	86	81	82	83	80	87	85	84*	83	85
							SID	C valu	es in tl	he CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	82	87	83	79	78	83	82	81	78	82	78	77	82	75	84	74	87	77	80
	(l			2 - 6 11-		L													

*: SIDC is based on the average SIDC of the 17 other AA.
3.42 Soybean hulls

As no observations for soybean hulls are mentioned in the ILOB-TNO report (1966), the current evaluation of soybean hulls is based on an expert judgement. In the literature two observations were found in one study, one with soybean hulls, untreated and one with soybean hulls, extruded. For the new evaluation only the observation with untreated soybean hulls was used. This observation has a CP content of 105 g/kg DM.

 Table 3.42.1.
 Amino acid pattern of all observations for soybean hulls, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Observation	4.8	2.7	4.3	7.1	7.2	1.1	4.2	4.0	1.0	4.9	4.4	10.1	2.1	11.5	8.9	5.9	6.0	4.0
CVB Feed Ta	ble 202	:1																
Average	5.3	2.7	3.8	6.3	6.6	1.2	4.2	3.6	1.1	4.6	4.2	9.6	1.7	12.1	7.5	4.9	5.6	4.3
STDEV	0.6	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.6	0.1	1.6	1.1	0.2	0.2	0.3

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

In Table 3.42.2 the SIDC values of the new observation, the current values in the CVB Feed Table, the INRA Tables (only as a reference) and the new SIDC values (average of new observation and current CVB Table values) are shown.

 Table 3.42.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for the soybean hull observation. The SIDC's of soybean hulls in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item										SIDC (%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Observation	61.8	77.0	69.6	72.5	73.4	68.5	79.0	74.8	70.6	89.5	68.5	58.5	70.6	63.1	78.3	27.4	111.1	68.1	
	61.8 77.0 69.6 72.5 73.4 68.5 79.0 74.8 70.6 69.5 58.5 70.6 63.1 78.3 27.4 111.1 68.1 SIDC values in the CVB Feed Table 2021 54 80 53 65 66 56 68 69 62 60 54 54 62 53 54 53 54 62																		
SIDC	54	80	53	65	66	56	68	69	62	60	60	54	54	62	53	54	53	54	62
								SIDO	C value	s in th	e INRA	Table	s						
SIDC		84	58	68	70	60	71	72	61	63	61	56	69	63	74	38	59	38	64
New SIDC value	es for f	uture C	VB Fe	ed Tab	ole														
Average new	58	79	61	69	70	62	74	72	66	75	64	56	62	63	66	41	65 **	61	66****

*: The new SIDC evaluation of CP and AA will be used for all 3 classes of soybean hulls that are published in the CVB Feed Table.

* The average SIDC-PRO value is calculated by taking the average of the SIDC-CP and SIDC-AA values (excluding the SIDC-PRO) for both the observation (=68.9%) and the CVB Feed Table values (=60.3) and to average these two averages ((68.9 + 60.3) / 2 = 65%).

*** The average SIDC-TYR value is calculated by first 'predicting' the SIDC-TYR value of the observation by adding the average absolute difference in SIDC values (SIDC-PRO values excluded) of 8.6% in SIDC between the observation and the CVB Feed Table value to the CVB Feed Table value of 62% (=70.6%). Then this value was combined with the CVB Feed Table value of 62% and averaged ((62 + 70.6) / 2 = 66%).

3.43 Soybean expeller

For soybean expeller the same evaluation is applied as for soybean meal, solvent extracted for feed evaluation systems. Also, for the ileal digestibility of CP and AA of soybean expeller in pigs identical values were used as for soybean meal. The reason for this is the lack of studies with soybean expeller. In this project we collected 5 observations where the ileal digestibility of soybean expeller was studied. The average crude protein content was 507 ± 53.0 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 465 and 592 g/kg DM, respectively. For the observations with the highest CP content, it is explicitly mentioned that it was an expeller from a high protein source. For all observations crude fat was analyzed; the values ranged from 44 to 95 g/kg DM. In all samples TIA was analyzed, the highest value (for the expeller from the high protein source) was 6.3 TIU/g. It should be mentioned that for 4 out of the 5 observations it is explicitly mentioned that the expellers were (also) extruded.

	202	I IS YIV	511 05 0	Telefell	66.													
Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	5	4	5	5	5	4	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	4
Average *	7.4	2.6	4.5	7.6	6.2	1.4	5.0	3.8	1.4	4.9	4.2	11.3	1.5	17.8	4.2	4.9	4.6	3.6
STDEV	0.15	0.04	0.17	0.18	0.14	0.03	0.13	0.20	0.06	0.21	0.15	0.22	0.07	0.28	0.12	0.11	0.30	0.22
Min	7.2	2.6	4.3	7.3	5.9	1.3	4.8	3.5	1.3	4.6	3.9	10.9	1.4	17.5	4.1	4.8	4.4	3.4
Max	7.6	2.7	4.7	7.8	6.3	1.4	5.2	4.0	1.4	5.1	4.3	11.5	1.6	18.1	4.4	5.1	5.1	3.9
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	7.5	2.7	4.6	7.7	6.2	1.4	5.2	3.9	1.3	4.8	4.4	11.6	1.5	17.8	4.3	5.1	5.1	3.7
STDEV	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.1	0.8	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3

Table 3.43.1.Amino acid pattern of all observations for soybean expeller, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations,
average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table
2021 is given as a reference.

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

A comparison between the updated SIDC-CP and SIDC-AA values of soybean expeller with the current CVB Feed Table shows that the new values are on average an absolute 2.2% higher.

A comparison between the new SIDC evaluation of soybean expeller with the new SIDC evaluation of soybean meal, solvent extracted shows the average SIDC of all AA (except PRO) of soybean expeller, shown in Table 3.43.2, is 1.6 %-units lower than new SIDC evaluation for soybean meal (see 3.44.2), ranging from 0.0 for TYR to -7.5% for GLY.

Table 3.43.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for soybean expeller: number of
observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of soybean expeller the CVB Feed Table
2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item									5	SIDC (%	%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	4	5	4
Average SIDC	89.5	96.3	91.7	91.2	91.3	91.4	91.7	91.4	87.0	91.1	89.4	88.4	88.7	83.3	89.5	87.8	113.6	90.5	91.5
STDEV **	2.70	1.92	2.51	2.57	2.53	2.22	1.79	3.19	3.91	3.67	2.89	3.72	2.61	4.10	3.07	4.82	16.51	3.39	1.21
Min	85.0	93.0	88.0	87.0	87.0	88.0	89.0	86.0	81.0	85.0	85.0	82.0	86.0	79.0	87.0	80.0	89.0	85.0	90.2
Max	91.5	97.6	94.4	93.4	93.4	93.3	93.8	94.1	91.4	94.9	92.6	90.9	92.3	88.9	94.6	91.6	124.0	94.0	93.1
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nun	nber						
SIDC	90	96	92	91	91	91	92	91	87	91	89	88	89	83	90	88	90 ***	91	92
							SID	C valu	es in tl	he CVE	8 Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	87	93	90	88	87	89	90	89	85	88	87	86	87	83	90	86	92	89	88

*: There were no outliers for the SIDC values.

**: STDEV > 7% are marked red.

***: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.44 Soybean meal, solvent extracted

In total 208 observations for soybean meal, solvent extracted were collected from the scientific literature. From this dataset all experimental treatments (e.g., extra toasting, expanding etc.) or fermentation or enzyme treatment were already excluded. Also, observations with >50 g crude fat/kg DM were removed because it is impossible to discriminate whether these are insufficient extracted meals or expellers. From these 208 observations the following observations were removed:

- a. Observations where TIA level was not analyzed. This step resulted in the removal of 92 observations (remaining dataset 116 observations).
- TIA is expressed in the publications in three different ways: in mg/g CP (18 observations), in mg/g DM (32 observations) and in TIU/g DM (66 observations. The relationship between the average SIDC of all AA (except PRO) and TIA level for each of these subsets is shown in Figure 44.1. Removal of observations with TIA > 8 mg/g DM resulted in the removal of 4 observations (remaining dataset 112 observations)



Figure 3.44.1. Soybean meal, solvent extracted: Relationship between average SIDC of all AA (except PRO) and TIA, expressed as mg/g crude protein (left graph), mg/g DM (middle graph) and TIU/g DM (right graph).

- c. The third step was an inventory on the potential effect of the moment of studying the ileal digestibility. As a measure for this the year of publication was used. The underlying argumentation for this was that improvement of technology over time might have resulted in an increased ileal digestibility. Figure 44.2 shows that there was no relationship between the average SIDC of all AA (except PRO) and year of publication. So, in this step no observations were removed.
- d. The next step was to investigate whether there was an effect of body weight on the average SIDC of all AA (except PRO). The results are shown in Figure 44.3. There was 1 study with piglets (body weight at the start of the experiment 5.6 kg) with 19 observations (6 from Argentina, 6 from Brazil, 7 from USA) where the digestibility's were much lower than the other observations in the dataset (see Figure 44.2). It was decided to remove all observations where the initial body weight <10 kg. Next to the 19 observations of the study mentioned, 10 other observations from different studies were removed (resulting in a remaining dataset with 83 observations). For the observations with an initial body weight >10 kg, there is no relationship between the average SIDC of all AA, except PRO and body weight.



extracted: Relationship between the average SIDC of all AA (except PRO) and the year of publication.

animals at the moment they were placed in the experiment. In the left graph the results for all observations are shown, with in red the results of the study with piglets of 5.6 kg at the start of the experiment. In the right graph the results for observations with an initial body weight > 10 kg.

300

350

e. The last step was the investigation of the relation between crude protein and NDF. In the processing of rapeseed meal, it was clearly observed that - most likely due to overheating - the NDF content increases without an accompanying decrease in crude protein level. In Figure 44.4 the relationship between crude protein and NDF for the dataset is shown. It can be seen that at NDF levels higher than approx. 150 g NDF/kg the crude protein content remains rather constant.



Soybean meal, solvent extracted: Relationship between CP and NDF. In the left graph all observations with an analyzed Figure 3.44.4. NDF are shown; in the right graph observations with NDF >150 g/kg DM are removed.

In Figure 44.5 the relationship between the average SIDC of all AA (except PRO) and NDF is shown. Therefore, it was decided to remove from the dataset 8 observations with a NDF content >150 g/kg DM, resulting in a final dataset with 83 - 8 = 75 observations for further processing.





The dataset of 75 observations had an average crude protein content of 538 ± 22.8 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 483 and 624 g/kg DM, respectively. Most observations were performed with soybean meals with high crude protein content. For the quality in the CVB Feed Table with the highest crude fiber and the lowest crude protein content (crude fiber > 70 g/kg) there were only 3 observations that fell in the range of the CP content $\pm 2^*$ STDEV of this quality.

It was examined if there were significant correlations between the SIDC's of CP and the individual AA om the one hand and crude protein, NDF and ADF on the one hand. This appeared not to be the case. Therefore, there was no scientific base to relate the SIDC's of CP and AA to CP or a fiber component (crude fiber, NDF or ADF). It implies that the same SIDC's must be proposed for all 5 qualities of soybean meal, solvent extracted in the CVB Feed Table.

Table 3.44.1. Amino acid pattern of the dataset with 75 observations for soybean meal, solvent extracted, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	68	68	65	67	69	69	67	68	63	64	65	68	69	68	68	68	67	67
Average *	7.2	2.7	4.6	7.6	6.3	1.4	5.0	3.7	1.4	4.8	4.2	11.0	1.3	17.2	4.1	4.8	4.5	3.6
STDEV	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.5	0.1	0.8	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1
Min	6.8	2.4	4.1	7.1	5.8	1.3	4.6	3.4	1.1	4.0	3.7	10.2	1.2	15.3	3.4	4.5	4.1	3.4
Max	7.6	2.9	5.1	8.1	6.7	1.5	5.3	4.2	1.5	5.2	4.6	12.4	1.6	19.1	4.4	5.3	5.0	3.8
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	7.5	2.7	4.6	7.7	6.2	1.4	5.2	3.9	1.3	4.8	4.4	11.6	1.5	17.8	4.3	5.1	5.1	3.7
STDEV	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.1	0.8	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.44.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for soybean meal, solvent extracted,
after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of
soybean meal, solvent extracted, CF 45-70 g/kg (CP < or > 450 g/kg) in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									ę	SIDC (%	%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	61	65	65	63	64	65	64	65	65	60	64	65	65	58	64	65	36	64	63
Average SIDC	92.4	96.5	92.9	91.8	91.4	91.5	93.2	92.0	89.3	93.4	90.4	90.8	89.9	86.5	91.3	95.3	126.9	93.2	91.5
STDEV*	2.78	1.70	2.04	2.42	2.38	2.05	2.43	2.06	2.93	2.50	3.01	2.81	2.26	3.84	2.21	5.02	11.40	2.56	2.26
Min	86.9	92.6	88.1	84.3	83.7	86.7	86.5	85.4	82.7	86.6	82.8	84.1	84.4	78.7	85.7	84.5	93.8	86.7	85.1
Max	97.4	99.6	96.2	95.6	95.2	95.4	96.6	95.4	95.2	97.1	95.3	95.4	94.5	94.0	95.4	104.4	142.1	97.8	95.2
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nur	nber						
SIDC	92	97	93	92	91	92	93	92	89	93	90	91	90	87	91	95	92**	93	92
				So	ybean	meal,	solvent	t extrac	ted cru	ude fibe	er < 45	g/kg, C	Crude F	rotein	> 485 g	g/kg			
SIDC	88	94	91	89	88	90	91	90	86	89	88	87	88	84	91	87	93	90	89

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.45 Sugar beet pulp, dried

The SIDC evaluation of sugar beet pulp, dried is based on an initial dataset with 2 observations, in which the crude protein content was 94 and 113 g/kg DM for observation 1 and 2, respectively. As can be seen below, for the second observation both the AA composition and the SIDC's of the AA is rather incomplete.

1 80		is give	n as a	releten	ice.													
Item								Amino	acid pa	attern ((g/16g	N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Observation 1	3.6	2.6	3.4	6.4	5.3	0.8	4.2	4.0	0.9	5.6	6.0	7.4	0.8	11.1	4.0	5.4	4.4	4.2
Observation 2	3.2	2.4	3.6	5.3	6.3	1.2	2.8	3.8		4.8			1.0					
CVB Feed Table	2021																	
Average	4.0	2.8	3.4	5.5	4.9	1.4	3.4	4.4	0.9	5.3	4.6	10.1	1.2	9.8	3.9	4.0	4.5	4.5
STDEV	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

 Table 3.45.1.
 Amino acid pattern of the two observations for sugar beet pulp, dried in g/16g N. In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed

 Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Table 3.45.2.Standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for two observations of sugar beet pulp, dried. The
SIDC's of sugar beet pulp, dried in the CVB Feed Table 2021 are shown as a reference. In the last line the proposal for the future
SIDC values for sugar beet pulp, dried are presented. *

Item									5	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Observation 1	50.0	69.3	57.3	50.2	52.5	37.0	51.6	60.0	40.7	46.2	48.9	43.3	53.9	53.8	60.6	46.5	54.1	47.7	64.0
Observation 2		54.0	52.0	53.0	51.0	56.0	61.0	46.0	30.0		43.0			-21.0					
							SID	C valu	es in tl	ne CVB	Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	46	53	52	51	52	55	59	46	28	50	42	47	25	46	58	45	45	34	52
				Pr	opose	d SID0	C value	es for s	sugar I	beet pu	ılp, dri	ed in f	uture	CVB F	eed Ta	ble			
SIDC **	48	59	54	51	52	49	57	51	33	48	45	45	39	50***	59	46	50	41	58

*: When the proposed SIDC differs >3 %-units from the current value, the value is printed in green (if higher) or in red (if lower).

**: The proposed SIDC's are the average values of the observations 1 and 2 and the current SIDC evaluation in the CVB Table.

***: Because of the negative SIDC-CYS value for observation 2 the average SIDC value for CYS was calculated with on observation 1 and the CVB Table value.

This SIDC evaluation will be used for the four classes of sugar beet pulp, dried as well as for sugar beet pulp, pressed, ensiled.

3.46 Sunflower seed meal, solvent extracted, sunflower seed expeller and (full fat) sunflower seed

The SIDC evaluation of sunflower seed meal, sunflower seed expeller and sunflower seed, full fat is based on an initial dataset with:

- 29 observations for sunflower seed meal, in which the average crude protein content was 366 <u>+</u> 43.4 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 293 and 460 g/kg DM, respectively.
- 3 observations for sunflower seed expeller, in which the average crude protein content was 331 + 42.0 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 305 and 380 g/kg DM, respectively
- 1 observation for sunflower seed, full fat with a crude protein content was 231 g/kg DM.

Table 3.46.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for sunflower meal, sunflower expeller and sunflower seed, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	32	32	33	32	32	28	32	32	24	31	31	29	28	30	29	31	31	26
Average *	7.7	2.5	4.1	6.2	3.9	2.2	4.4	3.6	1.1	5.1	4.4	8.8	1.7	19.1	5.7	3.9	3.9	2.3
STDEV	0.40	0.21	0.19	0.20	0.46	0.11	0.24	0.17	0.03	0.20	0.34	0.29	0.10	1.22	0.26	0.31	0.47	0.21
Min	7.1	2.2	3.8	5.9	3.1	2.0	3.8	3.2	1.0	4.6	4.0	8.2	1.5	16.3	5.1	3.4	3.0	1.9
Мах	8.7	3.0	4.5	6.6	4.7	2.5	4.8	3.8	1.2	5.4	5.1	9.2	1.8	21.3	6.1	4.5	4.6	2.8
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	8.1	2.5	4.1	6.3	3.5	2.2	4.6	3.7	1.2	4.9	4.3	9.2	1.7	19.3	5.7	4.3	4.3	2.5
STDEV	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.1	0.9	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.46.2. New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for sunflower meal, sunflower expeller and sunflower seed, full fat, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of sunflower meal, sunflower expeller and sunflower seed in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									5	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	31	29	31	31	31	31	28	31	31	27	30	27	29	28	29	28	17	29	25
Average SIDC	77.9	90.7	81.6	80.4	80.1	78.0	88.0	82.9	77.1	82.5	79.2	77.0	78.0	73.5	86.2	67.0	85.0	75.9	82.9
STDEV*	5.17	2.36	3.59	4.55	4.82	4.71	2.68	4.56	4.35	6.03	4.77	4.36	4.46	6.24	3.10	7.97	20.52	5.26	6.48
Min	67.3	86.5	74.3	71.6	70.8	66.7	83.0	72.9	67.9	71.0	70.0	69.8	70.4	63.4	81.3	51.9	46.0	65.1	72.8
Max	86.7	94.6	87.5	87.6	88.2	84.2	92.8	89.9	84.6	91.1	87.2	85.1	85.4	84.8	91.6	77.7	127.5	83.3	93.9
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nun	nber						
SIDC	78	91	82	80	80	78	88	83	77	83	79	77	78	74	86	67	80**	76	83
							SID	C valu	es in tl	he CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	80	92	82	83	81	79	88	82	80	83	81	78	81	77	88	73	86	82	83

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

This new evaluation will be used for:

- Sunflower seed meal, solvent extracted, dehulled and partly dehulled
- Sunflower seed expeller, dehulled and partly dehulled
- Sunflower seed, dehulled and partly dehulled.

3.47 Tapioca, dried

The current SIDC evaluation in the CVB Feed Table (2021) is based on an expert judgement, because in the ILOB-0TNO report (1996), on which the current table on the ileal digestibility of CP and AA is based, no observations are mentioned for tapioca. This is logic, as the feedstuff is of marginal importance as protein source in rations for pigs. In this project one observation was collected from the scientific literature.

					<u> </u>										<u> </u>			
ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Content *	9.2	1.9	3.1	4.6	3.8	1.1	2.7	3.4	1.5	3.8	4.6	7.3	1.5	17.2	3.4	3.4	3.4	
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	4.9	2.4	3.1	5.4	3.7	1.3	3.4	3.3	1.1	4.1	5.2	7.6	1.2	13.9	3.7	3.9	3.6	2.1
STDEV	0.9	0.7	0.3	0.6	0.4	0.2	0.7	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.7	0.7	0.3	1.9	0.6	0.7	0.4	0.4

Table 3.47.1. Amino acid pattern of tapioca (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

*: When the AA content of the single observation deviates more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average the value is depicted in red and bold.

The current SIDC evaluation in the CVB Feed Table is based on the ILOB-TNO report (1966). In this report 3 observations are mentioned. In this project we could not trace back these observations. In Table 3.47.2 it is shown that the new evaluation in the average of the new observation and the current evaluation in the CVB Feed Table.

 Table 3.47.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for wheat gluten meal.

 The table shows the SIDC's of the new observation, the SIDC's in the CVB Feed Table 2021, and the average of these two (which will be the new evaluation in the future CVB Feed Table).

									SIDC (%	6)								
СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
	New observation 72 29 41 44 53 17 46 41 42 45 40 27 57 25 41 36 41																	
30	New observation 30 72 29 41 44 53 17 46 41 42 45 40 27 57 25 41 36 41																	
						Eva	luation	in curr	ent CVE	B Feed	Table (2	2021)						
54	54	53	54	54	54	55	53	53	55	54	54	53	55	52	53	51	52	53
				Avera	age of n	ew obs	ervatio	n and c	urrent e	evaluati	on in C	VB Fee	d Table	(2021)				
42	63	41	48	49	49	54	35	50	48	48	50	47	41	54	44	46	44	46

Because of the very low protein content of tapioca, it is very difficult to reliable estimate SIDC values, and this may explain the wide variation in observed SIDC-AA values ranging from 72% for ARG to 17% for CYS. The average SIDC-CP and SIDC-AA for the observation in the present dataset is 40.5% whereas the average SIDC-CP and SIDC-AA value in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is 53.6%.

It is proposed to take the average SIDC of CP and all AA of these two averages, which is 47% and to use this value for CP and all amino acids for all starch qualities of tapioca. Furthermore, it is proposed to also use the value of 47% for sweet potatoes in the CVB Feed Table.

3.48 Triticale

The SIDC evaluation of triticale is based on an initial dataset with 26 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 132 ± 19.0 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 102 and 183 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.48.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for triticale, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	24	24	24	22	24	24	23	23	19	23	14	16	15	16	16	14	16	8
Average *	5.0	2.3	3.2	6.2	3.1	1.6	4.3	3.0	1.1	4.2	3.7	5.9	2.2	26.2	4.1	10.0	4.5	2.9
STDEV	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.7	0.4	1.5	0.3	0.4
Min	4.2	2.0	2.7	5.5	2.8	1.3	2.7	2.7	0.9	3.7	3.3	5.0	0.9	22.9	3.3	6.8	3.8	2.5
Max	6.0	2.7	3.5	6.6	3.8	1.7	4.9	3.3	1.1	4.9	4.2	6.5	3.1	34.4	5.0	11.4	4.8	3.8
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	5.0	2.3	3.4	6.5	3.3	1.7	4.5	3.1	1.1	4.6	4	6.1	2.3	25.3	4.2	9.4	4.5	2.8
STDEV	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.1	1.8	0.2	0.7	0.2	0.2

*: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.48.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for triticale, after removal of the
outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of triticale in the CVB
Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									Ś	SIDC (%	6)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	20	21	20	21	21	21	21	20	21	18	21	13	13	12	12	13	11	13	4
Average SIDC	83.5	85.4	84.4	83.4	84.2	75.5	84.2	83.3	76.7	79.0	82.2	79.2	79.8	86.5	93.3	82.4	109.9	85.7	83.2
STDEV *	1.8	2.5	2.3	2.7	2.6	5.4	2.8	3.9	3.6	2.9	2.9	4.3	2.6	1.2	0.9	8.0	9.6	2.8	3.8
Min	80.4	82.2	81.6	79.0	79.9	68.7	80.2	77.3	72.4	75.2	78.7	74.0	78.0	85.0	92.0	71.0	103.0	82.0	78.2
Мах	87.9	91.7	90.7	91.0	91.1	89.9	89.7	91.8	86.4	83.0	90.7	88.7	86.5	88.1	95.1	99.4	128.3	90.7	86.4
							Aft	er con	versio	n to an	integ	ral nur	nber						
SIDC	84	85	84	83	84	76	84	83	77	79	82	79	80	87	93	82	83 **	86	83
							SID	C valu	es in tl	ne CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	85	87	86	88	87	83	89	87	78	80	88	83	83	90	93	81	93	88	86

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.49 Wheat

The SIDC evaluation of wheat is based on a dataset with 61 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 147.7 + 43.1 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 118 and 208 g/kg DM, respectively.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g	g/16g N)							
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	60.0	57.0	61.0	60.0	59.0	54.0	59.0	61.0	39.0	60.0	55.0	55.0	42.0	55.0	55.0	51.0	54.0	45.0
Average *	4.6	2.4	3.4	6.7	2.9	1.5	4.6	2.8	1.1	4.3	3.7	5.0	2.3	28.8	4.1	10.7	4.4	2.2
STDEV	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4	3.1	0.3	1.7	0.5	0.8
CVB Feed T	able 20)21																
Average	4.7	2.3	3.4	6.6	2.8	1.6	4.5	2.9	1.2	4.3	3.7	5.3	2.2	28.3	4.0	9.7	4.6	2.8
STDEV	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	2.5	0.2	0.8	0.2	0.3

 Table 3.49.1.
 Amino acid pattern of the dataset of wheat, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average value (g/16g N) and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The amino acid pattern in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

*: When there are averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the average value in the current CVB Feed Table they are marked red.

Table 3.49.2. New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids in wheat, after removal of the outliers: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of wheat in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference.

Item									ç	SIDC (%)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	50	56	52	56	57	57	51	53	57	34	57	53	54	37	50	53	47	51	40
Average SIDC	90.1	91.1	90.1	89.6	89.9	82.2	89.4	91.0	85.0	86.7	87.7	84.0	83.8	89.6	95.7	90.0	103.3	91.1	91.7
STDEV *	4.4	4.4	3.9	4.2	3.8	7.8	3.5	4.1	5.7	5.3	4.3	6.3	5.8	2.8	1.7	7.8	10.4	3.3	5.4
Min	83.0	83.0	83.5	79.4	79.6	69.0	84.0	82.3	70.2	74.0	78.1	71.3	73.4	84.7	91.7	75.1	71.7	82.9	79.6
Max	98.6	99.9	98.3	96.7	97.0	95.7	97.8	97.9	98.2	94.6	96.8	93.9	93.2	95.1	98.4	106.3	129.7	98.0	100.1
							Aft	er con	versio	n to ar	n integ	ral nur	nber						
SIDC	90	91	90	90	90	82	89	91	85	87	88	84	84	90	96	90	89 **	91	92
							SID	C valu	es in t	he CVE	B Feed	Table	2021						
SIDC	89	90	90	90	90	84	90	90	86	88	88	83	83	90	96	87	96	92	91

*: STDEV > 7% are marked red. **: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

The new SIDC evaluation of CP and AA for wheat will be used also for wheat, heat-treated.

3.50 Wheat germs

The SIDC evaluation of wheat germs is based on only two observations with a crude protein content of 366 and 266 g/kg DM.

Table 3.50.1.	Amino acid pattern of the single new observation for wheat germs. In the last line the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is
	given as a reference.

Item							Α	mino	acid pa	attern	(g/16g	N)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Observation 1 *	9.1	2.3	3.3	5.9	6.2	1.7	3.5	3.9		4.8	5.4	8.4	1.4	11.4	5.5	3.9	3.7	2.5
Observation 2 *	7.0	1.8	2.9	5.4	5.0	0.5	3.2	3.3	1.0	4.4			1.6					2.6
CVB Feed Table 2021	7.3	2.3	3.3	6.0	6.0	1.7	3.4	3.5	1.1	4.9	5.6	7.8	1.4	14.2	5.4	4.4	3.9	2.7

*: Observation 1 had a crude protein content of 366 g/kg DM; observation 2 266 g/kg DM.

It is proposed to base then new SIDC values in the CVB Feed Table on the average of Observation 1, Observation 2 and the values in the current CVB Feed Table. This is further elaborated in Table 3.50.2.

Table 3.30.2. New Val	ues io	i the st	anuar	uizeu	lieal d	igestip	ility (S	IDC, %	o) OI CI	ude pi	oteina	anu an	ino ac	Jus Ioi	wnea	t genn	S.		
Item	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
									SIE	DC (%-I	units)								
Observation 1	85.0	98.0	95.0	95.0	94.0	95.0	96.0	94.0	91.0		94.0	94.0	94.0	88.0	95.0	92.0		91.0	87.0
Observation 2	80.5	91.1	85.4	83.0	84.1	86.3	87.7	84.8	76.5	80.4	81.3			76.3					86.3
CVB Feed Table 2021	85	87	87	87	86	80	86	87	83	84	85	80	80	86	93	84	93	89	88
Average Observation 1,																			
Observation 2 and current	83.5	92.0	89.1	88.3	88.0	87.1	89.9	88.6	83.5	82.2	86.8	87.0	87.0	83.4	94.0	88.0	87.8	90.0	87.1
CVB Feed Table																			
After conversion to an	intege	r																	
New values CVB Feed	01	01	00	00	00	05	00	00	02	02	96	07	07	01	04	00	00*	00	07
Table	04	91	09	00	00	00	09	00	03	02	00	07	07	04	94	00	00	90	07
*· For the SIDC of DDO th	o ovor		C of th	no othe	r 17 A		od												

Table 2 50 2 Now values for the standardized iteal digestibility (SIDC: %) of crude protein and amine acids for wheat gorms

For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used. .

3.51 Wheat gluten meal

Four observations for wheat gluten were collected from the literature, 2 with non-hydrolyzed gluten meal and 2 with hydrolyzed gluten meal. As the hydrolyzed meals were considered as different products, they were removed from the dataset. Of the two remaining observations 1 was tested in young piglets, showing much lower SIDC's than the third observation studied in pigs between 22-60 kg. The difference in the average SIDC of all AA (except PRO) between these two observations was 8 %-units. It was decided to base the new SIDC evaluation of wheat gluten meal on the single observation op pigs in the weight range 22-60 kg.

Table 3.51.1.	Amino acid pattern of wheat gluten meal (g/16g N) of the single observation. In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed
	Table 2021 is given as a reference.

Item								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Content *	3.4	1.8	3.2	6.4	2.1	1.9	5.2	2.3		4.3	2.4	3.0	1.5	37.7	3.2		4.7	3.8
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	3.6	2.1	3.7	7.0	1.7	1.6	5.3	2.5	0.9	4.0	2.7	3.4	2.2	34.3	3.4	12.6	4.8	3.4
STDEV	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.1	-	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	4.0	0.1	0.7	0.2	0.2

*: When the AA content of the single observation deviates more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average the value is are depicted in red and bold.

The current SIDC evaluation in the CVB Feed Table is based on the ILOB-TNO report (1966). In this report 3 observations are mentioned. In this project we could not trace back these observations. In Table 3.51.2 the SIDC-CP and SIDC-AA values of the new observations and the current CVB Feed Table values are shown. Also, the new SIDC values to be published in the future CVB Feed Table are shown.

Table 3.51.2.
 New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for wheat gluten meal.

 The table shows the SIDC's of the new observation, the SIDC's in the CVB Feed Table 2021, and the average of these two (which will be the new evaluation in the future CVB Feed Table).

-																		
									SIDC (%	6)								
СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
96	95	96	93	96	91	96	96	91	94	90	92	99	93	98	94	94*	96	93
						Cur	rent ev	aluatio	n in CVI	B Feed	Table (2	2021)						
100	100	100	100	99	99	99	98	99	99	100	99	99	99	100	100	100	100	99
							SIDC va	alues in	future	CVB Fe	ed Tab	le						
98	98	98	96	98	95	98	97	95	96	95	96	99	96	99	97	97*	98	96

*: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

3.52 Wheat milling by-products

This SIDC evaluation for wheat by-products from the dry milling is based on a dataset with 34 observations, in which the average crude protein content was 178.6 <u>+</u> 22.9 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 88 and 210 g/kg DM, respectively.

Table 3.52.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for wheat by-products from the dry milling, after removal of outliers for the AA pattern: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference.

ltem								Amino	acid pa	attern (g/16g N	1)						
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	31	31	31	31	31	28	32	32	27	31	20	21	26	21	21	17	21	31
Average *	6.4	2.5	3.1	6.0	3.9	1.5	3.9	3.1	1.0	4.4	4.4	6.6	1.7	18.8	4.9	5.8	3.8	6.4
STDEV	0.62	0.21	0.13	0.25	0.34	0.26	0.26	0.18	0.19	0.23	0.30	0.50	0.19	2.64	0.38	0.67	0.48	0.62
Min	4.9	2.1	2.9	5.5	3.1	0.7	3.2	2.6	0.8	3.7	3.7	5.2	1.6	16.2	4.0	5.0	3.2	4.9
Max	7.9	3.0	3.4	6.6	4.4	2.2	4.5	3.5	1.4	4.9	4.9	7.8	2.3	27.0	5.5	7.2	4.5	7.9
CVB Feed	Table 2	021																
Average	6.7	2.7	3.2	6.2	4.0	1.6	4.0	3.3	1.4	4.7	4.7	7.1	2.1	19.4	5.1	6.5	4.4	2.9
STDEV	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.1	2.2	0.4	0.8	0.3	0.3

*: Averages deviating more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average are depicted in red and bold.

Based on samples in the CVB Database in which both crude Fiber and NDF was analyzed a good relationship between these two parameters could be developed, enabling the calculation of crude fiber for observations where only NDF was analyzed and vice versa.

Further it was observed that there are significant correlations between SIDC of CP and AA and NDF as well as crude fiber. In the Table 3.52.2 a correlation matrix is presented, showing the number of observations, correlation coefficients and the significance of the correlation.

Also, the number of observations and the significance of the correlation is shown.

	AIIII	IIU ACIC	Conter	115 (70)		anu c	ruue ni	Jei (g/k	y Divi).	numbe		servali	0 $115, 00$	neialio	JII COEI	ncient (i) anu	Signinc	ance (p
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
NDF																			•
Number	32	31	31	31	31	32	32	31	32	30	31	21	21	29	21	10	4	21	31
Corr. Coeff. (r)	-0.754	-0.585	-0.684	-0.778	-0.874	-0.584	-0.790	-0.764	-0.783	-0.694	-0.692	-0.601	-0.756	-0.611	-0.701	-0.839	0.340	-0.657	-0.785
Significance (p)	<.0001	0.001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.004	<.0001	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.660	0.001	<.0001
RC																			
Number	32	31	31	31	31	32	32	31	32	30	31	21	21	29	21	10	4	21	31
Corr. Coeff. (r)	-0.811	-0.663	-0.745	-0.835	-0.911	-0.647	-0.840	-0.822	-0.829	-0.719	-0.750	-0.697	-0.823	-0.622	-0.787	-0.892	0.273	-0.730	-0.827
Significance (p)	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.000	<.0001	0.000	<.0001	0.001	0.727	0.000	<.0001

Table 3.52.2. Correlation matrix for wheat by-products from the dry milling showing the correlation of the standardized ileal digestible CP and Amino Acid contents (%) to NDF and crude fiber (g/kg DM): number of observations, correlation coefficient (r) and significance (p).

Based on the results in Table 3.52.2 prediction equations it was decided to develop prediction equations by performing regression analysis with the model: (Standardized ileal digestible level of CP or AA; %) = a^* crude fiber + c (results not shown).

These regression equations were used to calculate the SIDC values of amino acids of wheat milling by-products in the CVB Feed Table 2021. These regression formulas are valid in the crude fiber range 15 – 113 g/kg DM. For observations with higher crude fiber levels the regression formula should be used with a maximum crude fiber value of 113. In Table 3.52.4 the calculated SIDC's are presented including the present SIDC values. For PRO it is proposed to calculate this value as the average of the other 17 SIDC-AA values. In the CVB Feed Table the following wheat milling by-products are defined:

- Wheat flour: crude fiber 13 g/kg DM,
- Wheat feed flour: crude fiber 51 g/kg DM
- Wheat feed meal: crude fiber 83 g/kg DM
- Wheat middling's: crude fiber 101 g/kg DM
- Wheat bran CF < 125 g/kg: crude fiber 125 g/kg DM
- Wheat bran CF > 125 g/kg: crude fiber 144 g/kg DM

CF		Future SIDC values (in %-units)																	
(g/kg DM)	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
13 *	91.9	95.2	94.7	93.1	93.6	91.7	95.1	95.2	88.8	91.9	91.4	88.6	89.1	91.0	97.8	93.5	92.9	95.4	93.6
51	79.6	89.7	87.3	82.8	84.4	77.3	85.8	85.9	76.6	82.7	80.8	74.5	79.8	82.3	90.9	84.3	83.3	85.9	84.3
83	68.7	84.9	80.8	73.7	76.3	64.4	77.6	77.5	65.7	74.5	71.4	62.1	71.5	74.6	84.7	76.2	74.7	77.5	75.9
101	62.6	82.2	77.1	68.6	71.7	57.2	72.9	72.9	59.6	69.9	66.1	55.0	66.9	70.3	81.3	71.6	69.8	72.8	71.3
125–144**	58.5	80.4	74.7	65.2	68.7	52.3	69.8	69.7	55.5	66.9	62.5	50.4	63.8	67.4	79.0	68.6	66.6	69.7	68.1
	After conversion to an integral number																		
13*	92	95	95	93	94	92	95	95	89	92	91	89	89	91	98	93	93	95	94
51	80	90	87	83	84	77	86	86	77	83	81	75	80	82	91	84	83	86	84
83	69	85	81	74	76	64	78	78	66	75	71	62	72	75	85	76	75	78	76
101	63	82	77	69	72	57	73	73	60	70	66	55	67	70	81	72	70	73	71
125–144**	59	80	75	65	69	52	70	70	56	67	63	50	64	67	79	69	70	70	68
							S	IDC val	ues in t	he CVB	Feed 1	Table 20)21						
13	91	93	92	93	92	89	92	91	89	90	91	89	89	89	96	90	94	94	94
51	85	91	89	87	87	84	87	85	82	86	86	82	84	84	93	84	92	89	88
83	78	89	84	79	80	77	82	77	73	81	78	74	77	78	89	77	89	82	81
101	77	91	84	79	80	78	82	84	73	81	81	77	79	76	90	75	89	83	83
125	68	87	79	67	70	68	73	60	60	75	65	58	66	72	83	67	86	72	68
144	68	87	79	67	70	68	73	60	60	75	65	58	66	72	83	67	86	72	68

*: Calculated with a CF level of 15 g/kg DM
**: Calculated with a CF level of 113 g/kg DM.

3.53 Whey powder and whey powder, low lactose

The SIDC evaluation of whey powder and whey powder, low lactose could not be based on observations for these products, because no observations were found in the literature. The evaluation is based on an initial dataset with 4 observations for whey protein concentrate (average crude protein content was 714 ± 210.8 g/kg DM, with a minimum and maximum value of 385 and 847 g/kg DM, respectively) and 1 observation for whey protein isolate (CP = 914 g/kg DM). The underlying assumption for this decision is that processing of products generally decrease the protein digestibility rather than increasing it.

	it west and highest value reported (g/ rog tv). In the last two lines the pattern norm the CVD reed rable 202 r is given as a relefence																	
Item		Amino acid pattern (g/16g N)																
	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	3
Average **	2.7	2.0	6.4	11.2	9.7	2.2	3.6	7.1	2.0	6.1	5.2	11.1	2.4	17.8	2.0	6.1	4.9	3.1
STDEV	0.44	0.13	0.43	0.50	0.43	0.13	0.27	0.54	0.14	0.12	0.27	0.65	0.12	0.61	0.15	0.19	0.78	0.16
Min	2.3	1.8	5.8	10.7	9.2	2.0	3.3	6.2	1.8	6.0	4.8	10.2	2.3	17.2	1.8	5.8	3.7	3.0
Max	3.3	2.2	7.0	11.9	10.1	2.3	3.9	7.7	2.1	6.2	5.4	12.0	2.5	18.7	2.2	6.3	5.8	3.3
CVB Feed T	CVB Feed Table 2021																	
Average	2.4	1.8	5.1	8.9	7.5	1.5	3.3	5.4	1.4	4.9	4.3	9.1	1.9	15.5	2.0	5.5	4.4	2.4
STDEV	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.2	0.4	0.8	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.5	0.2	0.6	0.2	0.5	0.3	0.3

Table 3.53.1. Amino acid pattern of all observations for whey protein concentrate and isolate: number of observations, average content and STDEV, lowest and highest value reported (g/16g N). In the last two lines the pattern from the CVB Feed Table 2021 is given as a reference. *

*: In this small dataset no values were identified as outlier (values deviating more than 2*STDEV from the average value).

**: When averages deviate more than 2*STDEV from the CVB average they are depicted in red and bold.

Table 3.51.1 shows that for quite many amino acids the average AA content per 100 g protein (which is identical to 9/16gN) deviates more than 2*STDEV from the pattern in the CVB Feed Table. There are two aspects which may be the reason for this. First, in small datasets the standard deviation often is relatively large, having as a result that individual values less frequent are identified as an outlier. Secondly, it may be that the protein composition – and therefore the amino acids composition of whey protein concentrate and isolates is not identical to that of whey (powder).

Table 3.53.2.New values for the standardized ileal digestibility (SIDC; %) of crude protein and amino acids for whey protein concentrate and
isolate: number of observations, average SIDC and STDEV, minimum and maximum values. The SIDC's of whey protein
concentrate and isolate in the CVB Feed Table 2021 is mentioned as a reference. *

Item									S	SIDC (%	5)								
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Ν	2	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	3	5	3
Average SIDC	90.5	98.1	94.6	96.3	97.0	95.7	96.6	91.6	89.3	97.2	94.3	94.1	95.4	91.8	94.6	97.4	88.0	91.2	93.7
STDEV **	4.95	4.53	4.53	1.97	1.82	2.28	1.71	5.55	3.67	5.02	2.49	3.31	2.86	5.33	2.94	17.1	4.34	2.97	6.81
Min	87.0	93.0	89.0	94.0	95.0	92.0	93.9	84.0	84.0	89.0	91.0	90.0	92.0	84.8	91.0	76.0	83.0	87.0	86.0
Max	94.0	104.0	100.0	98.0	99.0	98.0	98.0	98.0	94.0	102.2	97.0	98.0	99.0	98.0	98.0	117.0	91.0	95.0	99.0
	After conversion to an integral number																		
SIDC	91	98	95	96	97	96	97	92	89	97	94	94	95	92	95	97	95***	91	94
							SIDO	C value	es in th	ne CVB	Feed	Table	2021						
	Whey powder, low lactose, ASH<210 g/kg																		
SIDC	92	92	92	92	92	94	94	92	93	92	92	92	92	94	92	92	92	92	92
							Whe	y powo	der, Iov	w lacto	se, AS	6H>210) g/kg						
SIDC	92	92	92	92	92	93	93	92	93	91	92	92	92	94	92	92	92	92	92
									Wh	ey pow	der								
SIDC	90	90	90	90	90	92	92	90	90	88	90	90	90	92	90	89	90	90	90

*: In this small dataset no values were identified as outlier (values deviating more than 2*STDEV from the average value).

**: STDEV > 7% are marked red.

*: For the SIDC of PRO the average SIDC of the other 17 AA is used.

In the current CVB Feed Table (2021) the SIDC evaluation of whey powder is on average 2%-units lower than that of whey powder, low lactose. As per product for most AA identical SIDC's are used, it is evident that the current evaluation is based on an 'educated guess'. Why it was decided to use different SIDC values for whey powder and whey powder, low lactose is not clear. Therefore, it is decided to use the new values – based on observations for whey protein concentrate and isolate – for both whey powder and whey powder, low lactose.

4. References

Below all publications are mentioned from which one or more (sometimes >20) observations have been included in one of the five initial databases. When performing the outlier procedure sometimes a complete observation was removed from the dataset of an individual feedstuff. If from a publication only one or very few observations were inserted in one of the databases, it cannot be excluded that in the final datasets no observation of one of the references cited is included.

- Adeola, O, L.G. Young, E.G. McMillian, and E.T. Moran Jr. 1986. Comparative availability of amino acids in OAC wintri triticale and corn for pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 63, 1862-1869.
- Adeola, O., and D. Ragland. 2012. Ileal digestibility of amino acids in coproducts of corn processing into ethanol for pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 90, 86–88.
- Adeola, O., and D. Ragland. 2016. Comparative ileal amino acid digestibility of distillers' grains for growing pigs. Anim. Nutr. 2 (4), 262-266. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2016.07.008.
- Aderibigbe, A.S., C.S. Park, A. Adebiyi, O.A. Olukosi, and O. Adeola. 2020. Digestibility of amino acids in protein-rich feed ingredients originating from animals, peanut flour, and full-Fat soybeans fed to pigs. Anim. 10, 2062; doi:10.3390/ani10112062.
- Adewole, D.I., A. Rogiewicz, B. Dyck, C.M. Nyachoti, and B.A. Slominski. 2017. Standardized ileal digestible amino acid contents of canola meal from Canadian crushing plants for growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 2670–2679. doi:10.2527/jas2017.1372.
- Aguilera, A., T.C. Reis de Souza, G. Mariscal-Landin, K. Escobar, S. Montano, and M.G. Bernal. 2015. Standardized ileal digestibility of proteins and amino acids in sesame expeller and soya bean meal in weaning piglets. J. Anim. Phys. Anim. Nutr. 99, 728–736. DOI: 10.1111/jpn.12278.
- Almeida, F.N., J.K. Htoo, J. Thomson, and H.H. Stein. 2013. Amino acid digestibility in camelina products fed to growing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 93, 335-343. doi:10.4141/CJAS2012-134.
- Almeida, F.N., J.K. Htoo, J. Thomson, and H.H. Stein. 2013. Amino acid digestibility of heat damaged distillers dried grains with solubles fed to pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechn. 4, 44. http://www.jasbsci.com/content/4/1/44.
- Almeida, F.N., J.K. Htoo, J. Thomson, and H.H. Stein. 2014a. Amino acid digestibility in heat damaged sunflower meal and cottonseed meal fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 585–593.
- Almeida, F.N., J.K. Htoo, J. Thomson, and H.H. Stein. 2014b. Effects of heat treatment on apparent and standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in canola meal fed to growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 187, 44–52.
- Almeida, F.N., G.I. Petersen, and H.H. Stein. 2011. Digestibility of amino acids in corn, corn coproducts, and bakery meal fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 89, 4109–4115.
- An, L.V., T.T.T. Hong, and J.E. Lindberg. 2004. Ileal and total tract digestibility in growing pigs fed cassava root meal diets with inclusion of fresh, dry and ensiled sweet potato. Anim. Feed Sci. Techn. 114, 127–139. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2003.12.007.
- Apolônio, L.R, J.L. Donzele, R.F.M. de Oliveira, A.C. de Souza, F.C. de Oliveira Silva, and S.Bünzen, 2003. Ileal digestibilities of amino acids in of some feedstuffs determined by simple canula T technique with swines. R. Bras. Zootec., 32, 605-614.

- Bailey, H.M., and H.H. Stein. 2019. Raw and roasted pistachio nuts (Pistacia vera L.) are 'good' sources of protein based on their digestible indispensable amino acid score as determined in pigs. J. Sci. Food Agric. 100: 3878–3885. DOI 10.1002/jsfa.10429.
- Baker, K.M., B.G. Kim, and H.H. Stein. 2010. Amino acid digestibility in conventional high protein, or low oligosaccharide varieties of full-fat soybeans and in soybean meal by weanling pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 162, 66–73.
- Baker, K.M., and H.H. Stein. 2009. Amino acid digestibility and concentration of digestible and metabolizable energy in soybean meal produced from conventional, high-protein, or low-oligosaccharide varieties of soybeans and fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 87, 2282–2290.
- Barrera, M., M. Cervantes, W.C. Sauer, A.B. Araiza, N. Torrentera, and M. Cervantes. 2004. Ileal amino acid digestibility and performance of growing pigs fed wheat-based diets supplemented with xylanase. J. Anim. Sci. 82, 1997–2003.
- Batterham, E.S., L.M. Andersen, D.R. Baigent, and R.E. Darnell. 1990. A comparison of the availability and ileal digestibility of lysine in cottonseed and soya-bean meals for grower finisher pigs. British J. Nutr. 64, 663-677.
- Berk, A., 2018. Einsatz von behandelten Saatwickenkörnern (Vicia sativa L.) als eiweißreiches Futtermittel für Monogastrier im ökologischen Landbau (Förderkennzeichen 312-06.01-2815OE106). Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Bundesforschungsinstitut für Tiergesundheit, Institut für Tierernährung, Bundesallee 37, 38116 Braunschweig, 19 Seiten.
- Berrocoso, J.D., O.J. Rojas, Y. Liu, J. Shoulders, J.C. Gonzalez-Vega, and H.H. Stein. 2015. Energy concentration and amino acid digestibility in high protein canola meal, conventional canola meal, and in soybean meal fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 93, 2208–2217.
- Bikker, P and R. Davin, 2020. Use of animal by-products in pig diets: ileal and fecal nutrient digestibility. Report 1774.
- Bindari, Y.R., H.N. Lærke, and J.V. Nørgaard, 2018. J. Sci. Food Agric. 98, 2131–2137. Standardized ileal digestibility and digestible indispensable amino acid score of porcine and bovine hydrolyzates in pigs.
- Brestenský, M., S. Nitrayová, P. Patráš, and J. Heger. 2013. Standardized ileal digestibilities of amino acids and nitrogen in rye barley, soybean meal, maltsprouts, sorghum, wheat germ and broken rice fed to growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 186, 120–124.
- Brestenský, M., S. Nitrayová, P. Patráš, and J. Heger. 2014. Utilization of amino acids of broken rice in growing pigs. J. Microbiol. Biotech. Food Sci. 3 (4), 347-349.
- Caine, C.R., 1997. Ileal recovery of endogenous amino acids in pigs. Chapter 3, Thesis Wageningen.
- Canibe, N., and B.O. Eggum. 1997. Digestibility of dried and toasted peas in pigs. 2. Ileal and total tract digestibilities of amino acids, protein and other nutrients. Anim. Feed Sci. Techn. 64, 311-325.
- Casas, G.A., J.A.S. Almeida, and H.H. Stein. 2015. Amino acid digestibility in rice coproducts fed to growing pigs. Anim. Feed. Sci. Technol 207, 150–158.
- Casas, G.A., N.W. Jaworski, J.K. Htoo, and H.H. Stein. 2017. Ileal digestibility of amino acids in selected feed ingredients fed to young growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 96, 2361-2370.

- Casas, G.A., and H.H. Stein. 2017. The ileal digestibility of most amino acids is greater in red dog than in wheat middlings when fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 2718–2725. doi:10.2527/jas2017.1515.
- Cervantes-Pahm, S.K., Y. Liu, and H.H. Stein. 2014b. Digestible indispensable amino acid score (DIAAS) and digestible amino acids in eight cereal grains. Br. J. Nutr. 111, 1663–1672.
- Cervantes-Pahm, S.K., and H.H. Stein. 2008. Effect of dietary soybean oil and soybean protein concentrate on the concentration of digestible amino acids in soybean products fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 86, 1841–1849.
- Cervantes-Pahm, S.K., and H.H. Stein. 2010. Ileal digestibility of amino acids in conventional, fermented, and enzyme-treated soybean meal and in soy protein isolate, fish meal, and casein fed to weanling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 88, 2674–2683
- Chang, C.J., T. D. Tanksley Jr., D.A. Knabe, and T. Zebrowska. 1987. Effects of different heat treatments during processing on nutrient digestibility of soybean meal in growing swine, J. Anim. Sci. 65, 1273-1282.
- Chen, J., K. Wedekind, J. Escobar, and M. Vazquez-Añón. 2020. Trypsin inhibitor and urease activity of soybean meal products from different countries and impact of trypsin inhibitor on ileal amino acid digestibility in pig. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 97: 1151–1163. DOI 10.1002/aocs.12394
- Chen, Y.F., F. Wu, P.L. Li, Z.Q. Lyu, L. Liu, M.B. Lyu, F.L. Wang, and C.H. Lai. 2016. Energy content and amino acid digestibility of flaxseed expellers fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2016.94:5295–5307. doi:10.2527/jas2016-0578.
- Cheng, D., L. Liu, J. Zang, and F. Wang. 2014. National value of ten peanut meals for finishing pigs: chemical composition and amino acid digestibility. J. Anim. Vet. Advances 13 (17), 1031-1038.
- Chilomer, K, M. Kasprowicz-Potocka, P. Gulewicz, and A. Frankiewicz, 2013. The influence of lupin seed germination on the chemical composition and standardized ileal digestibility of protein and amino acids in pigs. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 97, 639–646
- Cho, S.B., J.H. Kim, In. K. Han, H.K. Moon, B.J. Chae, and W.T. Cho. 1997. Apparent digestibility of amino acids, energy and proximate nutrients in dietary protein sources for young pigs. AJAS 10 (6), 643-651.
- Choi, Y.-H., D. W. Kim, and J.S. Kim. 2020. Evaluation of apparent ileal and standardized ileal digestibility of amino acid in feed ingredients to alterate the protein sources for weaned pigs. J. Korea Academia-Industrial cooperation Society 21 (6), 358-365. https://doi.org/10.5762/KAIS.2020.21.6.358.
- Chung, T.K., and D.H. Baker. 1992. Apparent and true amino acid digestibility of a crystalline amino acid mixture and of casein: comparison of values obtained with ileal-cannulated pigs and cecectomized cockerels. J. Anim. Sci. 70, 3781-3790.
- Cotten, B.M., 2015. Investigating the amino acid digestibility of alternative protein sources and determining the impact of dietary fiber on energy, nitrogen, and amino acid digestibility in growing pigs. Thesis, Perdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana.
- Cousins, B.W., T.D. Tanksley Jr., D.A. Knabe, and T. Zebrowska. 1981. Nutrient digestibility and performance of pigs fed sorghums varying in tannin concentration. J. Anim. Sci. 53 (6), 1524-1537.
- Cristobal, M., J.P. Acosta, S.A. Lee, and H.H. Stein. 2020. A new source of high-protein distillers dried grains with solubles (DDGS) has greater digestibility of amino acids and

energy, but less digestibility of phosphorus, than de-oiled DDGS when fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 98 (7), 1–9. doi:10.1093/jas/skaa200

- Crosbie, M., C. Zhu, A.K. Shoveller, and L. Huber. 2020. Standardized ileal digestible amino acids and net energy contents in full fat and defatted black soldier fly larvae meals (Hermatia illucens) fed to growing pigs. Transl. Anim. Sci. 4, 1-10
- Curry, S.M., D.M. Navarro, F.N. Almeida, J.A. Almeida, and H.H. Stein. 2014. Amino acid digestibility in low-fat distillers dried grains with solubles fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 5: 27. doi:10.1186/2049-1891-5-27.
- Dadalt, J.C., C. Gallardo, G.V. Polycarpo, F.E.L. Budiño, A. Rogiewicz, D.A. Berto, and M.A. Trindade Neto. 2016. Ileal amino acid digestibility of broken rice fed to postweaned piglets with or without multicarbohydrase and phytase supplementation. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 29 (10), 1483-1489. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.15.0855
- Dadalt, J.C., D.E. Velayudhan, M.A. Trindade Neto, B.A. Slominskia, and C.M. Nyachoti. 2016. Ileal amino acid digestibility in high protein sunflower meal and pea protein isolate fed to growing pigs with or without multi-carbohydrase supplementation. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 221, 62–69. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.08.015.
- De Lange, C.F., W.B. Souffrant, and W.C. Sauer. 1990. Real ileal protein and amino acid digestibitilities in feedstuffs growing pigs as determined with the 15N-isotope dilution technique. J. Anim. Sci. 68, 409-418.
- Dilger, R.N., J.S. Sands, D. Ragland, and O. Adeola. 2004. Digestibility of nitrogen and amino acids in soybean meal with added soyhulls. J. Anim. Sci. 82, 715–724.
- Eklund, M., W.R. Caine, W.C. Sauer, G.S. Huang, G. Diebold, M. Schollenberger, and R. Mosenthin. 2012. True and standardized ileal digestibilities and specific ileal endogenous recoveries of crude protein and amino acid in soybean meal, rapeseed meal and peas fed to growing pigs. Livestock Sci. 145, 174–182. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2012.01.016.
- Eklund, M., N. Sauer, S. Hörner, M. Rademacher, and R. Mosenthin. 2012. Comparative evaluation of standardized ileal amino acid digestibility in protein supplements for piglets. J. Anim. Sci. 90, 155–157.
- Eklund, M., R. Mosenthin, H-P. Piepho, and Meike Rademacher, 2008. Estimates of basal ileal endogenous losses of amino acids by regression analysis and determination of standardised ileal amino acid digestibilities from casein in newly weaned pigs. J. Sci Food Agric 88, 641–651.
- Eklund, M., M. Rademacher, W.C. Sauer, R. Blank, and R. Mosenthin. 2014. Standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in alfalfa meal, sugar beet pulp, and wheat bran compared to wheat and protein ingredients for growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 1037– 1043.
- Eklund, M., N. Sauer, F. Rink, M. Rademacher, and R. Mosenthin. 2012. Effect of soybean meal origin on standardized ileal amino acid digestibility in piglets J. Anim. Sci. 90, 188– 190. doi:10.2527/jas53896
- Eklund, M., N. Sauer, F. Schöne, U. Messerschmidt, P. Rosenfelder, J.K. Htoo, and R. Mosenthin. 2015. Effect of processing of rapeseed under defined conditions in a pilot plant on chemical composition and standardized ileal amino acid digestibility in rapeseed meal for pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 93,2813–2825.
- Espinoda, C.D., M.S.F. Oliveira, L.V. Lagos, T.L. Weeden, A.J. Mercado, and H.H. Stein. J. Anim. Sci. 98, 1-9. Nutritional value of a new source of fermented soybean meal fed to growing pigs.

- Espinosa, C.D., S.A. Lee, and H.H. Stein. 2019. Digestibility of amino acids, energy, acid hydrolyzed ether extract, and neutral detergent fiber, and concentration of digestible and metabolizable energy in low-oil distillers dried grains with solubles fed to growing pigs. Transl. Anim. Sci. 3, 662–675. doi: 10.1093/tas/txz025
- Espinosa,C.D., S. A. Lee, and H.H. Stein. 2019. Digestibility of amino acids, energy, acid hydrolyzed ether extract, and neutral detergent fiber, and concentration of digestible and metabolizable energy in low-oil distillers dried grains with solubles fed to growing pigs. Transl. Anim. Sci. 3, 662–675. doi: 10.1093/tas/txz025.
- Fan, M.Z., and W.C. Sauer. 1994. Amino acid and energy digestibility in peas (Pisum sativum) from white-flowered spring cultivars for growing pigs. J. Sci. Food Agric. 64, 249-256.
- Fan, M.Z., and W.C. Sauer. 1995. Determination of apparent ileal amino acid digestibility in barley and canola meal for pigs with the direct, difference, and regression methods. J.Anim.Sci.73, 2364-2374.
- Fan, M.Z., and W.C. Sauer. 1995. Determination of apparent ileal amino acid digestibility in peas for pigs with the direct, difference and regression methods. Livest. Prod. Sci. 44, 61-72.
- Fan, M.Z., and W.C. Sauer. 1999. Variability of apparent ileal amino acid digestibility in different pea samples for growing-finishing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci 79,67–475.
- Fan, M.Z., and W.C. Sauer. 2002. Determination of true ileal amino acid digestibility and the endogenous amino acid outputs associated with barley samples for growing-finishing pigs by the regression analysis technique. J. Anim. Sci. 2002 (80), 1593–1605.
- Fan, M.Z., and W.C. Sauer. 2003. Determination of variability of apparent ileal amino acid digestibility values in barley samples for growing-finishing pigs with dual digestibility markers. J. Anim. and Feed Sci. 12, 785–802.
- Fan, M.Z., W.C. Sauer, and C.F.M. De Lange. 1995. Amino acid digestibility in soybean meal, extruded soybean and full-fat canola for early-weaned pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 52, 189-203.
- Fan, M.Z., W.C. Sauer, and V.M. Gabert. 1996. Variability of apparent ileal amino acid digestibility in canola meal for growing-finishing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci.76, 563–569.
- Fastinger, N.D., and D.C. Mahan. 2006. Determination of the ileal amino acid and energy digestibilities of corn distillers dried grains with solubles using grower-finisher pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 84, 1722–1728. doi:10.2527/jas.2005-308.
- Favero, A., D. Ragland, S.L. Veira, A. Owusu-Asiedu, and O. Adeola, 2014. Digestibility marker and ileal amino acid digestibility in phytase-supplemented soybean or canola meals for growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 5583-5592.
- Femández, J.A., and E.S. Batterham. 1995. The nutritive value of lupin-seed and dehulled lupin-seed meals as protein sources for growing pigs as evaluated by different techniques. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 53, 279-296.
- Fernandes-Figares, I., M,A. Garc´ıa, R. Ruiz, and L.A. Rubio, 2008. Evaluation of barley and triticale as feed ingredients in growing Iberian pigs: amino acid and carbohydrate ileal digestibility. J. Sci. Food Agric. 88, 870–876.
- Fevrier, C., Y. Lechevestirier, Y. Lebreton, and Y. Jaguelin-Peyraud, 2001. Prediction of the standardized ileal true digestibility of amino acids from the chemical composition of oilseed meals in the growing pig. Anim. Feed Sci. Techn. 90, 103 - 115.

- Fouhse, J.M., J. Gao, T. Vasanthan, M. Izydorczyk, A.D. Beattie, and R.T. Zijlstra. 2017. Whole-grain fiber composition influences site of nutrient digestion, standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids, and whole-body energy utilization in grower pigs. J. Nutr. 147, 29–36.
- Friesen, M.J., E. Kiarie, and C.M. Nyachoti, 2006. Ileal amino acid digestibility and reactive lysine content in peas (Pisum sativum) fed to growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 129, 210–223.
- Fung, L., P.E. Urriola, and G.C. Shurson. 2019. Energy, amino acid, and phosphorus digestibility and energy prediction of thermally processed food waste sources for swine. Transl. Anim. Sci. 3, 676–691. doi: 10.1093/tas/txz028
- Fung, L., P.E. Urriola, and G.C. Shurson. 2019. Energy, amino acid, and phosphorus digestibility and energy prediction of thermally processed food waste sources for swine. Transl. Anim. Sci. 3, 676–691. doi: 10.1093/tas/txz028
- Furuya, S., and Y. Kaji. 1989. Estimation of the true ileal digestibility of amino acids and nitrogen from their apparent values for growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 26, 271-285.
- Furuya, S., Kaji, Y., 1991. Additivity of the apparent and true ileal digestible amino acid supply in barley, maize, wheat or soya-bean meal based diets for growing pigs. Animal Feed Science and Technology 32, 321-331.
- Gdala, J., Buraczewska, L., Grała, W., 1992. The chemical composition of different types and varieties of pea and the digestion of their protein in pigs. J. Anim. and Feed Sc. 1, 71-79.
- Goebel, K.P., Stein, H.H., 2011. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 24, 88–95. Ileal digestibility of amino acids in conventional and low-Kunitz soybean products fed to weanling pigs.
- Goerke, M., Eklund, M., Sauer, N., Rademacher, N., Piepho, H. -P., Mosenthin, R., 2012. J. Anim. Sc. 90, 4883-4895. doi: 10.2527/jas.2011-5026. Standardized ileal digestibilities of crude protein, amino acids, and contents of antinutritional factors, mycotoxins, and isoflavones of European soybean meal imports fed to piglets.
- González-Vega, J.C., Kim, B.G., Htoo, J.K., Lemme, A., Stein, H.H., 2011. Amino acid digestibility in heated soybean meal fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 89, 3617-3625. doi: 10.2527/jas. 2010-3465.
- González-Vega, J.C., Stein, H.H., 2012. Amino acid digestibility in canola, cottonseed, and sunflower products fed to finishing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 90,4391–4400.
- Gottlob, R.O., DeRouchey, J.M., Tokach, M.D., Goodband, R.D., Dritz, S.S., Nelssen, J.L., Hastad, C.W., Knabe, D.A., 2006. Amino acid and energy digestibility of protein sources for growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 84, 1396–1402.
- Grageola, F., Landero, J.L., Beltranena, E., Cervantes, M., Araiza, A., Zijlstra, R.T., 2013. Energy and amino acid digestibility of expeller-pressed canola meal and cold-pressed canola cake in ileal-cannulated finishing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 186, 169– 176. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2013.10.010.
- Grala, W., Verstegen, M.W., Jansman, A.J., Huisman, J., Van Leeuwen, P., 1998. Ileal apparent protein and amino acid digestibilities and endogenous nitrogen losses in pigs fed soybean and rapeseed products. J. Anim.Sci. 76, 557-568. http://jas.fass.org/content/76/2/557
- Grala, W., Verstegen, M.W., Jansman, A.J., Huisman, J., Van Leeuwen, P., 1999. Apparent protein digestibility and recovery of endogenous nitrogen at the terminal ileum of pigs fed diets containing various soyabean products, peas or rapeseed hulls. Anim. Feed Sci. Techn. 80, 231-245.

- Green, S. and Kiener, T., 1989. Digestibilities of nitrogen and amino acids in soy-bean, sunflower, meat and rapeseed meals measures with pigs and poultry. Anim. Prod. 1989, 48: 157-179
- Green S., Bertrand, S.L., Duron, M.J.C., Maillard, R., 1987. Digestibility of Amino Acids in Maize, Wheat and Barley Meal, Measured in Pigs with Ileo-rectal Anastomosis and Isolation of the Large Intestine. J. Sci. Food Agric. 41, 29-43.
- Green S., Bertrand, S.L., Duron, M.J.C., Maillard, R., 1988. Digestibility of Amino Acids in Soya-bean, Sunflower and Groundnut Meal, Measured in Pigs with Ileo-rectal Anastomosis and Isolation of the Large Intestine. J. Sci. Food Agric. 42, 119-128.
- Green, S., 1988. A note on amino acid digestibility measured in pigs, with pre-or post-valve ileo-rectal anastomoses, fed soybean, pea and meat meals. Anim. Prod. 47, 317-320.
- Grosjean, F., Jondreville, C., Williatte-Hazouard, I., Skiba, F., Carrouée, B., Gâtel, F., 2000. Ileal digestibility of protein and amino acids of feed peas with different trypsin inhibitor activity in pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 80: 643–652.
- Gutierrez, N. A., N. V. L. Serão, B. J. Kerr, R. T. Zijlstra, and J. F. Patience, 2014. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 4505–4517. Relationships among dietary fiber components and the digestibility of energy, dietary fiber, and amino acids and energy content of nine corn coproducts fed to growing pigs.
- Han, F., Moughan, P.J., Li, J., Pang, S., 2020. Digestible Indispensable Amino Acid Scores (DIAAS) of Six Cooked Chinese Pulses. Nutrients 12, 3831; doi:10.3390/nu12123831
- Han, Y.K., I. H. Kim, J. W. Hong, O. S. Kwon, S. H. Lee, J. H. Kim 1, B. J. Min and W. B. Lee. 2003. Asian-Aust. Apparent Ileal Digestibility of Nutrient in Plant Protein Feedstuffs for Finishing Pigs. J. Anim Sci. 16, 1020-1024.
- Haydon, K.D., Hobbs, S.E., 1991. Nutrient digestibilities of soft winter wheat, improved triticale cultivars, and pearl millet for finishing pigs. J.Anim, Sci. 69, 719-725.
- Heinz, T., Hennig, U., Wünsche, W., Henk, G., Untersuchungen zur präzäkalen und gesamtintestinalen Nährstoffverdaulichkeit und Aminosäurenresorption von Futterhefen beim Schwein. Archives of Animal Nutrition 39 (12), 1007-1019. DOI: 10.1080/17450398909434376
- Hennig, U., J. Wünsche, W.B. Souffrant, G. Peters and F. Kreienbring. 1993. Archives of Animal Nutrition, 43, 215-226. Untersuchungen zur präzäkalen verdaulichkeit von mais, sonnenblumen- baumwoll-, leinund sojaextraktionsschrot bei schweinen mit ileorektalanastomosen.
- Hennig, U., Hackl, W., Priepke, A., Tuchscherer, A., Souffrant, W.B., Metges, C.C., 2008. Comparison of ileal apparent, standardized and true digestibilities of amino acids in pigs fed wheat and lupine seeds. Livestock Science 118, 61–71. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2008.01.010
- Hennig, U., Kuhla, S. Souffrant, W., A. Tuchscherer, C.C. M etges, 2006. Arch. Anuimal Nutrition 60, 205-217. Effect of partial dehulling of two- and six-row barley varieties on precaecal digestibility of amino acids in pigs
- Hodgkinson, S.M., Montoya, C.A., Scholten, P.T., Rutherfurd, S.M., Moughan, P.J., 2018.
 Cooking Conditions Affect the True Ileal
 Digestible Amino Acid Content and Digestible Indispensable Amino Acid Score (DIAAS)
 of Bovine Meat as Determined in Pigs. J. Nutr. 148, 1564–1569. doi:10.1093/jn/nxy153.
- Holmes, J.H.G., Bayley, H.S., Leadbeater, P.A., 1974. Digestion of protein in small and large intestine of the pig. Br. J. Nutr. 32, 479-489.

- Hossain, M.M., Begum, M., Park, J.H., Lee, S.J., Jang, K.H., Hong Y.H., Cho, S.J., Kim, I.H., 2016. Apparent total tract digestibility and ileal digestibility of dry matter, nitrogen, energy and amino acids in conventional, Bacillus subtilis-fermented and enzyme-treated soybean meal fed to weanling pigs. Veterinarni Medicina 61 (12), 669–680. doi: 10.17221/389/2014-VETMED
- Huang, B., Huang, C., Lyu, Z., Chen, Y., Li, P., Liu, L., Lai, C., 2018. Available energy and amino acid digestibility of defatted rice bran fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 96, 3138–3150. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky191
- Huang, B.B., Li. Wang, Lu. Wang, Z.Q. Lyu, C.H. Lai and D.F. Li. 2021. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 280, 115067. Concentration of available energy and digestibility of amino acids in extruded and pelleted defatted rice bran fed to growing pigs.
- Huang, Q., Piao, X.S., Ren, P., Li, D.F., 2012. Prediction of digestible and metabolizable energy content and standardized ileal amino acid digestibility in wheat shorts and red dog for growing pigs. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 25 (12), 1748–1758.
- Huang, S.X., W. C. Sauer, M. Pickard, S. Li, and R. T. Hardin, 1998. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 78, 81–87. Effect of micronization on energy, starch and amino acid digestibility in hulless barley for young pigs.
- Huang, S.X., Sauer, W.C., Hargreaves, L., Pickard, M., Li, S., 1997. Effect of micronization on energy, starch and amino acid digestibilities in wheat for young pigs. J. Anim. and Feed Sc. 6, 353-368.
- Hugman J., L.F. Wang, E. Beltranena, J.K. Htoo, T. Vasanthan and R. Zijlstra. 2021. Animal Feed Science and Technology 275 (2021) 114838. Energy and amino acid digestibility of raw, steam-pelleted and extruded red lentil in growing pigs
- Ibagon, J.A., S.A. Lee and H.H. Stein. 2021. Journal of Animal Science, 2021, Vol. 99, 1–9. Sunflower expellers have greater ileal digestibility of amino acids than sunflower meal, but there are only minor variations among different sources of sunflower meal when fed to growing pigs.
- Imbeah, M., Sauer, W.C., Mosenthin, R., 1988. The prediction of the digestibility of amino acid supply in barley-soybean meal or canola meal diets and pancreatic enzyme secretion in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 66, 1409-1417.
- Ivan, M., Bowland, J.P., 1976. Digestion of nutrients in the small intestine of pigs fed diets containing raw and autoclaved Faba beans. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 56, 451-456.
- Ivan, M., Farrell, D.J., 1976. Nutritional evaluation of wheat. Disappearance of components in digesta of pigs prepared with two re-entrant cannulae. Anim. Prod. 23, 111-119.
- Jacela, J.Y., DeRouchey, J.M., Dritz, S.S., Tokach, M.D., Goodband, R.D., Nelssen, J.L., Sulabo, R.C., Thaler, R.C., Brandts, L., Little, D.E., Prusa, K.J., 2011. Amino acid digestibility and energy content of deoiled (solvent-extracted) corn distillers dried grains with solubles for swine and effects on growth performance and carcass characteristics. J. Anim. Sci. 89, 1817–1829. doi:10.2527/jas.2010-3097.
- Jacela, J.Y., Frobose, H.L., DeRouchey, J.M., Tokach, M.D., Dritz, S.S., Goodband, R.D., Nelssen, J.L., 2010. Amino acid digestibility and energy concentration of high-protein corn dried distillers' grains and high-protein sorghum dried distillers grains with solubles for swine. J. Anim. Sci. 88, 3617–3623. doi:10.2527/jas.2010-3098.
- Jansman, A.J.M., Huisman, J., van der Poel, A.F.B., 1993. Ileal and faecal digestibility in piglets of field beans (Vicia faba L:) varying in tannin content. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 42, 83–96

- Jeon, S.M., Hosseindoust, A., Choi, J.H., Kim, M.J., Kim, K.Y., Lee, J.H., Kil, D.Y., Kim, B.G., Chae, B.J., 2019. Comparative standardized ileal amino acid digestibility and metabolizable energy contents of main feed ingredients for growing pigs when adding dietary b-mannanase. Anim. Nutri. 5, 359-365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2019.07.001
- Jeong, J.S., Park, J.W., Lee, S.I., Kim, I.H., 2016. Apparent ileal digestibility of nutrients and amino acids in soybean meal, fish meal, spray-dried plasma protein and fermented soybean meal to weaned pigs. Anim. Sci. J. 87, 697–702. doi: 10.1111/asj.12483
- Jezierny, D., Mosenthin, R., Sauer, N., Roth, S., Piepho, H.-P., Rademacher, M., Eklund, M., 2011. Chemical composition and standardised ileal digestibilities of crude protein and amino acids in grain legumes for growing pigs. Livestock Sci. 138, 229–243. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2010.12.024
- Ji, Y., Zuo, L., Wang, F., Li, D., Lai, C., 2012. Nutritional value of 15 corn gluten meals for growing pigs: chemical composition: energy content and amino acid digestibility. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 66, 283–302.
- Jondreville, C., van den Broecke, J., Grosjean, F., Van Cauwenberghe, S., Gatel, F., 2000. Ileal digestibility of amino acids in maize gluten feed for pigs. J. Anim. Feed Sci. (9), 99 -111.
- Jorgensen, H., Sauer, W.C., Thacker, P.A., 1984. Amino acid availibilities in soybean meal, sunflower meal, fish meal and meat and bone meal fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 58 (4), 926-934.
- Just, A., Jorgensen, H., Fernandez, J.A., 1985. Correlations of protein deposited in growing female pigs to ileal and faecal digestible crude protein and amino acids. Livestock Prod. Sci. 12, 145-159.
- Kaewtapee, C., Mosenthin, R, Nenning, S., Wiltafski, M., Schäffler, M., Eklund, M., Rosenfelder-Kuon, P., 2018. Standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in European soya bean and rapeseed products fed to growing pigs. European soya bean and rapeseed products fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 102, 695–705. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpn.12814
- Kahindi, R.K., Thacker, P.A., Nyachoti, C.M., 2015. Nutrient digestibility in diets containing low-phytate barley, low-phytate field pea and normal-phytate field pea, and the effects of microbial phytase on energy and nutrient digestibility in the low and normal-phytate field pea fed

to pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 203, 79–87. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.02.009

- Kahindi, R.K., Woyeng, T.A., Thacker, P.A., Nyachoti, C.M., 2014. Energy and amino acid digestibility of camelina cake fed to growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 193, 93-101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2014.03.012
- Kasprowicz. M. and A. Frankiewicz, 2004. J. Animal and Feed Sci.13, 463-473. Apparent and standardized ileal digestibility of protein and amino acids of several field bean and pea varieties in growing pigs
- Kasprzak, M.M., J.G.M. Houdijk, O.A. Olukosi, H. Appleyard, S.P.J Kightley, P. Carré, T. Sutton and J. Wiseman. 2018. The content and standardized ileal digestibility of crude protein and amino acids in rapeseed co-products fed to pigs. Livestock Sci. 208, 22–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2017.11.024

- Kaufmann, C., Sauer, W.C., Cervantes, M., Zhang, Y., Rademacher, J.H.M., Htoo, J.K., 2005. Amino acid and energy digestibility in different sources of rice bran for growing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 85, 355–363.
- Kerr, B.J., Urriola, P.E., Jha, R., Thomson, J.E., Curry, S.M., Shurson, G.C., 2019. Amino acid composition and digestible amino acid content in animal protein by-product meals fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 97, 4540– 4547. doi:10.1093/jas/skz294
- Kiarie, E., Lopez, P., Furedi, C., Nyachoti, C.M., 2013. Amino acids and energy utilization in zero-tannin faba bean and co-fermented wheat and corn dried distillers' grains with solubles fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 91, 1728–1735.
- Kies, A.K., Moughan, P.J., Smith, W.C., 1985. The apparent and true ileal digestibility of nitrogen and amino acids in lactic casein for the growing pig. Animal Feed Science and Technology 16, 169--178.
- Kil, D.Y., Park, C.S., Son, A.R., Ji, S.Y., Kim, B.G., 2014. Digestibility of crude protein and amino acids in corn grains from different origins for pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 196, 68–75. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2014.06.008
- Kim, B.G., Kil, D.Y., Zhang, Y., Stein, H.H., 2012. Concentrations of analyzed or reactive lysine, but not crude protein, may predict the concentration of digestible lysine in distillers dried grains with solubles fed to pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 90, 3798–3808.
- Kim, B.G., Liu, Y., Stein, H.H., 2017. Effects of ileal digesta collection time on standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in corn, soybean meal, and distiller's dried grains with solubles fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 789–798. doi:10.2527/jas2016.1082
- Kim, B.G., Petersen, G.I., Hinson, R.B., Allee, G.L., Stein, H.H., 2009. Amino acid digestibility and energy concentration in a novel source of high-protein distillers dried grains and their effects on growth performance of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 87, 4013–4021.
- Kim, I.H., Hancock, J.D., Hines, R.H., 2000. Influence of Processing Method on Ileal Digestibility of Nutrients from Soybeans in Growing and Finishing Pigs. Asian Austr. J. Anim. Sci. 13 (2), 192-199.
- Kim, J.C., Mullan, B.P., Heo, J.M., Hansen, C.F., Pluske, J.R., 2009. Decreasing dietary particle size of lupins increases apparent ileal amino acid digestibility and alters fermentation characteristics in the gastrointestinal tract of pigs. Br. J. Nutr. 102, 350–360. doi:10.1017/S0007114508191231
- Kim, K., Goel, A., Lee, S., Choi, Y., Chae, B., 2015. Comparative ileal amino acid digestibility and growth performance in growing pigs fed different level of canola meal. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 57, 21.
- Knabe, D.A., LaRue, D.C., Gregg, E.J., Martinez, G.M., Tanksley, T.D. Jr., 1989. Apparent digestibility of nitrogen and amino acids in protein feedstuffs by growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 67, 441-458.
- Kong, C., Kang, H.G., Kim, B.G., Kim, K.H., 2014. Ileal Digestibility of Amino Acids in Meat Meal and Soybean Meal Fed to Growing Pigs. Asian Austr. J. Anim. Sci. 27, 990-995. http://dx.doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2014.14217.
- Koo, B., Kim, J.W., Nyachoti, C.M., 2020. Standardized ileal digestible amino acid contents in flaxseed and flaxseed meals fed to growing-finishing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 101, 381-385.
- Kortelainen, T., Siljander-Rasi, H., Tuori, M., Partanen, K., 2014. Ileal digestibility of amino acids in novel organic protein feedstuffs for pigs: Black soldier fly larvae meal (Hermetia illucens). Report, Agrifood Research, Finland, 32 pp.

- Lagos, L.V., Stein, H.H., 2017. Chemical composition and amino acid digestibility of soybean meal produced in the United States, China, Argentina, Brazil, or India. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 1626–1636. doi:10.2527/jas2017.1440.
- Lagos, L.V., Stein, H.H., 2020. Torula yeast has greater digestibility of amino acids and phosphorus, but not energy, compared with a commercial source of fish meal fed to weanling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2020, 1–9. doi:10.1093/jas/skz375.
- Lan, Y., Opapeju, F.O., Nyachoti, C.M., 2007. True ileal protein and amino acid digestibilities in wheat dried distillers' grains with solubles fed to finishing pigs. Animal Feed Sci. and Technol. 140, 155–163. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2007.02.004.
- Le Thanh, B.V., Beltranena, E., Zhou, X., Wang, L.F., Zijlstra, R.T., 2019. Amino acid and energy digestibility of Brassica napus canola meal from different crushing plants fed to ileal-cannulated grower pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 252, 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2019.04.008.
- Le, M.H.A., Buchet, A.D.G., Beltranena, E., Gerrits, W.J.J. Zijlstra, R.T., 2017. Digestibility and intestinal fermentability of canola meal from Brassica juncea and Brassica napus fed to ileal-cannulated grower pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 234, 43–53. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2017.09.005.
- Lee, S.A., Ahn, J.Y., Son, A.R., Kim, B.G., 2020. Standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in cereal grains and co-products in growing pigs. Asian Austr. J. Animal Sci. 33, 1148-1155. DOI: 10.5713/ajas.19.0449
- Leterme, P., Thieleman, C., Bodart, C., Baudart, E., Thewis, A., 1989. Valeur nutritive et digestibilité apparente iléale et fécale des acides amines du triticale, du froment et de l' escourgeon chez le porc. Revue de l'Agriculture- Landbouwtijdschrift, 1989, 42 (2), 305-316.
- Li, D, G. F. Yi, S. Y. Qiao, C. T. Zheng, R. J. Wang, P. Thacker, X. S. Piao and In K. Han. 2000. Nutritional Evaluation of Chinese Nonconventional Protein Feedstuffs for Growing-Finishing Pigs - 1. Linseed Meal. Asian-Aus. J. Anim, Sci., 13, 39-45.
- Li, D., Pengbin, X., Liming, G., Shijun, F., Canhai, H., 2002. Determination of Apparent Ileal Amino Acid Digestibility in Rapeseed Meal and Cake Processed at Different Temperatures Using the Direct and Difference Method with Growing Pigs. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 56, 339–349. DOI: 10.1080/0003942021000039520.
- Li, D., Xu, X.X., Qiao, S.Y., Zheng, C.T., Chen, Y., Piao, X.S., Han, In K., Thacker, P., 2000. Growth performance of growing-finishing pigs fed diets supplemented with Chinese cottonseed meal based on amino acid digestibility. Asian -Austr. J. Anim. Sci. 13 (4), 521-527.
- Li, P., Wang, F., Wu, F., Wang, J., Liu, L., La, C., 2015. Chemical composition, energy and amino acid digestibility in double-low rapeseed meal fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. and Biotechnol. 6, 37. DOI: 10.1186/s40104-015-0033-0.
- Li, P.L., Wu, F., Chen, Y.F., Wang, J.R., Guo, P.P., Li, Z.C., Liu, L., Lai, C.H., 2015. Determination of the energy content and amino acid digestibility of double-low rapeseed cakes fed to growing pigs. Anim. Feed. Sci. Technol. 210, 243–253.
- Li, P.L., Chen, Y.F., Lyu, Z.Q., Yu, S.B., Wu, F., Huang, B.B., Liu, L., Lai, C.H., 2017. Concentration of metabolizable energy and digestibility of amino acids in Chinese produced dehulled double-low rapeseed expellers and non-dehulled double-low rapeseed co-products fed to growing-finishing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 234, 10–19. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2017.09.001.

- Li, R., Hou, G.F., Song, Z.H., Zhao, J.F., Fan, Z.Y., Hou, D-X., He, X., 2019. Nutritional value of enzyme-treated soybean meal, concentrated degossypolized cottonseed protein, dried porcine solubles and fish meal for 10- to -20 kg pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 252, 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2019.04.002.
- Li, X.L., Yuan, S.L., Piao, X.S., Lai, C.H., Zang, J.J., Ding, Y.H., Han, L.J., Han, I.K., 2006. The Nutritional Value of Brown Rice and Maize for Growing Pigs. Asian Austr. Anim. Sci. 19 (6), 892-897.
- Li. D, X. X. Xu, S. Y. Qiao, C. T. Zheng, Y. Chen, X. S. Piao, In K. Han and P. Thacker, 2000. Nutritive Values of Chinese Peanut Meal for Growing-Finishing Pigs. Asain Austr. J. Anim. Sci, 13, 369-375.
- Liang, G., Li, D., Wang, F., Dai, J., Yang, W., 2003. Evaluation of apparent ileal digestibility of amino acids in chinese corn by-products for growing-finishing pigs, Arch. Anim. Nutr. 57 (2), 117-125. DOI: 10.1080/0003942031000107316
- Lin, F.D., Kabe, D.A., Tanksley, T.D., 1987. Apparent digestibility of amino acids, gross energy and starch in corn, sorghum, wheat, barley, oat, groats and wheat middlings for growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 64, 1655-1663.
- Liu, D., Liu, L., Li, D., Wang, F., 2013. Energy content and amino acid digestibility in hulled and dehulled corn and the performance of weanling pigs fed diets containing hulled or dehulled corn. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 67 (4), 301–313. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1745039X.2013.818761
- Liu, D.W., Zang, J.J., Liu, L., Jaworski, N.W., Fan, Z.J., Wang, T.T., Li, D.F., Wang, F.L., 2014. Energy content and amino acid digestibility of extruded and dehulled-extruded corn by pigs and its effect on the performance of weaned pigs. Czech J. Anim. Sci. 59 (2), 69–83.
- Liu, J.B., Yan, H.L., Liao, Y.P., Xie, Z.J., Yin, Y.L., 2020. Effects of feed intake level on the additivity of apparent and standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in diets for growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Techn. 266 (2020) 114525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114525.
- Liu, J.D., Li, Q.Y., Zeng, Z.K., Li, P., Xu, X., Wang, H.L., Zhang, S., Piao, X.S., 2015. Determination and prediction of the amino acid digestibility of sunflower seed meals in growing pigs. Asian Austr. J. Anim. Sci. 28, 86–94.
- Liu, X., Zhang, B., Liu, H., Zhang, G., Zhao, J., Liu, L., Piao, X., Song, H., Zhang, S., Li, Y., 2020. Determination of the available energy values and amino acid digestibility of Flammulina velutipes stem waste and its effects on carcass trait and meat quality fed to growing-finishing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechn. 11, 41. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-020-00449-y.
- Liu, Y., Jaworski, N.W., Rojas, O.J., Stein, H.H., 2016. Energy concentration and amino acid digestibility in high protein canola meal conventional canola meal, and in soybean meal fed to growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 212, 52–62.
- Liu, Y., Song, M., Almeida, F.N., Tilton, S.L., Cecava, M.J., Stein, H.H., 2014a. Energy concentration and amino acid digestibility in corn and corn co-products from the wet-milling industry fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 4547–4556.
- Liu, Y., Song, M., Maison, T., Stein, H.H., 2014b. Effects of protein concentration and heat treatment on concentration of digestible and metabolizable energy and on amino acid digestibility in four sources of canola meal fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 4466–4477.

- Liu, Z., Liu, J., Chen, L., Lv, S., Liu, L., Tang, X., Zhang, H., 2018. Additivity of standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in mixed diets containing multiple protein sources for growing pigs fed three crude protein levels. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 102 (4), 1039-1052. DOI: 10.1111/jpn.12912
- Lyu, Z., Li, Q., Zhang, S., Lai, C., Huang, C., 2019. Available energy and amino acid digestibility of yellow dent corn fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 97, 2952–2964. doi: 10.1093/jas/skz161.
- Ma, D.L., Ma, X.K., Liu, L., Zhang, S., 2018. Chemical composition, energy, and amino acid digestibility in 7 cottonseed co-products fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 96, 1338–1349. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky042.
- Ma, X., Hu, J., Shang, Q., Liu, H., Piao, X., 2019. Chemical composition, energy content and amino acid digestibility in cottonseed meals fed to growing pigs, J. Appl. Anim. Res. 47(1), 280-288. DOI:10.1080/09712119.2019.1626241.
- Ma, X., Zhang, S., Shang, Q., Long, S., Piao, X., 2018. Determination and prediction of the apparent and standardized ileal amino acid digestibility in cottonseed meals fed to growing pigs. Anim Sci J. XX, 1–12. DOI: 10.1111/asj.13195.
- Maillard, R., T. Kiener and S. Bertrand, 1990. Digestibilité <réelle>, mesurée au niveau iléal des acides aminés de la féverole et du lupin. Journées Rech. Porcine en France 22, 223-228.
- Maison, T., Stein, H.H., 2014. Digestibility by growing pigs of amino acids in canola meal from North America and 00-rapeseed meal and 00-rapeseedexpellers from Europe. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 3502–3514.
- Mäkinen, M., Siljander-Rasi, H., 1996. Apparent ileal digestibility of amino acids in wet wheat protein and soya bean meal for growing pigs. Agr. Food Sci. Finland, 5, 547-555.
- Mariscal-Landin, G., T. C. Reis de Souza and M. A. Avalos, 2010. Ileal amino acids digestibility of sorghum in weaned piglets and growing pigs. Animal 4, 1341–1348.
- Mariscal-Landin, G., J.H. Avellaneda, T.C. Reis de Souza, A. Aguilera, G.A. Borbollaand B. Mar. 2004. Effect of tannins in sorghum on amino acid ileal digestibility and on trypsin (E.C.2.4.21.4) and chymotrypsin (E.C.2.4.21.1) activity of growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 117, 245–264. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2004.09.001.
- Mariscal-Landín, G., Avellaneda, J.H., Reis de Souza, T.C., Aguilera, A., Borbolla, G.A., Mar, B., 2004. Effect of tannins in sorghum on amino acid ileal digestibility and on trypsin (E.C.2.4.21.4) and chymotrypsin (E.C.2.4.21.1) activity of growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 117, 245–264.
- Mariscal-Landin, G., Lebreton, Y., Sève, B., 2002. Apparent and standardised true ileal digestibility of protein and amino acids from faba bean lupin and pea, provided as whole seeds, dehulled or extruded in pig diets. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 97, 183–198.
- Mariscal-Landin, G., T.C. Reis de Souza and M.A. Avalos, 2014. Ileal amino acid digestibility of sorghum in weaned piglets and growing pigs, Animal 4, 1341-1348.
- Mariscal-Landin, G., T.C. Reis de Souza, J.E. Parra S., A. Aguilera and B. Mar B., 2008. Livestock Science 116, 53–62. Ileal digestibility of protein and amino acids from canola meal in weaned piglets and growing pigs.
- Marty, B.J., Chavez, E.R., 1994. Apparent digestibility of protein and amino acids at the distal ileum and of protein and energy over the whole tract in several extruded soybean cultivars for pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 74, 675-678.

- Marty, B.J., Chavez, E.R., 1995. Ileal digestibilities and urinary losses of amino acids in pigs fed heat processed soybean products. Livestock Prod. Sci. 43, 37-48.
- Mathai, J.K., Liu, Y., Stein, H.H., 2017. Values for digestible indispensable amino acid scores (DIAAS) for some dairy and plant proteins may better describe protein quality than values calculated using the concept for protein digestibility-corrected amino acid scores (PDCAAS). British J. Nutr. 117, 490–499. doi:10.1017/S0007114517000125.
- Mejicanos, G.A., Nyachoti, C.M., 2018. Effect of tail-end dehulling of canola meal on apparent and standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids when fed to growing standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids when fed to growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 243, 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2018.07.011
- Messerschmidt, U., Eklund, M., Rist, V.T.S., Rosenfelder, P., Spindler, H.K., Htoo, J.K. Mosenthin, R., 2012. Effect of particle size and heat treatment of soybean meal on standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 90, 119–121. doi:10.2527/jas53767
- Messerschmidt, U., Eklund, M., Sauer, N., Rist, V.T.S., Rosenfelder, P., Spindler, H.K., Htoo, J.K., Schöne, F., Mosenthin, R., 2014. Chemical composition and standardized ileal amino acid digestibility in rapeseed meals sourced from German oil mills for growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 187, 68–76.
- Moeser, A.J., I. B. Kim, E. van Heugten and T. A. T. G. Kempen, 2002. The nutritional value of degermed, dehulled corn for pigs and its impact on the gastrointestinal tract and nutrient excretion. J. Anim. Sci. 80, 2629-2638.
- Moter, V. and H. H. Stein, 2004. J. Anim. Sci. 82, 3518 3525. Effect of feed intake on endogenous losses and amino acid and energy digestibility by growing pig.
- Mullan, B.P., J.R. Pluske, M. Trezona, D.J. Harris, J.G. Allen, K.H/M. Siddique, C.D. Hanburry, R.J. van Barneveld and J.C. Kim, 2009. Chemical composition and standardized ileal digestible amino acid contents of Lathyrus (Lathyrus cicwera) as an ingredient in pig diets. An. Feed Sci. Techn. 150, 139-143.
- Navarro, D.M.D.L., Liu, Y., Bruun,T.S. and Stein, H.H., 2017. Amino acid digestibility by weanling pigs of processed ingredients originating from soybeans, 00-rapeseeds, or a fermented mixture of plant ingredients. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 2658–2669. Doi:10.2527/jas2016.1356.
- Navarro, D.M.D.L., J.K. Mathai, N.W. Jaworski and H.H. Stein. 2018. Amino acid digestibility in six sources of meat and bone meal, blood meal, and soybean meal fed to growing pigs Can. J. Anim. Sci. 98, 860–867. dx.doi.org/10.1139/cjas-2017-0217.
- Ndou, S.P., E. Kiarie, M.C. Walsh and C.M. Nyachoti. 2018. Nutritive value of flaxseed meal fed to growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 238, 123–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2018.02.009
- Ndou, S.P. and Woyengo, T.A., 2020. Nutritive value of carinata meal and cold-pressed canola expellers for pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 265 (2020) 114496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114496.
- Nguyen, T.H.L., L.D. Ngoan, G. Bosch, M.W.A. Verstegen and W.H. Hendriks, 2012. Ileal and total tract apparent crude protein and amino acid digestibility of ensiled and dried cassava leaves and sweet potato vines in growing pigs. An. Feed Sci. Techn. 172, 171-179.
- Nitrayová, S., J. Heger, P. Patráš, H. Kluge, H. and J. Broz. 2009. Effect of xylanase on apparent ileal and total tract digestibility of nutrients and energy of rye in young pigs. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 63, 281–291.

- Nitrayová,S., J. Heger, P. Patráš, M. Brestenský, 2006. Slovak J. Anim. Sci. 39, 65 68. Effect of body weight and pig individuality on apparent ileal digestibility of amino acids and total nitrogen
- Nørgaard, J.V., Petersen, J.K., Tørring, D.B., Jørgensen, H., Lærke, H.N., 2015. Chemical composition and standardized ileal digestibility of protein and amino acids from blue mussel, starfish, and fish silage in pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 205, 90–97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.04.005.
- Nyachoti, C.M., De Lange, C.F., Schulze, H., 1997. Estimating endogenous amino acid flows at the terminal ileum and true ileal amino acid digestibilities in feedstuffs for growing pigs using the homoarginine method. J. Anim. Sci. 75, 3206-3213. http://jas.fass.org/content/75/12/3206.
- Nyachoti, C.M., House, J.D., Slominski, B.A., Seddon, I.R., 2005. Energy and nutrient digestibilities in wheat dried distillers' grains with solubles fed to growing pigs. J. Sci. Food Agric. 85, 2581–2586.
- Nyachoti, C.M., L. Rigaux, T.A. Woyengo and E. Kiarie. 2010. Apparent ileal amino acid digestibility and energy utilization in hulless oats (Avena nuda L) fed to growing pigs. J. Animal and Feed Sci. 19, 59-71.
- O'Quinn, P.R., Nelssen, J.L., Goodband, R.D., Knabe, D.A., Woodworth, J.C., Tokach, M.D., Lohrmann, T.T., 2000. Nutritional value of a genetically improved high-lysine, high-oil corn for young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 78, 2144–2149. https://academic.oup.com/jas/articleabstract/78/8/2144/4670818.
- Oliveira, M.S., Stein, H.H., 2016. Digestibility of energy, amino acids, and phosphorus in a novel source of soy protein concentrate and in soybean meal fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 94, 3343–3352. doi:10.2527/jas2016-0505.
- Oliveira, M.S.F., Htoo, J.K., Stein, H.H., 2020. The direct and difference procedures result in similar estimates for amino acid digestibility in feed ingredients fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 98 (8), 1–8. doi:10.1093/jas/skaa225.
- Oliveira, M.S.F., Wiltafsky, M.K., Lee, S.A., Kwon, W.B., Stein, H.H., 2020. Concentrations of digestible and metabolizable energy and amino acid digestibility by growing pigs may be reduced by autoclaving soybean meal. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 269, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114621.
- Opapeju, F.O., C. M. Nyachoti, and J. D. House, 2007. Digestible energy, protein and amino acid content in selected short season corn cultivars fed to growing pigs. Can. J. Anim, Sci 87, 221-226.
- Opapeju, F.O., A. Golian, C.M. Nyachoti, and L.D. Campbell. 2006. Amino acid digestibility in dry extruded-expelled soybean meal fed to pigs and poultry. J. Anim. Sci. 84, 1130–1137.
- Pahm, A.A., Pedersen, C., Hoehler, D., Stein, H.H., 2008. Factors affecting the variability in ileal amino acid digestibility in corn distillers dried grains with solubles fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 86, 2180–2189. doi:10.2527/jas.2008-0868.
- Palander, S., Siljander-Rasi, H., Valaja, J., Partanen, K., 2020. Potato protein concentrate as a protei n source for growing-finishing pigs. Research report B151, Seinäjoki University of Applied Sciences, Finland.
- Pan, L., X.K. Ma, H.L. Wang, X. Xu, Z.K. Zeng, Q.Y. Tian, P.F. Zhao, S. Zhang, Z.Y.Yang and X.S. Piao, 2016. Enzymatic feather meal as an alternative animal protein source in diets for nursery pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Techn. 212, 112–121.
- Pan, L., Shang, Q.H., Wu, Y., Ma, X.K., Long, S.F., Liu, L., Li, D.F., Piao, X.S., 2017. Concentration of digestible and metabolizable energy, standardized ileal digestibility, and
growth performance of pigs fed diets containing sorghum produced in the United States or corn produced in China. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 4880–4892. doi:10.2527/jas2017.1859

- Park, C.S., D. Ragland and O. Adeola, 2021. Amino acid digestibility in corn distillers' dried grains with solubles in pigs at different dietary levels of casein and test ingredient. Animal 15, 100147. doi: 10.1016/j.animal.2020.100147.
- Park, C.S., D. Ragland and O. Adeola, 2021. Digestibility of amino acids in pigs fed distillers dried grains with solubles derived from corn, sorghum, and triticale. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 101, 224–233.
- Park, C.S., Helmbrecht, A., Htoo, J.K., Adeola, O., 2017. Comparison of amino acid digestibility in full-fat soybean, two soybean meals, and peanut flour between broiler chickens and growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 3110–3119. doi:10.2527/jas2017.1404.
- Park, C.S., Naranjo, V.N., Htoo, J.K., Adeola, O., 2020. Comparative amino acid digestibility between broiler chickens and pigs fed different poultry by-products and meat and bone meal. J. Anim. Sci. 98 (7), 1–8. doi:10.1093/jas/skaa223.
- Park, C.S., Ragland, D., Adeola, O., 2018. Amino acid digestibility of corn distillers' dried grains with solubles with the addition of casein in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 96, 4674–4684. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky309.
- Park, C.S., Ragland, D., Helmbrecht, A., Htoo, J.K., Adeola, O., 2019. Digestibility of amino acid in full-fat canola seeds, canola meal, and canola expellers fed to broiler chickens and pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 97, 803–812. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky470.

Partanen, K., Valaja, J., Jalava, T., Sirlander-Rasi, H., 2001. Composition, ileal amino digestibility and nutritive value of organically grown legume seeds and conventional rapeseed cakes for pigs. Agricult. Food Sci. Finland 10, 309-322.

- Pedersen, C., Boersma, M.G., Stein, H.H., 2007. Energy and nutrient digestibility in NutriDense corn and other cereal grains fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 85, 2473–2483.
- Pengbin, X., Li, D., Gong, L., 2002. Ileal Amino Acid Digestibility in Different Cultivars of Chinese Rapeseed Meals for Growing-finishing Pigs. Asian Austr. J. Anim. Sci. 15, 1326-1333.
- Pereira, C.M.C., M.J. Hannas, H.S. Rostagno, L.F.T. Albino, E.M. Balbino, D.F. Baffa and V.M.P. Bernardino. 2017. Determination of the Ileal Digestibility of Proteins and Amino Acids from Biscuit Bran and Wheat Gluten in Swine. J. Appl. Life Sci. Int. 12, 1-6.
- Pertillä, S., Siljander-Rasi, H., Partanen, K., Alaviuhkola, T. and Suomi, K., 2002. Apparent Ileal amino acid digestibility and the nutritive value of the triticale cultivars Moreno and Ulrika for growing-finishing pigs. Agric. Food Sci. Finland 11, 93-105.
- Petersen. G.J. and Stein, HH., 2014, Coefficient of standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in corn, soybean meal, corn gluten meal, high-protein distillers dried grains, and field peas fed to weanling pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Techn. 188, 145-149.
- Pozza, P.C., P.C. Gomes, M.S.S. Pozza, R.V. Nunes, R.A. Ferreira, and R.J.B. Rodrigueiro, 2013. Use of markers to determine the ileal digestibility of amino acids for swine. Ciênc. agrotec., Lavras, 37, 259-265.
- Prawirodigdo, S., Gannon, N.J., Leury, B.J., Dunshea, F.R., 2019. Basal diet and indigestible marker influence apparent digestibilities of nitrogen and amino acids of cottonseed meal and soybean meal in pigs. Animal Nutrition 5, 234-240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2019.02.001.

- Prawirodigdo, S., Gannon, N.J., van Barneveld, R.J., Kerton, D.J., Leury, B.J., Dunshea, F.R., 1998. Assessment of apparent ileal digestibility of amino acids and nitrogen in cottonseed and soyabean meals fed to pigs determined using ileal dissection under halothane anaesthesia or following carbon dioxide-stunning. British J. Nutr. 80, 183–191.
- Rattanasomboon, T., Wester, T.J., Smith, S.L., Morel, P.C.H., 2019. Nutritive value of plantain and chicory for pigs. Livestock Science 223, 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2019.02.016
- Rayadurg, V, 2005. Factors affecting the nutrient digestibility in weanling and grower pigs, thesis South Dakota State University.
- Régnier, C., Jaguelin, Y., Noblet, J., Renaudeau, D., 2012. Ileal digestibility of amino acids of cassava, sweet potato, cocoyam and erythrina foliages fed to growing pigs. Animal 6 (4), 586–593. doi:10.1017/S1751731111001959.
- Reis de Souza, T.C., A.A. Barreyro and G. Mariscal-Landin, 2013. Estimation of endogenous protein and amino acid ileal losses in weaned piglets by regression analysis using diets with graded levels of casein. J. Anim. Sci. and Biotechn. 4, 36-42.
- Ren, P., Zhu, Z., Dong, B., Zang, J., Gong, L., 2011. Determination of energy and amino acid digestibility in growing pigs fed corn distillers' dried grains with solubles containing different lipid levels. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 65, 303-319. DOI:10.1080/1745039X.2011.588849
- Renaudeau, D., M. Dupatel, E. Juncker and C. Calvar, 2020. Valeurs energetique et proteinique des feuilles de luzerne chez le porc en croissance. Journal Recherche Porcine 52, 75-80.
- Reverter, M., Lundh, T., Lindberg, J.E., 1999. Ileal amino acid digestibilities in pigs of barleybased diets with inclusion of lucerne (Medicago sativa), white clover (Trifolium repens), red clover (Trifolium pratense) or perennial ryegrass (Lolium perenne). Br. J. Nutr. 82, 139–147.
- Rho, Y., Zhu, C., Kiarie, E., de Lange, C.F.M., 2017. Standardized ileal digestible amino acids and digestible energy contents in high-protein distiller's dried grains with solubles fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 3591–3597. doi:10.2527/jas2017.1553.
- Rodriguez, D.A., Lee, S.A., de Godoy, M.R.C., Stein, H.H., 2020. Extrusion of soybean hulls does not increase digestibility of amino acids or concentrations of digestible and metabolizable energy when fed to growing pigs. Transl. Anim. Sci. 4, 1-9. doi: 10.1093/tas/txaa169
- Rodriguez, D.A., Lee, S.A., Stein, H.H., 2020. Digestibility of amino acids and concentrations of metabolizable energy and net energy are greater in high-shear dry soybean expellers than in soybean meal when fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 98 (7), 1–8. doi:10.1093/jas/skaa215.
- Rodriguez, D.A., Lee, S.A., Jones, C.K. Htoo, J.K., Stein, H.H., 2020. Digestibility of amino acids, fiber, and energy by growing pigs, and concentrations of digestible and metabolizable energy in yellow dent corn, hard red winter wheat, and sorghum may be influenced by extrusion. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 268, 114602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114602
- Rojas, O.J., Liu, Y., Stein, H.H., 2014. Concentration of metabolizable energy and digestibility of energy, phosphorus, and amino acids in lemna protein concentrate fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 5222–5229. doi:10.2527/jas2014-8146
- Rojas, O.J., Stein, H.H., 2013. Concentration of digestible, metabolizable, and net energy and digestibility of energy and nutrients in fermented soybean meal, conventional soybean meal, and fish meal fed to weanling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 91, 4397–4405.

- Rojas, O.J., Stein, H.H., 2015b. Effects of reducing the particle size of corn grain on the concentration of digestible and metabolizable energy and on the digestibility of energy and nutrients in corn grain fed to growing pigs. Livest. Sci. 181, 187–193.
- Rosenfelder, P., Eklund, M., Spindler, H.K., Messerschmidt, U., Potthast, C., Mosenthin, R., 2015. Nutritive value of wheat concentrated distillers solubles in diets for growing pigs. Anim. Prod. Sci. 55, 729–735. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/AN14169
- Rosenfelder, P., Kuhlenkamp, C., Mosenthin, R., Eklund, M., 2016. Determination of standardized ileal amino acid digestibility in a sunflower protein concentrate fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 94, 191–193. doi:10.2527/jas2015-9726

Rosenfelder, P., Mosenthin, R., Spindler, H.K., Jørgensen, H., Bach Knudsen, K.E., Sauer,

- N., Htoo, J.K., Eklund, M., 2015. Standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in eight
- genotypes of soft winter wheat fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 93, 1133–1144.
- Rubio, L.A., 2005. Ileal digestibility of defatted soybean, lupin and chickpea seed meals in cannulated Iberian pigs: I. Proteins. J Sci Food Agric 85, 1313–1321.
- Rudolph, B.C., Boggs, L.S., Knabe, D.A., Tanksley, T.D. Jr, Anderson, S.A., 1983. Digestibility of nitrogen and amino acids in soybean products for pigs. J. Anim. Sci, 57, 373-386.
- Salgado, P., Freire, J.P.B., Mourato, M., Cabral, F., Toullec, R., Lallès, J.P., 2002. Comparative effects of different legume protein sources in weaned piglets: nutrient digestibility, intestinal morphology and digestive enzymes. Livest. Prod. Sci. 74, 191–202.
- Salgado, P., J.P. Lalles, R. Toullec, M. Mourato, F. Cabral and J.P.B. Freire, 2001. Nutrient digestibility of chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) seeds and effects on the small intestine of weaned piglets. Anim. Feed Sci. Techn. 91, 197-212
- Sanjayan, N., Heo, J.M., Nyachoti, C.M., 2014. Nutrient digestibility and growth performance of pigs fed diets with different levels of canola meal from Brassica napus black and Brassica juncea yellow. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 3895–3905. doi:10.2527/jas2013-7215
- Sauer, N., M. Eklund, S. Hoerner, M. Rademacher and R. Mosenthin, 2012. Comparison of standardized ileal amino acid digestibilities in protein supplements and cereal grains for weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 90, 107–109.
- Sauer, W.C., Cichon, R., Misir, R., 1982. Amino acid availability and protein quality of canola and rapeseed meal for pigs and rats. J. Anim. Sci. 54, 292-301.
- Sauer, W.C., Stothers, S.C., Parker, R.J., 1977. Apparent and true availabilities of amino acids in wheat and milling by-products for growing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 57, 775-784.
- Sauer, W.C., Stothers, S.C., Philips, G.D., 1977. Apparent availabilities of amino acids in corn, wheat and barley for growing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 57, 585-597.
- Sauer,W.C., Kennely, J.J., Aherne, F.X., Cichon, R.M., 1981. Availabilities of amino acids in barley and whcat for growing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 61, 793-802.
- Schröder, H., Schulz, E., Oslage, H.J., 1989. Zur Verdaulichkeit von Aminosauren in unterschiedlichen Abschnitten des Verdauungstraktes bei wachsenden Schweinen. J. Anim. Physiol. a. Anim. Nutr. 61, 145-158.
- Schwiech, E., Raj, S., Pasteszewska, B., Taciak, M., Bartkowiak-Broda, I., Smulikowska, S., 2016, Nutritional value of yellow-seeded winter rapeseed cakes for growing pigs. Agric. and Food Sci. 25, 99-110.
- Seabra, M., Carvalho, S., Freire, J., R. Ferreira, R., Mourato, M., Cunha, L., Cabral, F., Teixeira, A., Aumaitre, A., 2001. Lupinus luteus, Vicia sativa and Lathyrus cicera as

protein sources for piglets: ileal and total tract apparent digestibility of amino acids and antigenic effects. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 89, 1-16.

- Sève, B., G. Mariscal-Landin, C. Février and Y. Lechevestrier. 1994. Prédiction de la digestibilité iléale des acides amines chez le porc. J. Recherche Porcine en France 26, 259-266.
- Sinn, S.M., W. R. Gibbons, M. L. Brown, J. M. DeRouchey and C. L. Levesque. 2017. Evaluation of microbially enhanced soybean meal as an alternative to fishmeal in weaned pig diets. Animal 11, 784–793.
- Snow, J.L., H.H. Stein, P.K. Ku and N.L. Trottier, 2004. Amino acid digestibility and nitrogen utilization of high oil, high lysine, and waxy maize fed to growing pigs. An. Feed Sci. Techn. 113, 113-126.
- Son, A.R., Hyun, Y., Htoo, J.K., Kim, B.G., 2014. Amino acid digestibility in copra expellers and palm kernel expellers by growing pigs. Anim. Feed. Sci. Technol. 187, 91–97.
- Son, A.R., Park, C.S., Park, K.R., Kim, B.G., 2019. Amino acid digestibility in plant protein sources fed to growing pigs. Asian Austr. J. Anim. Sci. 32, 1745-1752. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.19.0037.
- Song, G.L., D.F. Li, X.S. Piao, F. Chi and W.J. Yang, 2003. Apparent ileal digestibility of amino acids and the digestible and metabolizable energy content of high-oil corn varieties and its effects on growth performance of pigs. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 57, 297 306.
- Song, G.L., Li, D.F., Piao, X.S., Chi, F., Yang, W.J., 2003. Apparent ileal digestibility of amino acids and the digestible and metabolizable energy content of high-oil corn varieties and its effects on growth performance of pigs. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 57 (4), 297-306. DOI: 10.1080/00039420310001594432.
- Sotak-Peper, K.M., Gonzalez-Vega, J.C., Stein, H.H., 2017. Amino acid digestibility in soybean meal produced in different areas of the United States and fed to pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 771-778.
- Spindler, H.K., Mosenthin, R., Rosenfelder, P., Jørgensen, H., Knudsen, K.E.B., Sauer, N., Htoo, J.K., Eklund, M., 2016. Standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in eight genotypes of barley fed to growing pigs. Animal 10 (12), 1931–1940 © The Animal Consortium 2016. doi:10.1017/S175173111600104X.
- Stein, H.H., Aref, S., Easter, R.A., 1999. Comparative Protein and Amino Acid Digestibilities in Growing Pigs and Sows. J. Anim. Sci. 77, 1169–1179.
- Stein, H.H., Benzoni, G., Bohlke, R.A., Peters, D.N., 2004. Assessment of the feeding value of South Dakota-grown field peas (Pisum sativum L.) for growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 82, 2568–2578.
- Stein, H.H., Bohlke, R.A., 2007. The effects of thermal treatment of field peas (Pisum sativum L.) on nutrient and energy digestibility by growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 85, 1424– 1431.
- Stein, H.H., Connot, S.P., Pedersen, C., 2009. Energy and nutrient digestibility in four sources of distillers dried grains with solubles produced from corn grown within a narrow geographical area and fed to growing pigs. Asian Austr. J. Anim. Sci. 22, 1016–1025.
- Stein, H.H., Gibson, M.L., Pedersen, C., Boersma, M.G., 2006. Amino acid and energy digestibility in ten samples of distillers dried grain with solubles fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 84, 853–860.
- Stein, H.H., Kim, S.W., Nielsen, T.T., Easter, R.A., 2001. Standardized ileal protein and amino acid digestibility by growing pigs and sows. J. Anim. Sci. 79,2113–2122.

Stein, H.H., Pedersen, C., Wirt, A.R., Bohlke, R.A., 2005. Additivity of values for apparent and standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in mixed diets fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 83, 2387-2395. DOI: 10.2527/2005.83102387x.

- Strang, E.J.P., Eklund, M., Rosenfelder, P., Sauer, N., Htoo, J.K., Mosenthin, R., 2016. Chemical composition and standardized ileal amino acid digestibility of eight genotypes of rye fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 94, 3805–3816. doi:10.2527/jas2016-0599.
- Strang, E.J.P., Eklund, M., Rosenfelder, P., Sauer, N., Htoo, J.K., Mosenthin, R., 2016. Standardized ileal digestibility and basal ileal endogenous loss of amino acids associated with triticale genotypes in growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 94, 316–319. doi:10.2527/jas2015-9756.
- Strang, E.J.P., Eklund, M., Rosenfelder, P., Sauer, N., Htoo, J.K., Mosenthin, R., 2017. Variations in the chemical composition and standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in eight genotypes of triticale fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 1614–1625. doi:10.2527/jas2016.1238.
- Sulabo, R.C., Ju, W.S., Stein, H.H., 2013. Amino acid digestibility and concentration of digestible and metabolizable energy in copra meal, palm kernel expellers, and palm kernel meal fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 91, 1391–1399.
- Tan, X., Yang, H.S., Wang, M., Yi, Z.F., Ji, F.J., Li, J.Z., Yin, Y.L., 2020. Amino acid digestibility in housefly and black soldier fly prepupae by growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 263, XX-XX. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114446.
- Tanghe, S., De Boever, J., Ampe, B., De Brabander, D., De Campeneere, S., Millet, S., 2015. Nutrient composition, digestibility and energy value of distillers dried grains with solubles and condensed distillerssolubles fed to growing pigs and evaluation of prediction methods. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 210, 263–275. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.10.015.
- Tanksley, T.D., Knabe, D.A., Purser, K., Zebrowska, T., Corley, J.R., 1981. Apparent digestibility of amino acids and nitrogen in three cottonseed meals and soybean meal. J. Anim. Sci. 52 (4), 769-777.
- Taverner, M.R., Hume, I.D., Farrell, D.J., 1981. Availability to pigs of amino acids in cereal grains. 2. Apparent and true ileal availibility. Br. J. Nutr. 46, 159-171.
- Thomas, L.L., Espinosa, C.D., Goodband, R.D., Stein, H.H., Tokach, M.D., Dritz, S.S., Woodworth, J.C., DeRouchey, J.M., 2020. Nutritional evaluation of different varieties of sorghum and the effects on nursery pig growth performance. Accepted Manuscript. Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/jas/advance-articleabstract/doi/10.1093/jas/skaa120/5819783 by Bibliotheek der user on 16 May 2020
- Tindade Neto M.A., F. O. Opepaju, B. A. Slominski, and C. M. Nyachoti, 2012. Ileal amino acid digestibility in canola meals from yellow- and black-seeded Brassica napus and Brassica juncea fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 90, 3477-3484.
- Trindade Neto, M.A., Dadalt, J.C., Gallardo, C., 2020. Nutrient and energy balance, and amino acid digestibility in weaned piglets fed wheat bran and an exogenous enzyme combination. Animal 14, 499–507. doi:10.1017/S1751731119002052.
- Upadhaya, S.D., Kim, I.H., 2015. Ileal digestibility of nutrients and amino acids in unfermented, fermented soybean meal and canola meal for weaning pigs. Anim. Sci. J. 86, 408–414. doi: 10.1111/asj.12305.
- Upadhaya, S.D., Park, J.W., Lee, J.H., Kim, I.H., 2016. Ileal digestibility of nutrients and amino acids in low quality soybean meal sources treated with β-mannanase for growing pigs. Animal 10 (7), 1148–1154. doi:10.1017/S1751731116000082.

- Upadhaya, S.D., Ryu, J-h., Kang, K-i., Cho, S-j., Kim, I.H., 2016. Effect of fermentation of soybean meal with varying protein solubility on ileal digestibility of nutrients in growing pigs. Anim. Prod. Sci. 56, 2023–2028. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/AN14842.
- Urbaityte, R., Mosenthin, R., Eklund, M., Piepho, H-P., Sauer, N., Rademacher, M., 2009. Standardised ileal crude protein and amino acid digestibilities in protein supplements for piglets. Archives of Anim. Nutr. 63 (5), 356-378. DOI:10.1080/17450390903052631.
- Urriola, P.E., Hoehler, D., Pedersen, C., Stein, H.H., Shurson, G.C., 2009. Amino acid digestibility of distillers dried grains with solubles, produced from sorghum, a sorghum-corn blend, and corn fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 87, 2574–2580.
- Van Barneveld,R.J., S.R. Szarvas and A.R. Barr. 1998. The Apparent Ileal Digestibility of Amino Acids and the Digestible Energy Content of Naked Oats (Avena sativa cv Bandicoot) Fed to Growing Pigs. J. Sci. Food Agric. 76, 277-284.
- Van der Grift, W.L., Knabe, D.A., Tanksley, T, D., Anderson, S.A., 1983. Digestibility of nutrients in raw and heated soyflakes for pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 57, 1215-1224.
- Van Leeuwen, P., Van Kleef, D., Van Kempen, G.J., Huisman, J., Verstegen, M.W.A., 1991. The Post Valve T-Caecum cannulation technique in pigs applicated to determine the digestibility of amino acid in maize, groundnut and sunflower meal. J. Anim. Physiol. and Anim. Nutr. 65, 183-193.
- Vanessa Lagos, L., Stein, H.H., 2020. Torula yeast has greater digestibility of amino acids and phosphorus, but not energy, compared with a commercial source of fish meal fed to weanling pigs. Journal of Animal Sci. XX, 1–9. doi:10.1093/jas/skz375.
- Velayudhan, D.E., Hossain, M.M., Stein, H.H., Nyachoti, C.M., 2019. Standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in canola meal fed to gestating and lactating sows. J. Anim. Sci. 4219–4226. doi:10.1093/jas/skz283.
- Wang, H.L., Shi, M., Xu, X., Ma, X.K., Liu, L., Piao, X.S., 2017. Comparative energy content and amino acid digestibility of barley obtained from diverse sources fed to growing pigs. Asian-Australas J. Anim. Sci. 30 (7), 999-1005. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.16.0775.
- Wang, L.F., Beltranena, E., Zijlstra, R.T., 2017. Nutrient digestibility of chickpea in ilealcannulated finisher pigs and diet nutrient digestibility and growth performance in weaned pigs fed chickpea-based diets. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 234, 205–216.
- Wang, Q.Y., Zhang, G., Zhao, J.B., Zhou, X.J., Dong, W.X., Liu L., Zhu, Z.P., Zhang, S., 2019. Energy and nutrient digestibility of degossypolized cottonseed protein and its utilization as a protein source in nursery pigs. Livestock Science 223, 53–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2019.03.005.
- Wang, T., Osho, S.O., Adeola, O., 2018. Additivity of apparent and standardized ileal digestibility of amino acid determined by chromic oxide and titanium dioxide in mixed diets containing wheat and multiple protein sources fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 96, 4731–4742. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky326.
- Wang, Y., Lu, W.Q., Li, D.F., Liu, X.T., Wang, H.L., Niu, S., Piao, X.S., 2014. Energy and Ileal Digestible Amino Acid Concentrations for Growing Pigs and Performance of Weanling Pigs Fed Fermented or Conventional Soybean Meal. Asian Austr. J. Anim. Sci. 27, 706-716. http://dx.doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2013.13612.
- Wasilewko, J., Gdala, J., Buraczewska, L., Han, In K., 1999. Assessment of ileal digestibility of lupin amino acids and their use in formulating diets for pigs. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 8, 13-26.

- Widmer, M.R., McGinnis, L.M., Stein, H.H., 2007. Energy, amino acid, and phosphorus digestibility of high protein distillers dried grain and corn germ fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 85, 2994–3003.
- Widyaratne, G.P., Zijlstra, R.T., 2007. Nutritional value of wheat and corn distiller's dried grain with solubles: digestibility and digestible contents of energy, amino acids and phosphorus, nutrient excretion and growth performance of grower-finisher pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 87, 103–114.
- Wiseman, J., Jaggert, S., Cole, D. J. A. Haresign, W., 1991. The digestion and utilization of amino acids of heat-treated fish meal by growing/finishing pigs. Anim. Prod. 53, 215-225.
- Woodworth, J.C., Tokach, M.D., Goodband, R.D., Nelssen, J.L., O'Quinn, P.R., Knabe, D.A., Said, N.W., 2001. Apparent ileal digestibility of amino acids and the digestible and metabolizable energy content of dry extruded-expelled soybean meal and its effects on growth performance of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 79, 1280–1287.
- Woyengo, T.A., Heo, J.M., Yin, Y.L., Nyachoti, C.M., 2015. Standardized and true ileal amino acid digestibilities in fieldpea and pea protein isolate fed to growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 207, 196–203. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.06.008.
- Woyengo, T.a., Jha, R., Beltranena, e., Pharazyn, A., Zijlstra, R.T., 2014. Nutrient digestibility of lentil and regular- and low-oligosaccharide, micronized full-fat soybean fed to grower pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 229-237. doi: 10.2527/jas.2013-6555.
- Woyengo, T.A., Kiarie, E., Nyachoti, C.M., 2010. Energy and amino acid utilization in expeller-extracted canola meal fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 88,1433–1441.
- Woyengo, T.A., Sánchez, J.E., Yánez, J., Beltranena, E., Cervantes, M., Morales, A., Zijlstra, R.T., 2016. Nutrient digestibility of canola co-products for grower pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 222, 7–16. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.09.009
- Wu, Y., Pan, L., Tian, Q., Piao, X. 2018. Comparative digestibility of energy and ileal amino acids in yeast extract and spray-dried porcine plasma fed to pigs. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 72 (1), 76-84. DOI: 10.1080/1745039X.2017.1413827.
- Xue, P.C., Dong, B., Zang, J.J., Zhu, Z.P., Gong, L.M., 2012. Energy and Standardized Ileal Amino Acid Digestibilities of Chinese Distillers Dried Grains, Produced from Different Regions and Grains Fed to Growing Pigs. Asian Austr. J. Anim. Sci. 25 (1), 104-113. http://dx.doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2011.11052.
- Xue, P.C., Ragland, D., Adeola, O., 2014. Determination of additivity of apparent and standardized ileal digestibility of amino acids in diets containing multiple protein sources fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 3937–3944. doi:10.2527/jas2014-7815
- Yanez, J.L., Woyengo, T.A. Jha, R., van Kempen, T.A.T.G., Zijlstra, R.T., 2019. Nutrient digestibility of soybean products in grower-finisher pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 97, 4598–4607. doi:10.1093/jas/skz290.
- Yang, X., Kim, J., Pangeni, D., Tekeste, A., Ren, P., Manu, H., Baidoo, S.K., 2019. Ileal digestibility of amino acids in corn condensed distiller's solubles and whole stillage for pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 255, 114202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2019.114202
- Yang, Y., Slominski, B.A., Brule-Babel, A., Nyachoti, C.M., 2010. Amino acid and fiber digestibility, intestinal bacterial profile, and enzyme activity in growing pigs fed dried distillers' grains with solubles-based diets. J. Anim. Sci. 88, 3304–3312.
- Yang, Y.X., Y. G Kim, J. D. Lohakare, J. H. Yun, J. K. Lee, M. S. Kwon, J. I. Park, J. Y. Choi and B. J. Chae, 2007. Asian Austr, J. Anim. Sci. 5, 775-783. Comparative Efficacy of

Different Soy Protein Sources on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility and Intestinal Morphology in Weaned Pigs

- Yin, Y.-L., Chen, C.-M., Zhong, H.-Y., Huang, R.-L., Chen, X.-S., 1994. Apparent digestibilities of energy, cell wall constituents, crude protein and amino acids of Chinese oil seed meals for growing pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 45, 283-298.
- Yin, Y.-L., Gurung, N.K., Jeaurond, E.A., Sharpe, P.H., de Lange, C.F.M., 2002. Digestible energy and amino acid contents in Canadian varieties of sorghum, pearl millet, high-oil corn, high-oil–high-protein corn and regular corn samples for growing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 82, 385–391.
- Yin, Y-L., R.-L. Huang and H.-Y. Zhong. 1993. Comparison of ileorectal anastomosis and the conventional method for the measurement of ileal digestibility of protein sources and mixed diets in growing pigs. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 42, 297-308.
- Zaworska, A., Kasprowicz-Potocka, M., Rutkowski, A., Jamroz, D., 2018. The influence of dietary raw and extruded field peas (Pisum sativum L.) on nutrients digestibility and performance of weaned and fattening pigs. J. Anim. and Feed Sci. 27, 123–130. https://doi.org/10.22358/jafs/91209/2018
- Zhang, H.Y., X. S. Piao, P. Li, J. Q. Yi, Q. Zhang, Q. Y. Li, J. D. Liu, and G. Q. Wang, 2013. Effects of Single Cell Protein Replacing Fish Meal in Diet on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility and Intestinal Morphology in Weaned Pigs. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 26, 1320-1328.
- Zhang, H.Y., Yi, J.Q., Piao, X.S., Li, P.F., Zeng, Z.K., Wang, D., Liu, L., Wang, G.Q., Han, X., 2013. The Metabolizable Energy Value, Standardized Ileal Digestibility of Amino Acids in Soybean Meal, Soy Protein Concentrate and Fermented Soybean Meal, and the Application of These Products in Early-weaned Piglets. Asian Austr, J. Anim. Sci. 26 (5), 691-699. http://dx.doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2012.12429
- Zhang, S., Piao, X., Ma, X., Xu, X., Zeng, Z., Tian, Q., Li, Y., 2015. Comparison of spraydried egg and albumen powder with conventional animal protein sources as feed ingredients in diets fed to weaned pigs. Anim. Sci. J. 86, 772–781. doi: 10.1111/asj.12359
- Zhang, Z., Liu, Z., Zhang, S., Lai, C., Ma, D., Huang, C., 2019. Effect of inclusion level of corn germ meal on the digestible and metabolizable energy and evaluation of ileal AA digestibility of corn germ meal fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 97, 768–778. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky469
- Zhang, Z.Y., Zhang, S., Lai, C.H., Zhao, J.B., Zang, J.J., Huang, C.F., 2019. Effects of adaptation time and inclusion level of sugar beet pulp on nutrient digestibility and evaluation of ileal amino acid digestibility in pigs. Asian Austr. J. Anim. Sci. 32 (9), 1414-1422. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.18.0181
- Zhao, J., Tang, S., Zhou, X., Dong, W., Zhang, S., Huang, C., 2019. Determination of chemical composition, energy content, and amino acid digestibility in different wheat cultivars fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 97, 714–726. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky431
- Zhou, X., Zijlstra, R.T., Beltranena, E., 2015. Nutrient digestibility of solvent-extracted Brassica napus and Brassica juncea canola meals and their air-classified fractions fed to ileal-cannulated grower pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 93, 217–228. doi:10.2527/jas2014-7451

Zijlstra, R.T., Lopetinsky, K., Beltranena, E., 2008. The nutritional value of zero-tannin faba bean for grower-finisher pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci 88, 293–302.

ANNEX I: Basal endogenous losses of crude protein and amino acids at the terminal ileum of pigs

In this Annex the data for the Basal Endogenous Losses (BEL) obtained with N-free diets, casein diets and the regression method are evaluated in the paragraphs 1 - 3. In paragraph 4 the mean BEL patterns obtained with the different methods are compared to each other. In paragraph 5 the relations between amino acids in the separate datasets are evaluated. In paragraph 6 the overall average values for BEL are calculated in various ways, and in paragraph 7 the final BEL amino acid pattern is calculated that was used in this study.

1. BEL pattern determined with N-free diets

1.1 Complete dataset

	BW*	FL in times							E	asal e	ndoge	enous	loss g	j/kg Dl	MI)						
	(kg)	MEm**	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	186	187	172	187	187	187	187	187	183	187	187	145	187	186	183	164	182	181	155	183	151
Average	44.4	2.8	17.3	0.58	0.22	0.35	0.57	0.45	0.11	0.37	0.58	0.14	0.51	0.64	0.84	0.21	1.05	1.50	4.27	0.58	0.28
STDEV.	23.2	0.5	6.3	0.28	0.23	0.16	0.22	0.19	0.09	0.16	0.21	0.09	0.19	0.26	0.33	0.10	0.47	0.70	3.17	0.27	0.12
Min.	8.0	0.8	6.8	0.06	0.02	0.04	0.07	0.05	0.01	0.05	0.08	0.04	0.09	0.06	0.09	0.03	0.10	0.21	0.02	0.07	0.05
Max.	109.8	3.6	48.6	2.14	3.10	1.20	1.72	1.39	0.83	1.27	1.53	0.60	1.48	2.05	2.57	0.68	3.44	4.30	20.10	2.05	0.92
STDEV/Average			0.36	0.48	1.05	0.46	0.39	0.42	0.82	0.43	0.36	0.64	0.37	0.41	0.39	0.48	0.45	0.47	0.74	0.47	0.43

 Table 1.
 Characteristics of the complete N-free dataset.

BW = Initial body weight in kg

**: FL = Feeding Level in (estimated) times Metabolisable Energy for maintenance (MEm). In many observations FL is reported in times MEm. In other cases, FL is given as g/kg BW^{0.75}, % of kg BW or in kg diet per day. In these cases, FL was estimated using the initial BW and assuming a ME-content of the diet of 13.7 ME/kg.

Table 1 shows that for several amino acids BEL values are reported for all observations (187). For TRP the number of observations is lowest, which can be explained by the fact that in a couple of studies no separate analytical run was performed to determine this amino acid. Next to TRP, TYR is the amino acid with the lowest number of observations. This most likely is because in these studies the amino acid derivatives are measured at a wavelength at which MET can be detected but where TYR is not detected. This assumption is supported by the fact that the number of observations for MET is remarkably higher than that for CYS. Subsequently, the number of observations is lowest for PRO. In the publications where PRO values are missing no explanation if given for not reporting a value for PRO. May be that these values were that strange that they were judged as artificial. Table 1 further shows that the average BEL values for the amino acids HIS, MET, TRP, CYS and TYR are low compared to the values for other amino acids. It is plausible to assume that for these amino acids, because of their low levels in the ileal chyme, the accuracy of these average values will be

less than for amino acids that are present in larger amounts. That this is indeed the case can be seen from the STDEV/Average values, which are very high for HIS, MET and TRP. Also, for PRO the accuracy of the average value is low.

As the variation in the BEL values of individual amino acids is very large, it was considered useful to explore possible relationships between the BEL values of amino acids. In Figure 1 the relationship of the BEL values of all amino acids to those of GLU is presented. It was decided to compare the BEL losses to that of GLU because GLU is the third amino acid after PRO and GLY with the highest average BEL value.





Figure 1. Relationship between BEL values of amino acids and the BEL values for GLU in the complete dataset of N-free diets. For the amino acids HIS, MET and TRP the relationship is also presented after deleting one or more outliers (see graphs with red symbols).

In Table 2 statistical data of the relationships between BEL for all amino acids to resp. GLU, THR and PRO is presented. R^2 values are given in blue when the value was >0.30. As can be seen the relationships between BEL AA_X and BEL for GLU and THR (for HIS, MET and TRP after elimination of 1 or more observations) all have R^2 values >0.30, except in the case of PRO. The relationships between PRO and GLU and between PRO and THR, is poor with very low R^2 values.

The relationships between BEL-AA_X and BEL for GLU and THR, respectively, have higher R^2 values than the relationships between BEL-AA_X and BEL-PRO, except for ARG and GLY.

These results support the assumption that feeding N-free diets to pigs may disturb the metabolism of PRO. Further, they indicate that the metabolism of ARG and GLY may be disturbed in a similar way, but – because there is still a relationship between BEL-ARG and BEL-GLY to BEL-GLU and BEL-THR – possibly to a lesser extent than for PRO.

After observing that for the amino acids GLU and THR there is a (rather) good relationship to all other amino acids, except PRO, it was decided to further explore the relationships between the amino acids. This was done by making correlation matrices for the total dataset of N-free diets (Table 3), and also for this dataset after deleting the observations with Feeding Level <2.5*MEm (Table 5) and for this dataset after deleting both the observations with Feeding amino acids that deviated more than 2*STDEV from the average value of that amino acid (Table 7).

	•	•	Relationship Y = aX +	- C	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	X = GLU		X = THR		X = PRO	
Y	Formula	R ²	Formula	R ²	Formula	R ²
ARG	Y = 0.364*GLU + 0.196	0.372	Y = 0.844*THR + 0.091	0.404	Y = 0.0753*PRO + 0.254	0.683
HIS	Y = 0.192*GLU + 0.014	0.154	Y = 0.590*THR - 0.125	0.295	Y = 0.014*PRO + 0.161	0.030
ILE	Y = 0.291*GLU + 0.048	0.753	Y = 0.592*THR + 0.010	0.608	Y = 0.011*PRO + 0.310	0.043
LEU	Y = 0.414*GLU + 0.143	0.740	Y = 0.906*THR + 0.049	0.704	Y = 0.016*PRO + 0.511	0.046
LYS	Y = 0,354*GLU + 0.075	0.710	Y = 0.704*THR + 0.042	0.565	Y = 0.017*PRO + 0.375	0.070
MET	Y = 0.098*GLU + 0.013	0.268	$Y = 0.237^{*}THR - 0.023$	0.320	Y = 0.006*PRO + 0.095	0.035
PHE	Y = 0.310*GLU + 0.050	0.767	Y = 0.622*THR + 0.015	0.619	Y = 0.008*PRO + 0.340	0.024
THR	Y = 0.351*GLU + 0.211	0.612			Y = 0.023*PRO + 0.484	0.109
TRP	Y = 0.068*GLU + 0.070	0.125	Y = 0.260*THR - 0.010	0.341	Y = 0.002*PRO + 0.138	0.003
VAL	Y = 0.331*GLU + 0.164	0.675	Y = 0.774*THR + 0.061	0.742	Y = 0.021*PRO + 0.422	0.111
ALA	Y = 0.444*GLU + 0.174	0.617	Y = 1.016*THR + 0.052	0.656	Y = 0.049*PRO + 0.425	0.324
ASP	Y = 1.307*GLU + 0.048	0.854	Y = 1.397*THR + 0.030	0.786	Y = 0.040*PRO + 0.678	0.133
CYS	Y = 0.120*GLU + 0.093	0.311	Y = 0.339*THR + 0.023	0.489	Y = 0.006*PRO + 0.189	0.042
GLU			Y = 1.745*THR + 0.039	0.611	Y = 0.043*PRO + 0.878	0.076
GLY	Y = 0.852*GLU + 0.601	0.325	Y = 2.280*THR + 0.179	0.461	Y = 0.193*PRO + 0.647	0.685
PRO	Y = 1.775*GLU + 2.391	0.076	Y = 4.772*THR + 1.500	0.109		
SER	Y = 0.463*GLU + 0.091	0.634	Y = 1.090*THR + 0.055	0.707	Y = 0.029*PRO + 0.460	0.102
TYR	Y = 0.197*GLU + 0.084	0.483	Y = 0.402*THR + 0.056	0.478	Y = 0.008*PRO + 0.249	0.045

Table 2. Relationship for the data in the complete dataset of N-free diets between BEL-AAx and BEL of GLU. THR and PRO. *

*: When two formulas are given for an amino acid, the second formula represents the relationship after deleting one of more outliers (see Figure 1) P² values 0.30 are printed in groops of there is a good relation between AAV and PPO the cell with P² is marked grow when P² for the relation of AAV to CLU and TVP is higher than to PPO the

Table 3 shows that for HIS and TRP the correlation to most other amino acids is poor (R below 0.50). As can be concluded from Table 7, showing much better correlations, this is caused by one or more outliers. The correlations between THR and all other amino acids (except TRP and PRO) is (rather) good (R>0.50). For GLU the correlations to other amino acids also are (rather) good (R>0.50), except for HIS, TRP and PRO. In line with the results presented in Table 2, for PRO the correlation coefficients to most other amino acids are poor; exceptions are CP, ARG, GLY and ALA.

	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
СР	1																		
ARG	0.796	1																	
HIS	0.347	0.346	1																
ILE	0.599	0.532	0.362	1															
LEU	0.602	0.533	0.425	0.861	1														
LYS	0.634	0.602	0.388	0.802	0.835	1													
MET	0.344	0.291	0.259	0.619	0.677	0.501	1												
PHE	0.589	0.517	0.353	0.795	0.816	0.755	0.527	1											
THR	0.660	0.636	0.543	0.780	0.839	0.752	0.566	0.787	1										
TRP	0.320	0.247	0.275	0.413	0.462	0.330	0.609	0.510	0.584	1									
VAL	0.678	0.621	0.428	0.879	0.890	0.843	0.624	0.756	0.861	0.467	1								
ALA	0.790	0.755	0.361	0.778	0.825	0.761	0.652	0.734	0.810	0.612	0.852	1							
ASP	0.729	0.677	0.482	0.871	0.906	0.876	0.573	0.857	0.886	0.431	0.890	0.855	1						
CYS	0.481	0.351	0.498	0.599	0.698	0.558	0.716	0.587	0.700	0.418	0.656	0.613	0.662	1					
GLU	0.662	0.610	0.392	0.867	0.860	0.843	0.518	0.876	0.782	0.354	0.822	0.785	0.924	0.557	1				
GLY	0.859	0.867	0.338	0.493	0.532	0.565	0.331	0.518	0.679	0.278	0.619	0.773	0.687	0.438	0.570	1			
PRO	0.717	0.827	0.173	0.206	0.215	0.265	0.186	0.156	0.329	0.059	0.333	0.569	0.365	0.206	0.276	0.828	1		
SER	0.639	0.601	0.453	0.755	0.813	0.734	0.579	0.788	0.841	0.425	0.807	0.783	0.845	0.667	0.796	0.625	0.320	1	
TYR	0.449	0.449	0.333	0.713	0.784	0.700	0.457	0.732	0.690	0.426	0.706	0.673	0.746	0.520	0.695	0.424	0.211	0.660	1

Table 3. Correlation matrix showing the correlation coefficients between CP and amino acids for the complete dataset of N-free diets.

In this table the colors used have the following meaning:

XXX	R <0.25
XXX	0.25 <u><</u> R < 0.50
XXX	0.50 <u><</u> R < 0.70
XXX	0.7- <u><</u> R < 0.80
XXX	R >0.80

1.2 Dataset with N-free diets from which observations with (estimated) Feeding Levels <2.5*MEm have been deleted.

In Table 4 some characteristics are given for the dataset of N-free diets after removing observations with an (estimated) Feeding Level (FL) below 2.5*MEm, whereas in Table 5 the correlation matrix showing the correlations between CP and amino acids is presented. Comparison of Table 4 with Table 1 shows that the average values for CP and Amino acids are very similar. The number of observations in Table 4 is

20-25 lower than in Table 1.

	BW	FL in times								Basal	endoge	enous I	oss g/l	kg DMI)							
	(kg)	MEm	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	162	163	152	163	163	163	163	163	162	163	163	131	163	162	159	148	158	157	133	159	133
Average	42.9	2.9	17.1	0.58	0.21	0.33	0.55	0.43	0.11	0.36	0.56	0.14	0.49	0.62	0.81	0.21	1.01	1.50	4.39	0.56	0.28
STDEV.	22.6	0.2	5.6	0.27	0.24	0.14	0.20	0.17	0.09	0.15	0.19	0.08	0.16	0.23	0.27	0.10	0.39	0.64	3.17	0.23	0.10
Min.	8.0	2.5	8.1	0.06	0.02	0.04	0.07	0.05	0.01	0.05	0.08	0.04	0.09	0.06	0.09	0.03	0.10	0.21	0.02	0.07	0.05
Max.	109.8	3.6	36.3	2.14	3.10	1.10	1.29	1.08	0.83	1.27	1.45	0.60	0.98	1.45	1.86	0.68	3.44	3.95	20.10	1.93	0.59

Table 4. Characteristics of the dataset after elimination of observations with a Feeding Level (FL) below 2.5*MEm.

 Table 5.
 Correlation matrix showing the correlations between amino acids for the dataset of N-free diets from which observations with FL <2.5*MEm have been deleted. *</th>

	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER
СР	1																	
ARG	0.763	1																
HIS	0.319	0.316	1															
ILE	0.527	0.530	0.358	1														
LEU	0.478	0.476	0.413	0.819	1													
LYS	0.508	0.550	0.368	0.761	0.775	1												
MET	0.207	0.204	0.222	0.547	0.611	0.389	1											
PHE	0.467	0.444	0.318	0.760	0.755	0.678	0.428	1										
THR	0.538	0.580	0.551	0.772	0.795	0.670	0.482	0.720	1									
TRP	0.203	0.188	0.275	0.377	0.404	0.230	0.600	0.469	0.530	1								
VAL	0.583	0.590	0.425	0.847	0.848	0.800	0.546	0.674	0.835	0.405	1							
ALA	0.704	0.732	0.334	0.736	0.759	0.662	0.589	0.640	0.744	0.606	0.798	1						
ASP	0.621	0.643	0.493	0.874	0.876	0.830	0.482	0.809	0.856	0.376	0.864	0.785	1					
CYS	0.411	0.299	0.490	0.599	0.700	0.526	0.712	0.555	0.700	0.442	0.656	0.591	0.642	1				
GLU	0.557	0.588	0.380	0.851	0.820	0.796	0.420	0.853	0.741	0.322	0.762	0.697	0.910	0.518	1			
GLY	0.819	0.845	0.309	0.478	0.445	0.467	0.232	0.414	0.606	0.208	0.575	0.731	0.614	0.391	0.492	1		
PRO	0.733	0.827	0.150	0.209	0.176	0.217	0.148	0.089	0.292	0.021	0.330	0.595	0.338	0.149	0.240	0.844	1	
SER	0.491	0.538	0.449	0.677	0.735	0.623	0.493	0.707	0.793	0.379	0.726	0.677	0.766	0.648	0.694	0.535	0.270	1
TYR	0.253	0.359	0.330	0.640	0.721	0.606	0.357	0.646	0.622	0.353	0.618	0.561	0.653	0.471	0.632	0.308	0.138	0.550

*: For an explanation of the colors see Table 3.

From Table 5 it can be concluded that the correlations between CP and Amino acids are very similar to those in Table 3, with the exception for MET. For this AA the correlations to several other amino acids are lower in Table 5.

1.3 Dataset with N-free diets from which first observations with an (estimated) FL <2.5*MEm have been deleted and subsequently outliers (observations deviating more than 2*STDEV from the average value) were removed.

In Table 6 some characteristics of the dataset are given for the N-free diets after deleting observations with a FL <2.5*MEm and removing values of amino acids that deviate >2*STDEV from the average value of that amino acid.

It must be recognized that the assumption that values deviating more than 2*STDEV from the average value are considered as outliers implicitly means that we consider the dataset as a random data population, and that the variation is not related to any (experimental) factor.

Table 6. Characteristics of the dataset after elimination of observations with a Feeding Level (FL) <2.5*MEm and elimination of outliers (values deviating more than 2.0 times STDEV from the average value) *

	D\A/	FL in							,	Basal e	endoge	enous l	oss g/k	(g DMI)							
	(kg)	times MEm	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	151	152	136	149	152	149	149	151	147	150	150	121	150	147	151	138	149	145	121	149	124
Average	43.4	2.9	16.3	0.56	0.20	0.33	0.55	0.43	0.10	0.36	0.56	0.12	0.49	0.61	0.81	0.20	1.00	1.45	4.08	0.54	0.28
STDEV.	23.0	0.3	4.6	0.21	0.07	0.09	0.15	0.15	0.04	0.11	0.13	0.04	0.13	0.17	0.21	0.06	0.28	0.51	2.44	0.16	0.09
Min.	8.0	2.5	8.1	0.14	0.08	0.13	0.22	0.18	0.02	0.13	0.24	0.04	0.22	0.21	0.32	0.08	0.23	0.50	0.02	0.21	0.10
Max.	109.8	3.6	27.9	1.11	0.50	0.60	0.93	0.78	0.22	0.65	0.93	0.22	0.81	1.03	1.35	0.35	1.73	2.61	10.45	0.99	0.47

*: If more than 5 AA or CP were identified as outliers the complete observations was deleted. This was the case for 11 observations.

Comparing Table 6 with Table 4 leads to the following conclusions:

- The number of observations in Table 6 is 8 16 less than in Table 4.
- The mean BW of the animals is slightly higher in Table 6 (+0.5 kg), whereas the average Feeding Level is the same (2.9*MEm).
- For most amino acids the differences in the average values between Table 4 and 6 are small (<0.02 g/kg DMI). For CP, GLY and PRO the differences are higher (1.2, 0.05 and 0.31 g/kg DMI, respectively). For some amino acids the STDEV in Table 6 is only slightly lower than in Table 4, but for CP and several other amino acids STDEV decreased more, due to the removal of outliers with high numerical values.

For the dataset with N-free diets without FL <2.5*MEm and without outliers the correlation coefficients between CP and amino acids are presented in Table 7. Table 8 shows for how many amino acids the correlation coefficient is below 0.25, between 0.25 - 050; between 0.50 - 0.70; between 0.70 - 0.80 and >0.80 for the correlations based on the dataset with N-free diets.

From Table 7 and 8 the following can be concluded:

- For PRO and GLY the correlation to other Amino acids is <0.50 for 14 and 12 Amino acids, respectively. For TYR the correlation is <0.50 for 10 Amino acids. For CP and all other amino acids, the correlation coefficients to the majority of the other amino acids is >0.50 (see Table 8)
- For all amino acids, except for ARG and GLY and for CP, the correlation coefficients to PRO are the lowest (Table 7).

For HIS and MET the correlations in Table 7 to many other amino acids are higher than in Table 3 and 5, due to the deleting of outliers (Table 7).
 For TRP this is less clear, but for this amino acid the accuracy in the analysis of the low levels may play a disturbing role.

	OĽ	oservati	ons wit	:h FL <2	2.5°ME	m and o	outliers ha	ive bee	n delete	ed. *									
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
СР	1																		
ARG	0.848	1																	
HIS	0.595	0.503	1																
ILE	0.588	0.509	0.676	1															
LEU	0.481	0.431	0.601	0.920	1														
LYS	0.486	0.458	0.564	0.796	0.741	1													
MET	0.150	0.135	0.433	0.644	0.712	0.496	1												
PHE	0.448	0.404	0.561	0.691	0.729	0.586	0.667	1											
THR	0.642	0.549	0.614	0.806	0.756	0.628	0.537	0.718	1										
TRP	0.490	0.459	0.491	0.557	0.552	0.493	0.551	0.658	0.624	1									
VAL	0.609	0.555	0.607	0.871	0.819	0.788	0.569	0.630	0.808	0.523	1								
ALA	0.802	0.689	0.595	0.779	0.768	0.674	0.536	0.680	0.721	0.591	0.785	1							
ASP	0.684	0.588	0.650	0.883	0.891	0.770	0.622	0.779	0.785	0.657	0.808	0.829	1						
CYS	0.398	0.245	0.522	0.588	0.654	0.472	0.618	0.612	0.647	0.439	0.611	0.512	0.657	1					
GLU	0.600	0.562	0.607	0.835	0.855	0.731	0.703	0.777	0.690	0.618	0.730	0.794	0.911	0.595	1				
GLY	0.904	0.791	0.419	0.414	0.345	0.293	0.045	0.288	0.500	0.437	0.458	0.664	0.465	0.277	0.360	1			
PRO	0.771	0.762	0.260		0.110	0.121	-0.098	0.081	0.227	0.298	0.248	0.503	0.266			0.857	1		

0.736 0.842

0.540

0.484

 Table 7.
 Correlation matrix showing the correlation coefficients between CP and amino acids for the dataset of N-free diets from which observations with FL <2.5*MEm and outliers have been deleted. *</th>

*: For an explanation of the colors see Table 3.

0.598

SER

TYR

0.651

0.552

0.684

0.339 0.596 0.663

0.544

0.471

0.622

0.556

0.722

In Table 9 the significances of the correlations between CP and amino acids are presented. As can be seen, most of the correlation coefficients are significant, even when the R-value of the correlation was below 0.50. For example, the correlation between ILE and PRO has a R-value of 0.181, but still is significant (p-value 0.049). That the correlations are significant even when the R-value is (relatively) low can be ascribed to the large number of observations. The lowest number of observations was 93 (for the correlation between TRP and PRO). In all other cases there were more than 100 observations. From Table 9 it is also evident that the correlation coefficients of PRO to 5 Amino acids (LEU, LYS, MET, PHE and CYS) is not significant. Further the correlation coefficient between ARG and MET and that between GLY and MET was not significant, whereas that between CP and MET there was a trend.

0.731

0.414

0.701

0.516

0.727

0.475

0.769

0.551

0.605

0.402

0.535

0.336

1

1

0.557

0.697

0.507

				Numbe	er of co	rrelations	coefficients to	other amir	no acids with an R-valu	e:	
CP or	AA		R>0.80	0.7	0 <u>></u> R <	0.80	0.50 <u>></u> R <	< 0.70	0.25 <u>></u> R < 0.50		R < 0.25
СР			3		1		7		5		2
ARG			1		2		8		4		3
HIS			0		0		13		5		0
ILE			5		2		9		1		1
LEU			5		2		7		3		1
LYS			0		5		5		7		1
MET			0		2		10		2		4
PHE			0		5		8		4		1
THR	HR		3		4		10		0		1
TRP	RP		0		1		9		8		0
VAL			4		4		8		1		1
ALA			2		6		8		1		1
ASP			5		4		7		2		0
CYS			0		0		11		5		1
GLU			3		5		8		1		1
GLY			2		1		3		10		2
PRO		1			2		1		4		10
SER			6		10		1		0		
TYR	TYR 0				0		8		6		4
In this	table the colors u	sed h	ave the following	meaning:							
	<5 observations		5 - 9 obse	vations		10 – 12 0	observations	13	8 – 15 observations		>15 observations

Table 8. Distribution of the correlation coefficients of CP and amino acids to each other for t
--

From this inventory it is evident that in the ileal chyme of animals fed a N-free diet PRO has a low correlation to most other amino acids, which in 5 cases also were not significant. This supports the assumption that the metabolism of PRO is disturbed in these diets. PRO has the highest correlation to GLY, followed by that to CP and ARG, respectively. GLY has the highest correlation coefficient to CP, followed by that to PRO and ARG, respectively. ARG has the highest correlation to CP, followed by that to GLY and PRO, respectively. This shows that also the metabolism of GLY and ARG is disturbed as a result of feeding N-free diets, but to a lesser extent than PRO.

	CP	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER
СР																		
ARG	<.0001																	
HIS	<.0001	<.0001																
ILE	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001															
LEU	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001														
LYS	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001													
MET	0.086	0.107	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001												
PHE	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001											
THR	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001										
TRP	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001									
VAL	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001								
ALA	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001							
ASP	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001						
CYS	<.0001	0.004	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001		_			
GLU	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001				
GLY	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.000	0.599	0.001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.001	<.0001			
PRO	<.0001	<.0001	0.004	0.049	0.237	0.187	0.293	0.380	0.013	0.004	0.007	<.0001	0.003	0.627	0.020	<.0001		_
SER	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.000	

Table 9. Significances of the correlations between CP and amino acids for the dataset with N-free diets from which observations with FL <2 5*MEm as well as outliers were deleted

2. BEL patterns determined with (low) casein diets

In Table 10 some characteristics are presented for the complete dataset of observations where BEL was determined with animals fed (low) casein diets. As can be seen the number of observations for TRP is lowest. Further, the number of observations for non-essential amino acids is much lower than for essential amino acids, because in several (older) publications only results for essential amino acids were published. Of these, the publication of Van Kempen et al. (2002) reports 5 patterns for BEL, determined at different locations. Further, for the two patterns in the publication of Hook et al. (2010) also only data for the essential amino acids is presented.

In the next tables the characteristics for the database with (low) casein diets are presented after deleting observations with (estimated) FL <2.5*MEm (Table 11) and the dataset remaining when subsequently also the outliers were removed (Table 12). Both Tables show that the number of observations for the non-essential amino acids is 5 – 8 less than for the essential amino acids (except for TRP).

	BW	FL in times								Basal	endoge	enous I	oss g/l	(g DMI))						
	(kg)	MEm	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	25	26	21	24	26	26	26	26	24	26	26	12	26	19	19	21	19	18	19	19	17
Average	41.8	2.7	14.0	0.54	0.42	0.50	0.65	0.47	0.14	0.35	0.70	0.15	0.60	0.62	0.94	0.25	1.62	1.12	2.82	0.82	0.38
STDEV.	26.1	0.6	5.0	0.27	0.49	0.19	0.18	0.16	0.04	0.13	0.25	0.09	0.20	0.23	0.35	0.15	0.55	0.70	2.36	0.27	0.39
Min.	6.2	1.2	5.3	0.15	0.10	0.17	0.25	0.20	0.07	0.15	0.25	0.06	0.24	0.12	0.41	0.03	0.95	0.13	0.54	0.33	0.01
Max.	100.0	3.9	22.8	1.21	2.39	0.87	1.10	0.86	0.24	0.63	1.22	0.40	1.14	0.98	1.70	0.76	2.80	2.54	9.12	1.35	1.84

Table 10. Characteristics of BEL determined in animals fed (low) casein diets. Complete dataset.

Table 11. Characteristics of BEL pattern determined with (low) casein diets; dataset after deleting of observations with a FL <2.5*MEm.

	BW	FL in times								Basal o	endoge	enous l	oss g/l	kg DMI)							
	(kg)	MEm	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	22	23	19	21	23	23	23	23	21	23	23	10	23	16	16	18	16	15	16	16	15
Average	40.2	2.9	13.7	0.53	0.45	0.46	0.64	0.48	0.14	0.35	0.69	0.16	0.57	0.62	0.93	0.23	1.51	1.20	3.11	0.82	0.40
STDEV.	23.5	0.4	5.0	0.23	0.52	0.16	0.18	0.17	0.04	0.12	0.24	0.09	0.18	0.18	0.32	0.11	0.49	0.74	2.47	0.25	0.41
Min.	6.2	2.5	5.3	0.15	0.10	0.17	0.25	0.20	0.07	0.15	0.25	0.09	0.24	0.20	0.43	0.03	0.95	0.13	0.57	0.37	0.14
Max.	93.2	3.9	22.8	1.08	2.39	0.87	1.10	0.86	0.21	0.63	1.22	0.40	1.14	0.90	1.70	0.43	2.80	2.54	9.12	1.35	1.84

Table 12. Characteristics of BEL pattern determined with (low) casein diets; dataset after deleting of observations with a FL <2.5*MEm and removal of outliers (values deviating more than 2*STDEV from the average value) *

	BW	FL in times								Basal e	endoge	nous l	oss g/ł	(g DMI)							
	(kg)	MEm	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	21	22	19	19	19	22	21	22	20	21	22	8	22	14	15	17	15	14	14	14	14
Average	39.4	2.9	13.7	0.48	0.26	0.44	0.64	0.46	0.13	0.33	0.67	0.13	0.55	0.63	0.88	0.22	1.42	1.12	2.49	0.80	0.30
STDEV.	23.7	0.4	5.0	0.18	0.10	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.04	0.10	0.22	0.04	0.13	0.14	0.26	0.10	0.36	0.71	1.81	0.21	0.09
Min.	6.2	2.5	5.3	0.15	0.10	0.17	0.41	0.20	0.07	0.15	0.25	0.09	0.24	0.36	0.43	0.03	0.95	0.13	0.57	0.37	0.14
Max.	93.2	3.9	22.8	0.70	0.47	0.65	0.85	0.72	0.21	0.52	1.00	0.19	0.73	0.88	1.29	0.42	2.11	2.54	5.38	1.19	0.46

*: If more than 5 AA or CP were identified as outliers the complete observations was deleted. This was the case for 1 observation.

In Table 13 the correlations between CP and amino acids are presented for the dataset with low casein diets without FL <2.5*MEm and without outliers. In Table 14 it is shown for how many amino acids the correlation coefficient is below 0.00; between 0.00 - 0.25, between 0.25 - 050; between 0.50 - 0.70; between 0.70 - 0.80 and >0.80.

		APC					MET	DHE	тир	VAL		٨CD	247	CI II			SED	TVD
CP	1	ANO	1115		LLU	LIU				VAL			010	GLU	GLI	INO	JER	
ARG	0 959	1																
ніс	0.000	0 334	1															
	0.666	0.004	-0.138	1														
	0.000	0.473	0.130	0.921	1													
	0.304	0.407	0.057	0.631	0.624	1												
	0.490	0.470	0.000	0.044	0.024	0.242	4											
	0.296	0.225	-0.091	0.521	0.796	0.342	0.007	4										
PHE	0.610	0.406	-0.014	0.771	0.914	0.494	0.837											
IHR	0.681	0.679	0.117	0.658	0.769	0.363	0.597	0.638	1									
VAL	0.741	0.594	-0.009	0.944	0.894	0.639	0.618	0.853	0.773	1								
ALA	0.828	0.685	0.064	0.497	0.407	0.018	0.217	0.417	0.599	0.518	1	_						
ASP	0.682	0.724	0.212	0.509	0.330	0.565	-0.244	-0.031	0.460	0.452	0.484	1	_					
CYS	0.843	0.776	0.118	0.493	0.394	0.347	0.052	0.241	0.819	0.545	0.682	0.802	1					
GLU	0.440	0.339	-0.046	0.677	0.439	0.676	-0.050	0.200	0.122	0.525	0.346	0.728	0.540	1				
GLY	0.913	0.829	0.124	0.409	0.031	0.286	-0.434	0.147	0.243	0.404	0.515	0.605	0.731	0.458	1			
PRO	0.751	0.676	0.064	0.215	-0.247	0.108	-0.507	-0.106	-0.207	0.163	0.112	0.317	0.470	0.348	0.842	1		
SER	0.852	0.713	0.140	0.482	0.282	-0.001	0.066	0.435	0.480	0.507	0.941	0.433	0.711	0.391	0.580	0.250	1	
TYR	-0.106	0.009	-0.207	0.610	0.821	0.346	0.675	0.500	0.749	0.598	0.284	0.407	0.361	0.314	-0.054	-0.365	0.102	1
In this	table the	colors	used hav	ve the fo	ollowing	meaning	g:											
	R < 0.00		0.0)0 <u><</u> R <	0.25	0.2	5 <u><</u> R < 0	0.50	0.50) <u><</u> R <	0.70	0.7	′- <u><</u> R<	0.80		R > 0.80)	

 Table 13.
 Correlation matrix showing the correlations between amino acids for the dataset of low casein diets from which observations with Feeding Levels <2.5*MEm and outliers have been deleted. *</td>

From a comparison of Table 7 and Table 13 it can be concluded that the correlations between amino acids in the dataset with low casein diets is much more scattered than in the dataset with N-free diets.

Table 14 shows that only for 5 amino acids (ARG, ILE, THR, VAL and CYS) the correlation to CP and all other amino acids is >50%, whereas for 11 amino acids the correlation to CP and all other amino acids is less than 0.50.

CP or AA	R>0.80	0.70 <u>></u> R < 0.80	0.50 <u>></u> R < 0.70	0.25 <u>></u> R < 0.50	0.00 <u>></u> R < 0.25	R < 0.00
СР	5	2	5	3	1	1
ARG	2	3	4	6	2	0
HIS	0	0	0	1	10	6
ILE	2	1	7	5	1	1
LEU	4	2	2	6	2	1
LYS	0	0	5	8	3	1
MET	1	1	4	2	4	5
PHE	3	1	2	5	3	3
THR	1	3	6	3	3	1
VAL	3	2	8	2	1	1
ALA	2	0	5	6	4	0
ASP	1	2	4	7	1	2
CYS	3	3	3	5	3	0
GLU	0	1	4	8	2	2
GLY	3	1	3	4	4	2
PRO	1	1	1	4	5	5
SER	2	2	2	7	3	1
TYR	1	1	3	6	2	4

 Table 14.
 Distribution of the correlations of CP and amino acids to each other. * ** ***

*: Because of the low number of observations, TRP has been omitted from this table

**: The total number per row is 17.

XXX

XXX XXX

***: In this table the colors used have the following meaning:

XXX Less than 5 observations in the 3 columns with R>0.50 or in the three columns with R<0.50

XXX 5 to 8 observations in the 3 columns with R>0.50 or in the three columns with R<0.50

9-11 observations in the 3 columns with R>0.50 or in the three columns with R<0.50

12 - 14 observations in the 3 columns with R>0.50 or in the three columns with R<0.50

> 14 observations in the 3 columns with R>0.50 or in the three columns with R<0.50

In Table 14 the number of correlations of CP and amino acids in the dataset with low casein diets (without FL <2.5*MEm and without outliers) is classified according to R-classes. This Table shows that the number of amino acids with a correlation coefficient >0.70 is low, whereas the number of amino acids with a (rather low) correlation coefficient between 0.25 - 0.50 is high.

It is concluded that in the chyme of animals fed low casein diets the variations in amino acid levels are much less related to each other than in the chyme of animals fed N-free diets.

CP or AA	R>0.80	0.70 <u>></u> R < 0.80	0.50 <u>></u> R < 0.70	0.25 <u>></u> R < 0.50	0.00 <u>></u> R < 0.25	R < 0.00
СР	5	2	5	3	1	1
ARG	2	3	4	6	2	0
HIS	0	0	0	1	10	6
ILE	2	1	7	5	1	1
LEU	4	2	2	6	2	1
LYS	0	0	5	8	3	1
MET	1	1	4	2	4	5
PHE	3	1	2	5	3	3
THR	1	3	6	3	3	1
VAL	3	2	8	2	1	1
ALA	2	0	5	6	4	0
ASP	1	2	4	7	1	2
CYS	3	3	3	5	3	0
GLU	0	1	4	8	2	2
GLY	3	1	3	4	4	2
PRO	1	1	1	4	5	5
SER	2	2	2	7	3	1
TYR	1	1	3	6	2	4

 Table 14.
 Number of the correlations of CP and amino acids to other amino acids per class (column). * **

*: Because of the low number of observations, TRP has been omitted from this table.

**: In this table the colors used have the following meaning:

<	<3 observations	3-4 observations	5-6 observations	7-8 observations	> 9 observations

In Table 15 the significances of the correlation coefficients of CP and amino acids to each other are presented. Generally speaking, correlation coefficients with an R-value below 0.50 are not significant. With this respect there is a remarkable difference between the dataset with low casein diets and the dataset with N-free diets. In the latter case correlations with much lower R-values already were significant. This distinction must be ascribed to the large difference in the number of observations. For the low casein diets from which observations with FL <2.5*MEm, outliers and values for TRP have been removed, the number of observations per correlation coefficient varies between 11 and 22.

	CP	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
СР																		
ARG	<.0001																	
HIS	0.422	0.150																
ILE	0.002	0.035	0.540															
LEU	0.012	0.030	0.869	<.0001														
LYS	0.030	0.034	0.824	0.001	0.002													
MET	0.248	0.340	0.702	0.018	<.0001	0.140												
PHE	0.007	0.085	0.952	<.0001	<.0001	0.023	<.0001											
THR	0.001	0.001	0.603	0.001	<.0001	0.097	0.006	0.002										
VAL	0.000	0.006	0.968	<.0001	<.0001	0.001	0.004	<.0001	<.0001									
ALA	0.001	0.010	0.820	0.060	0.133	0.948	0.476	0.138	0.018	0.048								
ASP	0.015	0.005	0.448	0.052	0.230	0.028	0.421	0.917	0.084	0.091	0.068							
CYS	<.0001	0.000	0.653	0.044	0.117	0.173	0.844	0.370	<.0001	0.024	0.015	0.002						
GLU	0.152	0.257	0.870	0.006	0.102	0.006	0.872	0.492	0.665	0.045	0.206	0.002	0.070					
GLY	<.0001	0.001	0.674	0.146	0.916	0.321	0.159	0.632	0.403	0.152	0.059	0.022	0.007	0.099				
PRO	0.008	0.016	0.828	0.460	0.394	0.713	0.093	0.731	0.478	0.577	0.704	0.270	0.144	0.223	0.000			
SER	0.001	0.009	0.633	0.081	0.329	0.999	0.839	0.120	0.082	0.064	<.0001	0.122	0.014	0.166	0.038	0.410		
TYR	0.757	0.978	0.477	0.021	0.000	0.226	0.016	0.082	0.002	0.024	0.325	0.149	0.276	0.275	0.862	0.199	0.740	

 Table 15.
 Significances of the correlation coefficients between CP and amino acids to each other for the dataset with low casein diets from which observations with FL <2.5*MEm as well as outliers and values for TRP were deleted.</th>

3. BEL patterns determined with the regression method

In Table 16 some characteristics are presented for the complete dataset in which BEL was determined by using the regression method. In total there were 19 observations. In Table 17 the results are shown after deleting from this dataset the observations with a FL <2.5*MEm. As can be seen, almost 50% of the observations has been removed. So, many studies using this method were performed at low feeding levels. Except for CYS, the average values for BEL of CP and amino acids are higher after deleting observations with low feeding level.

In Table 18 the data are given for the dataset remaining when, in addition to deletion of observations with low FL, also outliers were removed.

	BW	FL in		-						Basal	endoge	enous l	oss g/l	kg DMI)							
	(kg)	times	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	19	19	19	18	17	19	19	19	17	16	19	9	19	18	18	15	18	18	17	18	13
Average	36.8	2.5	14.7	0.79	0.23	0.46	0.76	0.52	0.21	0.49	0.69	0.21	0.66	0.71	0.97	0.36	1.72	1.17	2.00	0.74	0.34
STDEV.	23.7	1.0	9.1	0.83	0.18	0.36	0.70	0.46	0.23	0.39	0.49	0.20	0.56	0.60	0.80	0.32	1.85	0.87	1.65	0.44	0.32
Min.	5.7	1.2	3.1	0.21	0.08	0.14	0.31	0.23	0.04	0.18	0.24	0.03	0.23	0.14	0.29	0.09	0.31	0.33	0.34	0.29	-0.01
Max.	86.0	4.4	46.6	3.30	0.88	1.68	3.31	2.26	0.97	1.71	2.50	0.66	2.69	2.85	3.75	1.01	7.82	3.63	5.44	2.25	1.11

Table 16. Characteristics of the complete dataset with BEL patterns determined with the regression method.

Table 17. Characteristics of the dataset with BEL patterns determined with the regression method, after elimination of observations with a FL <2.5*MEm.

	BW	FL in								Basal	endoge	enous	oss g/l	kg DMI)							
	(kg)	times	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	10	10	10	9	10	10	10	10	10	9	10	5	10	9	9	9	9	9	8	9	8
Average	36.4	3.3	15.4	0.96	0.26	0.53	0.90	0.62	0.23	0.53	0.76	0.29	0.75	0.84	1.11	0.33	2.14	1.28	2.40	0.80	0.41
STDEV.	12.3	0.6	12.1	1.13	0.24	0.45	0.95	0.62	0.29	0.52	0.66	0.24	0.75	0.82	1.09	0.37	2.55	1.04	1.84	0.58	0.35
Min.	17.0	2.5	3.1	0.21	0.08	0.20	0.31	0.23	0.04	0.18	0.24	0.07	0.23	0.26	0.29	0.09	0.31	0.50	0.34	0.38	0.15
Max.	52.5	4.4	46.6	3.30	0.88	1.68	3.31	2.26	0.97	1.71	2.50	0.66	2.69	2.85	3.75	1.01	7.82	3.63	5.44	2.25	1.11

In Table 19 the correlation coefficients between CP and amino acids are presented for the dataset of the regression method from which observations with $FL \leq 2.5^{*}MEm$ and outliers have been deleted. Because of the low number of observations, TRP has been omitted in this Table. As can be seen, all correlations are >0.50. Nevertheless, in three cases (with digits in red) the correlation coefficient was not significant.

Table 18. Characteristics of the dataset with BEL patterns determined with the regression method, after elimination of observations with a FL

 <2.5*MEm and of outliers (values deviating more than 2.0 times STDEV from the average value) *</td>

a. Including one BEL pattern from the publication of Fan and Sauer (2002), that was not deleted in the outlier procedure

	BW	FL in times								Basal e	endoge	enous l	oss g/ŀ	(g DMI))						
	(kg)	ME-m	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	9	9	9	8	9	9	9	9	9	8	9	4	9	8	8	8	8	8	7	8	7
Average	37.0	3.2	12.0	0.67	0.19	0.40	0.63	0.43	0.14	0.38	0.57	0.20	0.54	0.59	0.78	0.25	1.43	0.99	2.24	0.62	0.31
STDEV.	12.8	0.6	5.5	0.76	0.10	0.21	0.45	0.23	0.14	0.28	0.25	0.15	0.32	0.34	0.50	0.29	1.51	0.60	1.92	0.21	0.23
Min.	17.0	2.5	3.1	0.21	0.08	0.20	0.31	0.23	0.04	0.18	0.24	0.07	0.23	0.26	0.29	0.09	0.31	0.50	0.34	0.38	0.15
Max.	52.5	4.4	23.6	2.54	0.44	0.89	1.80	0.87	0.52	1.06	1.14	0.41	1.33	1.36	1.92	0.97	5.07	2.27	5.44	1.08	0.81

*: If more than 5 AA or CP were identified as outliers the complete observations was deleted. This was the case for 1 observation.

	BW	FL in times								Basal e	endoge	enous I	oss g/l	(g DMI)							
	(kg)	ME-m	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	8	8	8	7	8	8	8	8	8	7	8	3	8	7	7	7	7	7	6	7	6
Average	37.9	3.2	10.5	0.41	0.16	0.34	0.48	0.38	0.10	0.28	0.50	0.13	0.44	0.48	0.62	0.14	0.91	0.81	1.71	0.56	0.23
STDEV.	13.5	0.6	3.6	0.12	0.04	0.11	0.12	0.17	0.03	0.07	0.15	0.07	0.13	0.14	0.20	0.04	0.37	0.33	1.43	0.12	0.07
Min.	17.0	2.5	3.1	0.21	0.08	0.20	0.31	0.23	0.04	0.18	0.24	0.07	0.23	0.26	0.29	0.09	0.31	0.50	0.34	0.38	0.15
Max.	52.5	4.4	15.5	0.57	0.20	0.50	0.66	0.72	0.14	0.40	0.70	0.20	0.59	0.66	0.90	0.20	1.37	1.29	4.27	0.72	0.32

b. Without the BEL pattern from the publication of Fan and Sauer (2002), that was not deleted in the outlier procedure

 Table 19.
 Correlation matrix showing the correlations between amino acids for the dataset of the regression method from which observations with Feeding Levels <2.5*MEm and outliers have been deleted. * **</th>

	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
СР	1																	
ARG	0.862	1																
HIS	0.917	0.948	1															
ILE	0.935	0.932	0.908	1														
LEU	0.873	0.978	0.979	0.919	1													
LYS	0.850	0.747	0.829	0.814	0.758	1												
MET	0.839	0.980	0.949	0.857	0.973	0.676	1											
PHE	0.863	0.977	0.979	0.916	0.994	0.761	0.976	1										
THR	0.928	0.888	0.953	0.932	0.939	0.754	0.886	0.939	1									
VAL	0.941	0.971	0.965	0.982	0.971	0.828	0.927	0.965	0.949	1								
ALA	0.916	0.953	0.980	0.935	0.984	0.762	0.953	0.965	0.946	0.979	1							
ASP	0.910	0.947	0.993	0.938	0.982	0.814	0.941	0.986	0.974	0.975	0.972	1						
CYS	0.809	0.978	0.958	0.873	0.980	0.757	0.983	0.985	0.871	0.938	0.938	0.954	1					
GLU	0.896	0.994	0.966	0.960	0.980	0.795	0.964	0.977	0.914	0.990	0.967	0.965	0.973	1				
GLY	0.832	0.876	0.841	0.762	0.820	0.793	0.876	0.827	0.706	0.830	0.815	0.797	0.908	0.862	1			
PRO	0.865	0.788	0.787	0.822	0.731	0.910	0.735	0.718	0.665	0.829	0.778	0.741	0.735	0.818	0.947	1		
SER	0.947	0.924	0.923	0.995	0.921	0.767	0.881	0.913	0.950	0.979	0.945	0.937	0.862	0.950	0.758	0.796	1	
TYR	0.850	0.976	0.928	0.896	0.963	0.648	0.987	0.972	0.936	0.936	0.939	0.946	0.954	0.956	0.850	0.717	0.908	1

*: Correlation coefficients >0.80 are marked dark green, between 0.70 – 0.80 in mid green and between 0.50 – 0.70 in light green. **: Number in red means that the correlation was not significant.



Figure 2. Relationship between some amino acids in datasets indicated in the heading of the figure.

When making graphs of the relationship of some amino acids to other amino acids for the dataset of which a summary is presented in Table 18.a it was found that in most cases there was one observation with high BEL levels that dominated the relationship.³ Some examples are presented in Figure 2, showing graphs (on the left) including this particular observation and (on the right) without this observation.

In the first example in Figure 2, the relationship between PHE and THR, there is a very significant relationship between these amino acids, both with and without the data of Fan and Sauer (2002) (left and right graph, respectively). In the second example there is a very significant relationship between HIS and VAL if the data of Fan and Sauer are included, but the significance is much lower without this observation. In the third example there is a very significant relationship between TYR and THR if the data of Fan and Sauer are included (left graph), but without this data the relationship is no longer significant (p: 0.175) although the correlation coefficient still has a reasonable value (r: 0.635). In the fourth example the relationship between ILE and PRO is significant when the data of Fan and Sauer are included, although the relationship was less good than for the other three comparable examples, but after removing this data the relationship was no longer significant.

From Figure 2 it also can be seen that the slope of the relationships between the amino acids is very different in the left and the corresponding right graph.

The number of observations of the dataset in which BEL was determined with the regression method, after deleting observations with FL<2.5*MEm, outliers and the observation of Fan and Sauer, is low (≤ 8). This in combination to the inaccuracy of the amino acid determination in the chyme, means that no firm conclusions can be drawn. This is also demonstrated by a combined observation of the Tables 19 and 20. In Table 19 the correlation matrix is presented for the relationships between the amino acids of the dataset where the BEL pattern was studied using the regression method. In this Table not only the observations with FL<2.5*MEm and outliers were deleted, but also the data from the study of Fan and Sauer (2002). In Table 20 the significances of the correlation coefficients are given.

In Table 19 in 42 cases the correlation coefficient was \geq 0.80 and in 14 cases between 0.70 and 0.80. All these coefficients were significant, as could be deduced from Table 20. From the 45 correlation coefficients between 0.50 – 0.70 in Table 19, it appeared from Table 20 that only in 6 cases the coefficient was significant.

³ This was an observation from the study of Fan, M.Z. and W.C. Sauer (2002). The values of a second BEL pattern published in this paper were even higher; this pattern was completely deleted, because for >5 amino acids the values were >2*STDEV above the average value of that amino acid.

	CP	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
СР	1																	
ARG	0.895	1																
HIS	0.802	0.547	1															
ILE	0.815	0.907	0.555	1														
LEU	0.693	0.519	0.859	0.634	1													
LYS	0.667	0.433	0.646	0.563	0.390	1												
MET	0.504	0.423	0.518	0.084	0.504	-0.132	1											
PHE	0.656	0.461	0.880	0.557	0.903	0.426	0.534	1	_									
THR	0.791	0.681	0.847	0.749	0.900	0.405	0.531	0.942										
VAL	0.906	0.886	0.743	0.958	0.779	0.641	0.249	0.678	0.826	1								
ALA	0.795	0.687	0.859	0.678	0.932	0.392	0.610	0.737	0.813	0.846	1	_						
ASP	0.771	0.568	0.950	0.691	0.910	0.588	0.455	0.965	0.952	0.816	0.803	1						
CYS	0.324	-0.126	0.750	0.046	0.610	0.565	0.319	0.691	0.484	0.272	0.408	0.697	1	_				
GLU	0.904	0.907	0.730	0.967	0.652	0.650	0.247	0.579	0.757	0.988	0.770	0.740	0.133	1				
GLY	0.487	0.328	0.222	0.029	-0.115	0.507	0.322	-0.076	-0.073	0.140	0.099	0.006	0.193	0.203	1			
PRO	0.687	0.610	0.419	0.543	0.111	0.814	0.096	0.030	0.127	0.601	0.382	0.236	0.078	0.696	0.977	1		
SER	0.858	0.946	0.644	0.980	0.674	0.435	0.346	0.617	0.818	0.958	0.761	0.720	-0.017	0.953	0.058	0.470	1	
TYR	0.514	0.633	0.262	0.380	0.444	-0.274	0.821	0.540	0.635	0.383	0.480	0.366	-0.314	0.328	0.161	0.048	0.544	1
*: Dat	a for TR	P are on	nitted be	ecause o	of the lov	v number	of obse	rvations.										
**: In th	his table	the color	rs used	have the	e followir	na meani	na:											

Table 20. Correlation matrix showing the correlations between amino acids for the dataset of the regression method from which observations with Feeding Levels <2.5*MEm, outliers and the observation of Fan and Sauer (2002) have been deleted. * **

4. Comparison of the average BEL patterns determined in animals fed N-free diets, (low) casein diets and the regression method after deleting observations with FL <2.5*MEm and removal of outliers (see par. 1-3).

0.50 < R < 0.70

0.70 < R < 0.80

R > 0.80

0.25 < R < 0.50

0.00 < R <0.25

R < 0.25

In all three datasets there are observations where the BEL pattern is determined at low feedings levels. As the project on the actualization of the 'Table of the amino acid digestibility's of feedstuffs for pigs' will be used for the formulation and feeding of pigs under practical conditions it was decided to delete observations with an estimated feeding level below 2.5*MEm. From the dataset with N-free diets 24 out of 187 observations were removed (12.8%), from the dataset with (low) casein diets 3 out of 26 observations (11.5%) and from the dataset with the regression method 9 out of 19 observations (47.4%).

	CP		HIS		LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL		ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
СР																			
ARG	0.007																		
HIS	0.017	0.204																	
ILE	0.014	0.005	0.154																
LEU	0.057	0.232	0.006	0.092															
LYS	0.071	0.332	0.083	0.146	0.339														
MET	0.202	0.345	0.189	0.843	0.203	0.755													
PHE	0.110	0.297	0.009	0.194	0.005	0.340	0.217												
THR	0.019	0.092	0.008	0.032	0.002	0.319	0.176	0.002											
TRP	0.929	0.962	0.385	0.906	0.246	0.971	0.212	0.060	0.047										
VAL	0.002	0.008	0.035	0.000	0.023	0.087	0.552	0.094	0.012	0.902									
ALA	0.033	0.088	0.013	0.094	0.002	0.384	0.146	0.059	0.026	0.741	0.017								
ASP	0.043	0.183	0.001	0.086	0.004	0.165	0.305	0.000	0.001	0.131	0.025	0.030							
CYS	0.478	0.811	0.052	0.923	0.146	0.186	0.486	0.128	0.271	0.039	0.555	0.422	0.124						
GLU	0.005	0.005	0.063	0.000	0.112	0.114	0.594	0.173	0.049	0.906	<.0001	0.043	0.057	0.802					
GLY	0.268	0.472	0.632	0.951	0.806	0.246	0.481	0.871	0.876	0.658	0.764	0.833	0.990	0.715	0.663				
PRO	0.132	0.198	0.409	0.265	0.834	0.049	0.857	0.955	0.811	0.595	0.207	0.455	0.652	0.884	0.125	0.001			
SER	0.014	0.001	0.118	0.000	0.097	0.329	0.448	0.140	0.024	0.773	0.001	0.047	0.068	0.975	0.001	0.902	0.347		
TYR	0.297	0.177	0.616	0.458	0.378	0.599	0.045	0.269	0.175	1.000	0.453	0.335	0.475	0.607	0.525	0.761	0.939	0.265	
*: Da	Data for TRP are omitted because of the low number of observations.																		
**: In t	his table	the col	ors use	d have	the follo	wing m	eaning:												
	$0.50 < n_{\odot}$	- 1 00		10 < R	< 0.50		0.05 < n	< 0.10		0.00)) < n < (05							

Table 21. Significances of the correlation coefficients between amino acids for the dataset of the regression method from which observations with Feeding Levels <2.5*MEm, outliers and the observation of Fan and Sauer (2002) have been deleted. * **

From the datasets with (estimated) $FL \ge 2.5^{*}MEm$ individual values for each AA and CP that deviated more than 2*STDEV from the average were deleted. When more than 5 amino acids (and CP) were removed the observation was completely removed. This implied that from the dataset with the N-free diets 11 observations were completely removed (6.8 %), from the dataset with (low) casein diets and the dataset with the regression method in both cases 1 observation (4.4 and 10%, respectively).

Table 22 shows that, compared to the other amino acids, the average basal endogenous losses of PRO and GLY are the highest for all three methods. In the dataset for N-free diets especially the value for PRO is very high compared to datasets of the (low) casein diets (64% higher) and the regression method (82% higher). After deleting observations with low feeding levels and the outliers the maximum value for the PRO-loss determined

with (low) casein diets and the regression method was 5.83 and 5.44 g/kg DMI, whereas the highest PRO loss in the dataset with N-free diets was 10.45 g/kg DMI. In this latter dataset for 29 out of 121 observations (24%) a PRO loss >5.4 g/kg DMI was reported. Further, Table 21 also shows that the average loss of GLY is highest too in the dataset with N-free diets (1.45 g/kg DM versus 1.12 and 0.99 g/kg DMI for the (low) casein diets and the regression method, respectively). Looking for the maximum value for the loss of GLY it appears that the loss for the N-free diets indeed is the highest (2.62 g/kg DMI), but the difference to the (low) casein diets (2,54 g/lg DMI) and the regression method (2.27 g/kg DMI) is not large.

Table 22. Comparison of the number of observations, average values and STDEV for the 3 most often used methods to determine BEL. For all three methods observations with Feeding Level <2.5*MEm have been deleted and outliers have been removed. From the dataset of the regression method also the observations of Fan and Sauer (2002) has been removed.

	BW	FL in							E	Basal e	ndoge	nous lo	oss g/k	g DMI)	*						
	(kg)	times MEm	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
N-free met	thod																				
Number	151	152	136	149	152	149	149	151	147	150	150	121	150	147	151	138	149	145	121	149	124
Average	43.4	2.9	16.3	0.56	0.20	0.33	0.55	0.43	0.10	0.36	0.56	0.12	0.49	0.61	0.81	0.20	1.00	1.45	4.08	0.54	0.28
STDEV.	23.0	0.3	4.6	0.21	0.07	0.09	0.15	0.15	0.04	0.11	0.13	0.04	0.13	0.17	0.21	0.06	0.28	0.51	2.44	0.16	0.09
(Low) Casein method																					
Number	21	22	19	19	19	22	21	22	20	21	22	8	22	14	15	17	15	14	14	14	14
Average	39.4	2.9	13.7	0.48	0.26	0.44	0.64	0.46	0.13	0.33	0.67	0.13	0.55	0.63	0.88	0.22	1.42	1.12	2.49	0.80	0.30
STDEV.	23.7	0.4	5.0	0.18	0.10	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.04	0.10	0.22	0.04	0.13	0.14	0.26	0.10	0.36	0.71	1.81	0.21	0.09
Regressio	n metho	b																			
Number	9	9	9	8	9	9	9	9	9	8	9	4	9	8	8	8	8	8	7	8	7
Average	37.0	3.2	12.0	0.67	0.19	0.40	0.63	0.43	0.14	0.38	0.57	0.20	0.54	0.59	0.78	0.25	1.43	0.99	2.24	0.62	0.31
STDEV.	12.8	0.6	5.5	0.76	0.10	0.21	0.45	0.23	0.14	0.28	0.25	0.15	0.32	0.34	0.50	0.29	1.51	0.60	1.92	0.21	0.23

*: For each amino acid the cell with the highest average value of the three methods is hatched light red.

Also, the average CP loss is highest in the dataset with N-free diets (16.2 g/kg DMI), which can in part be explained by the high endogenous loss of PRO. Removing the values for the CP loss for all observations with a PRO loss >5.4 g/kg DMI resulted in a decrease of the CP loss from 16.4 \pm 4.6 g/kg DMI (136 observations) to 15.1 \pm 4.2 g/kg DMI (108 observations). This value further decreased to 14.0 \pm 3.4 g/kg DMI (82 observations) in case also the values for the CP loss were removed for observations where no PRO loss was reported. This latter value is much closer to the average values for the CP loss in the (low) casein diets (13.7 \pm 5.0 g/kg DMI) and the regression method (12.0 \pm 5.5 g/kg DMI).

As has been suggested earlier, it is likely that the extremely high basal endogenous losses of PRO are an artefact of the N-free method. Also, with the two other methods sometimes high(er) PRO losses are reported, but the values are not as extreme as in the case of the N-free diets.

Table 21 further shows that for 9 amino acids the highest average values for BEL are found with the (low) casein diets. For 7 amino acids the average BEL value was highest in the dataset for the regression method. Only for two amino acids (GLY and PRO) and for CP the average values were highest in the dataset with N-free diets.

Concerning this discussion, it should be noted that the dataset of BEL patterns determined with the regression method is small (maximum number of observations, inclusive the observation of Fan and Sauer (2002), for several amino acids is only 9) compared to the two other methods. Of these two last methods the dataset with N-free diets is about 7 times larger than that the dataset with the low casein diets and at least 15 times larger than the dataset of the regression method.

5. Evaluation of the relationships between amino acids in the various datasets

The Tables 1, 4 and 6 show that in the dataset in which the BEL pattern in the ileal chyme was determined by using N-free diets the level of PRO is much higher than that for the two other amino acids. Further, the variation of the level of CP in the ileal chyme is determined to a substantial extent by the PRO level. In the scientific literature it is often suggested that the high levels of PRO are, at least partially, an artefact. To get more insight in the variation in the levels of CP and amino acids in BEL, it was examined whether the variation in one amino acid might be related to that of other amino acids. In Figure 1 the relationships of all amino acids to GLU are presented. In Table 2 the relationships of all amino acids to GLU, THR and PRO is given. In the Tables 3, 5 and 7 correlation matrixes are presented for the complete dataset with N-free diets, as well as for this dataset after deleting observations with low FL and also after removing outliers, respectively. From Table 7 and 9 (showing the significances of the correlation coefficients) it was concluded that the relationships of all amino acids to PRO were worst, indeed indicating that this amino acid showed a deviating behavior. For the amino acids GLY and ARG this also may be a point of discussion.

If the different behavior of PRO (and to a lesser degree also GLY and ARG) in the BEL of animals fed N-free diets is caused by the absence of protein, it was expected that PRO would not show this behavior in animals fed (low) casein diets or in BEL patterns determined with the regression method. The fact that these datasets are much smaller than that of N-free diets is a serious restriction to evaluate this assumption. The dataset with low casein diets includes several observations in which only the essential amino acids were analyzed in the chyme. So, the number of observations for non-essential amino acids is 6 - 7 less (approx. 33%) than for the essential amino acids.

For the low casein diets (after deleting low FL and outliers) the correlation matrix is presented in Table 13, whereas the significances of the correlation coefficients are shown in Table 15. Contrary to what was expected, the R-value for the relationships between the amino acids was below 0.50 for approx. 60% of the situations. The number of situations where the correlation coefficient was not significant was comparable. So, this dataset did not support our expectation.

Likely due to the difference in the number of observations, Table 15 shows that, except for HIS (and MET), most relationships between essential amino acids in the (low) casein dataset are (strongly) significant, whereas for non-essential amino acids (except for ALA and ASP) the relationship to essential and other non-essential amino acids is not significant. Further, it is worthwhile to mention that the situation differs largely between amino acids in the (low) casein dataset

- For HIS there is no significant relationship to CP or any other amino acid.
- For PRO and GLY there are no significant relationships to most of the other amino acids, but for CP and some amino acids the relationship is highly significant.
- Contrary, for ILE, ARG, VAL, ALA and ASP there is a significant relationship to CP and most of the other amino acids.

For the dataset with BEL patterns determined with the regression method many studies had to be deleted because of the low feeding level. After removing outliers (especially two BEL patterns from a study of Fan and Sauer, 2002), a small dataset remained. In fact, this dataset is too limited for an in-depth examination of the relationships between amino acids. From Table 20 and 21 it can be concluded that, although for several amino acids the correlation coefficient has an R-value between 0.50 - 0.70, this coefficient is not significant. So, this dataset was not adequate to evaluate the assumption that loss of PRO (and GLY and ARG) do not show deviating behavior in the chyme of animals fed protein containing diets.

6. Various calculations to obtain an overall pattern for the Basal Endogenous Loss

6.1 <u>Option 1</u>: First calculate the arithmetic average for each of the three methods used to determine the basal endogenous loss and subsequently calculate the arithmetic averages of these three arithmetic averages.

In Table 23 the results are presented for the calculation of an overall BEL pattern in which final mean values were calculated by taking the averages of the average values presented in Table 6 (N-free diet), 12 (low casein diet) and 18.b (regression method without the observation of Fan and Sauer, 2002). From all these datasets observations with FL <2.5*MEm and outliers were deleted.

In this option the contribution of all three methods to the final mean value is equal, irrespective the large differences in the number of observations, which implies that the limited datasets of the (low) casein diets and the regression method have a strong effect on the calculated averages.

								Basal e	endoge	enous l	oss g/l	(g DMI)							
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
Average	13.50	0.48	0.21	0.37	0.56	0.42	0.11	0.32	0.58	0.13	0.49	0.57	0.77	0.19	1.11	1.13	2.76	0.63	0.27
STDEV.	2.91	0.08	0.05	0.06	0.08	0.04	0.02	0.04	0.09	0.01	0.06	0.08	0.13	0.04	0.27	0.32	1.21	0.14	0.04
STDEV/Average *	0.22	0.16	0.24	0.16	0.14	0.10	0.16	0.12	0.15	0.05	0.11	0.14	0.17	0.22	0.25	0.28	0.44	0.23	0.13

Table 23. Overall pattern for the Basal Endogenous Loss of CP and AA, obtained by calculating the mean values of the averages obtained for the three methods after deleting the observations with low Feed Intake and after deleting the outliers.

*: Values between 0.10 – 0.20 are marked light grey; between 0.20 – 0.30 middle grey and >0.30 dark grey.

6.2 <u>Option 2</u>: Pool all observations of the three methods and calculate the arithmetic averages for CP and amino acids.

In this calculation the pooled observations were used of each of the three methods from which observations with low feeding levels were deleted and (subsequently) outliers were removed.

The result of this option is presented in Table 24. In this option, the calculated averages are mainly determined by the N-free diets.

Table 24. Overall pattern for the Basal Endogenous Loss of CP and AA, calculated after pooling all data of the individual datasets with Nfree diets, (low) casein diets and the regression method. The datasets pooled were the complete sets for each method from which observations with low Feeding Level were deleted and from which outliers have been removed.

	Basal endogenous loss g/kg DMI)																		
	СР	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
Number	163	176	182	179	179	181	175	178	180	132	180	169	173	162	171	166	141	170	144
Average	15.73	0.55	0.21	0.34	0.55	0.43	0.10	0.35	0.57	0.12	0.49	0.60	0.80	0.20	1.03	1.39	3.82	0.56	0.28
STDEV.	4.76	0.21	0.13	0.10	0.15	0.15	0.04	0.11	0.15	0.04	0.13	0.17	0.22	0.07	0.31	0.54	2.43	0.18	0.09
STDEV/Average *	0.30	0.38	0.62	0.31	0.28	0.35	0.39	0.31	0.26	0.30	0.27	0.29	0.27	0.33	0.30	0.39	0.64	0.31	0.32
Min.	3.1	0.14	0.08	0.13	0.22	0.18	0.02	0.13	0.24	0.04	0.22	0.20	0.29	0.03	0.23	0.13	0.02	0.21	0.10
Max.	27.9	1.11	1.29	0.65	0.93	0.78	0.22	0.65	1.00	0.22	0.81	1.03	1.35	0.42	2.11	2.61	10.45	1.19	0.47

*: Values between 0.10 – 0.20 are marked light grey; between 0.20 – 0.30 middle grey and \geq 0.30 dark grey.

6.3 <u>Option 3</u>: Calculation of a weighted average for the three methods.

For calculation of the weighted average the following data and steps are necessary (See Table 25):

- The number of observations per method (stap 1a, 2a and 3a).
- The weighing factor (= $\sqrt{}$ of the number of observations for each item and each method) (step 3a, 3b and 3c).
- The sum of the endogenous losses of all observations for CP and each amino acid per method (step 4a, 4b and 4c).
- Calculation of the Sum of the losses / weighing factor of the three methods' (step 5): this implies first a calculation of the (Sum of losses of n/weighing factor) per method followed by summing of the data of the three methods.
- Calculation of the Sum of the weighing factors (step 6).
- Calculation of the weighted average (step 7) by dividing the result of step 5 by the result of step 6.

7. Proposal for the general BEL pattern to be used

For the project on the actualization of the ileal digestibility of feed ingredients for pigs It is proposed to use the BEL pattern based on the weighted average of the three methods for determination of BEL, as presented in Table 25. This pattern will be used for the following purposes:

- Recalculation of SID coefficients of the diets into SID coefficients of the test ingredient
- Recalculation of *AID* coefficients of the test ingredient into *SID* coefficients

As the BEL value of PRO is substantially higher than that of the other amino acids this value will be used only under the condition that the calculated SID of PRO does not deviate more than 5%-units from the average of the SID's of all amino acids except for PRO. If this is the case, the average value for all SID coefficients will be used.

Further this general BEL pattern should be used in setting the requirements for piglets and growing/fattening pigs.

Table 25. Basal endogenous losses calculated as the weighted averages of the arithmetic average values of the three individual datasets (from which in each case the observations with a feeding level <2.5 * maintenance requirement for energy and of values deviating more than 2*STDEV from the average values were deleted. For an explanation for the steps in the calculation of the weighted average see text.

ltem	CP	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	TRP	VAL	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
item							Bas	sal ilea	l endo	genous	loss (g/kg Dl	MI)						
N-free diets																			
1a. n	136	149	152	149	149	151	147	150	150	121	150	147	151	138	149	145	121	149	124
2a. Average (g/kg DMI)	16.30	0.56	0.20	0.33	0.55	0.43	0.10	0.36	0.56	0.12	0.49	0.61	0.81	0.20	1.00	1.45	4.08	0.54	0.28
3a. Weighing factor (= \sqrt{n})	11.66	12.21	12.33	12.21	12.21	12.29	12.12	12.25	12.25	11.00	12.25	12.12	12.29	11.75	12.21	12.04	11.00	12.21	11.14
4a. Sum losses of n	2218.5	83.3	29.8	48.6	81.7	65.0	14.5	53.5	84.5	14.9	73.3	89.3	121.7	27.9	148.3	210.0	494.0	80.4	34.8
Casein diets																			
1b. n	19	20	22	22	22	22	20	21	22	8	22	15	15	17	15	14	14	14	14
2b. Average (g/kg DMI)	13.7	0.48	0.26	0.44	0.64	0.46	0.13	0.33	0.67	0.13	0.55	0.63	0.88	0.22	1.42	1.12	2.49	0.8	0.3
3b. Weighing factor (= \sqrt{n})	4.36	4.47	4.69	4.69	4.69	4.69	4.47	4.58	4.69	2.83	4.69	3.87	3.87	4.12	3.87	3.74	3.74	3.74	3.74
4b. Sum losses of n	261.0	10.0	7.9	9.6	13.7	10.1	2.7	6.8	14.8	1.0	12.0	9.0	13.2	3.7	21.3	15.7	34.9	11.2	4.1
Regression method		•							•				•	•	•				
1c. n	8	7	8	8	8	8	8	7	8	3	8	7	7	7	7	7	6	7	6
2c. Average (g/kg DMI)	10.50	0.41	0.16	0.34	0.48	0.38	0.10	0.28	0.50	0.13	0.44	0.48	0.62	0.14	0.91	0.81	1.71	0.56	0.23
<i>3c. Weighing factor</i> (= \sqrt{n})	2.83	2.65	2.83	2.83	2.83	2.83	2.83	2.65	2.83	1.73	2.83	2.65	2.65	2.65	2.65	2.65	2.45	2.65	2.45
5. Sum losses/weighing factor for:		•							•				•	•	•				
N-free diets (= 4a/3a)	190.2	6.8	2.4	4.0	6.7	5.3	1.2	4.4	6.9	1.4	6.0	7.4	9.9	2.4	12.1	17.4	44.9	6.6	3.1
Casein diets (= 4b/3b)	59.9	2.2	1.7	2.0	2.9	2.2	0.6	1.5	3.1	0.4	2.6	2.3	3.4	0.9	5.5	4.2	9.3	3.0	1.1
Regression method (= 4c/3c)	29.8	1.1	0.5	1.0	1.4	1.1	0.3	0.7	1.4	0.2	1.2	1.3	1.6	0.4	2.4	2.1	4.2	1.5	0.6
5. Sum three methods of 'sum losses of n / weighing factor'	279.9	10.1	4.6	7.0	11.0	8.5	2.1	6.6	11.4	1.9	9.8	11.0	14.9	3.6	20.1	23.8	58.4	11.1	4.8
6. Sum weighing factors (= 3a + 3b + 3c)	18.85	19.32	19.85	19.73	19.73	19.81	19.42	19.48	19.77	15.56	19.77	18.64	18.81	18.52	18.73	18.43	17.19	18.59	17.33
7. Weighted average (= 5/6)	14.85	0.52	0.23	0.35	0.56	0.43	0.11	0.34	0.58	0.12	0.49	0.59	0.79	0.20	1.07	1.29	3.40	0.59	0.28

ANNEX II: Poster presented at the 15th International Symposium Digestive Physiology in Pigs (DPP 2022) in Rotterdam (17-20 May 2022).





Machiel Blok, Wouter Spek, Paul Bikker

Poster 104

Background

Basal endogenous losses (BEL) are caused by the passage of a diet through the digestive tract. The magnitude of BEL varies substantially between studies. We hypothesized that BEL is experiment specific. Hence, AID of AA depends on the BEL of that experiment, whereas SID is independent of BEL.

Objectives

Testing the hypothesis by conducting a meta-analysis of peer-reviewed studies reporting both the AID and SID of CP and AA of corn, as well as the BEL determined with N-free diets in the same study.

Material and Methods

- Dataset: 18 peer-reviewed studies: 16 (27 observations) reporting both AID and SID; 2 (5 observations) reporting only SID. For 1 study with 9 observations and high BEL values for most AA, the averages of all observations were used (Table 1).

- BEL was determined in all studies, using a N-free diet.

- Linear regression BEL (x) and AID and SID (y) for CP and each AA.

Table 1. Some characteristics of the dataset.

	CP	ARG	HIS	ILE	LEU	LYS	MET	PHE	THR	VAL	TRP	ALA	ASP	CYS	GLU	GLY	PRO	SER	TYR
	Apparent Ileal Digestibility (%)																		
Average	62.8	73.7	76.4	72.0	82.0	61.5	83.0	77.1	61.4	70.3	58.2	74.7	68.0	70.8	81.3	36.6	35.7	71.3	74.9
Min	49.0	62.2	60.0	61.3	75.5	49.4	77.0	57.0	49.2	54.2	43.5	65.8	56.0	54.0	76.0	0.4	-71.0	57.0	65.0
Max	75.0	85.2	85.4	83.6	88.0	77.3	88.9	85.2	76.1	79.2	83.1	84.5	80.9	80.1	88.6	73.2	93.2	80.6	83.4
	Standardized Ileal Digestibility (%)																		
Average	79.8	89.6	84.8	81.2	87.2	76.2	87.1	84.9	76.7	77.3	81.0	83.9	79.7	79.5	86.9	81.2	98.3	82.1	85.3
Min	69.5	79.5	79.5	73.4	81.4	67.4	82.3	75.9	66.4	61.2	73.5	77.7	72.2	61.0	73.9	56.2	47.2	65.0	76.9
Max	90.0	100.1	92.2	90.0	92.8	87.0	91.9	92.4	88.9	95.4	90.8	91.2	89.4	90.2	93.0	107.4	193.3	91.2	93.7
						Basa	al Endo	genous	Losses f	for AID(C observ	ations	(g/kg D	M) *					
Average	15.6	0.6	0.2	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.1	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.2	1.0	1.4	4.8	0.5	0.3
Min	8.5	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.6	0.5	0.6		0.1
Max	25.7	1.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	0.7	0.2	0.9	0.7	0.2	0.8	1.0	1.2	0.3	1.5	2.5	14.2	0.8	0.6
						Basa	al Endo	genous	Losses f	for SID	C observ	ations	(g/kg D	M) *					
Average	17.0	0.7	0.2	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.1	0.4	0.5	0.1	0.5	0.6	0.8	0.2	1.2	1.4	5.1	0.5	0.3

*: Minimum and maximum losses were identical for BEL for AID observations. The were more observations of BEL for SIDC than of BEL for AIDC

Results and discussion

- A negative relationship (P<0.05) between AID and BEL was observed for CP and 9 AA (CP, ARG, HIS, PHE, THR, ALA, ASP, GLY, PRO), and a trend (P<0.1) for 2 AA (GLU, SER). The relationship was not significant for 7 AA (ILE, LEU, LYS, MET, TRP, CYS, TYR) For some AA this was due to the low level of BEL compared to the content of that AA in corn.
- The relationship between SID and BEL was not significant for CP and 13 AA (HIS, ILE, LEU, LYS, MET, PHE, THR, TRP, VAL, ALA, ASP, CYS, GLU, GLY, SER). Only for ARG and PRO this relationship was significant.



Figure 1. Example of the relationship between AID and SID to BEL. Left: Between AID-ARG and BEL; Right: Between SID-ARG and BEL.

Conclusion

These results confirm that Basal Endogenous Losses are experiment specific. Therefore experiment specific BEL rather than a fixed BEL pattern from the literature, should be used to calculate SID values from experimentally determined AID values.



Wageningen University & Research / Wageningen Livestock Research P.O. Box 338, 6700 AH Wageningen Contact: Machiel.blok@wur.nl T + 31 (0)651 604 909. Website: www.wur.nl

This research was conducted by Wageningen Livestock Research, in the framework of the CVB Project 'Revision of the Ileal Digestibility of Amino Acids in feed ingredient for pigs, and partially funded by the Dutch Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and Food quality.

Acknowledgements

Annex III: Overview of feedstuffs included in the CVB Feed Table for which no new observations were found in the literature.

Feedstuffs in the CVB Feed Table for which no new information was found in the literature

Barley feed, high grade Barley, mill by-product Maize feed flour Maize feed meal Brewer's grains, dried Brewer's grains, high moisture (2 gualities) Brewer's yeast, liquid (3 qualities) Cheese whey, fresh (3 qualities) Citrus pulp Corn cob mix (CCM), silage (3 qualities) Cotton seeds (2 qualities) Feed beans, heat treated Maize feed meal, solvent extracted Maize gluten feed, fresh and ensiled (2 qualities) Maize, distillers solubles, dried Milk powder, whole Molasses, sugar beet Molasses, sugarcane (2 qualities) Niger seed Palm kernels Pea creme Pea fiber Pea protein, liquid Potato crisps Potato cuttings/chips, pre-fried (3 qualities) Potato peelings, steamed (4 qualities) Potato pulp, dried (2 qualities) **Rice husk** Rve feed Sorghum gluten meal Sugar beet pulp, pressed, ensiled Sweet potatoes, dried Vinasse, beet (2 qualities) Wheat germ feed Wheat gluten feed, dried (4 gualities)

For these feedstuffs either the current SIDC evaluation is maintained or a new SIDC evaluation has been proposed in Chapter 3, using the data of a closely related feedstuff. Most of these ingredients have (very) low protein contents and/or are of little practical importance and/or are only locally available (e.g., certain high moisture feed materials).